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Financial Highlights and Five Years Financial Summary

E4 Results
(UARETFTIF) (expressed in RMB’000)

e Revenue

EA Gross profit

Profit attributable to owners
of the Company

Basic earnings per share
(in RMB)

ARRERARGERN

BREARF
(AR¥7T)

KREfFIE BB &R Eamings before interest, taxation,
AR ([REFIE - depreciation and amortisation
WIE  MEREHAAT]) (“EBITDA")

B Financial Positions
(UARETFTIF) (expressed in RMB’000)

BEE Total assets

BEE Total liabilities

BREFEE (AE¥T) Net assets per share (in RMB)

i e Financial Ratios

MENL & Current ratio

RELE Quick ratio

BELE Gearing ratio

FHEARHRE Average capital employed

B

1 FREXRF = AAREEAEBERN-FREARE
BT T8 - BRREARFI TS
BIRA R B MEEIROEBTE -
MABE=ZZT =S4 —T-—F . =
T —F —T-_—FR-FT-_NF
T A=+ HUEREFEZARAR
AHE TR 1 B 5 Bl A851,954,000
A& - 851,954,000 - 858,525,208 -
860,418,008 873,352,426 -

2 BEE = FERDEE+ RHEE

3 FER=Ni = FRPDAE+ RDHAE

4 BRFEE = ARS-NEFRARFADHITRED

2B

5 it Bt = RPEE-RPAE

6 RE L& = RPEE-FH) -RPAHE

FRBECIRRTRRS &M TH
FRRBEMRITHERR ZERR
) - HBES

8 EARBER =  REAMNE - BE HEREHNR

&= R (BAE - BRBER)
SR ES)

FHEE =  (BPESEEE + BREEER
I 45 ®),2

AECTIEZERERLDE s —B-_FFHK

oo ~N o Ul

Notes:

—T-TF
2020

1,359,393
181,134

94,821

0.111

238,540

1,918,903
536,011
1.623

Basic earnings per
share

Total assets
Total liabilities

Net assets per share

Current ratio
Quick ratio

Gearing ratio

Return on capital
employed
(“ROCE")

Average capital
employed

—E--% -—Z--F —ZT-= —E-ME
2021 2022 2023 2024
2,584,731 3,520,608 2,080,285 1,873,801
777,870 1,478,435 438,844 227,476
379,647 870,924 211,071 66,880
0.446 1.014 0.243 0.077
668,070 1,416,933 436,439 249,072
2,316,731 2,960,227 2,921,818 3,084,433
561,921 456,065 364,242 569,509
2.060 2.880 2.942 2.866

2.0 3.8 3.9 2.7

16 3.4 3.5 2.4
TEANA  TEANA  TEENA - RERN/A
27.3% 46.6% 36.1% 13.2%

Profit attributable to owners of the Company + Weighted
average of issued shares of the Company for the year.
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based
on the weighted average number of 851,954,000,
851,954,000, 858,525,200, 869,418,000 and
873,352,426 shares of the Company for the five years
ended 31 December 2020, 2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024
respectively.

Non-current assets + Current assets

Non-current liabilities + Current liabilities

= Total equity + Number of issued shares of the Company
at the respective years end

= Current assets + Current liabilities

= (Current assets — Inventories) + Current liabilities

Net debts (Total borrowings net of bank and cash
balances, time deposits and pledged bank deposits) +
Total equity

EBITDA / (Total assets — Total current liabilities)

= (Opening ROCE + Closing ROCE) / 2
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Financial Highlights and Five Years Financial Summary @ 4

BEE ARETFT)
TURNOVER (RMB000)

|l 8% Overseas [l & The PRC

2,601,514

EW (AR#F)

GROSS PROFIT (RMB’000)
% 2024 277,476
20
2023 438,844

2022 1,478,435

2o | 777810
2020 |§ 181,134
'_ | —

A EHEE AELEF (AR%EFT)
PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY (RMB’000)

Té) 2024 h 66,880
\} 2023 [§ 211,071
2022 l| 870,924
2021 | 379,647
2020 |r 94,821

REFIR - HR - ERBEANRF AREFT)
EBITDA (RVB’000)
Vﬁ]@ 2023 436,439

668,070

2022 1,416,933

2021

2020 238,540
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Chairman’s Statement
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of
directors (the “Directors”) of Tiande Chemical
Holdings Limited (the “Company” and together
with its subsidiaries, collectively the “Group”), |
am pleased to present the annual report for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

Bt
° I
Mr. Liu Yang
Chairman
AN\
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FEHRE
Chairman’s Statement

RESULTS FOR THE YEAR

Continuing the economic slowdown in 2023, market concerns over a
potential economic recession intensified continuously in 2024, leading
to a contraction in overall market demand and further deterioration in
consumer sentiment. Meanwhile, the United States dollar interest rate
remained persistently high, international geopolitical conflicts intensified,
and trade protectionism was on the rise. All of the above dealt a severe
blow to the manufacturing sector in the PRC. In response to the weak
market demand and intense price competition, the Group thereby
promptly adjusted its marketing strategies by significantly lowering the
selling prices of its products and proactively expanding its markets to
boost sales volume. Additionally, the Group also implemented various
cost reduction and efficiency enhancement measures. Despite a notable
decline in the financial results of the Group compared to that of last year,
the Group still maintained positive profitability and achieved a healthy
cash flow position.

ono
o -0
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RESULTS FOR THE YEAR (Continued)

Throughout the year, the Group continuously invested in the
improvements of production technologies and processes as well as
the research and development of new products. The Group actively
transitioned toward high-tech and low-carbon development model by
consistently optimising energy conservation and emission reduction
technologies and allocation of energy resources to enhance production
efficiency. Additionally, the Group gradually transformed the
management of its production process through digitalisation to elevate
governance standards. These measures aim to lay a solid foundation for
the sustainable and stable development of its business in the future.

PROSPECTS

Stepping into 2025, amidst escalating international geopolitical risks
and growing uncertainties in the macroeconomic environment, the PRC
government has introduced numerous proactive policies to stimulate the
economy. However, the actual effectiveness of these measures remains
to be seen. Facing the currently severe business environment, the Group
will adopt even more conservative operating strategies, prioritising the
maintenance of a sound cash flow position. Simultaneously, the Group
will also incessantly improve operations and enhance business capabilities
to support sustainable development of its business in the future.

The economic landscape of the PRC is undergoing significant
adjustments, transformation and upgrading. New energy and new
material industries are expected to be the key drivers of future economic
growth, and the fine chemical industry would play a certain supporting
role in these sectors. This opens up new development opportunities for
the fine chemical industry. The Group has also formulated its long-term
business development plan to align with these emerging industries. In the
long run, the Board believes that, by leveraging its business strengths, the
Group will achieve sustainable business development in the future and
create long-term value returns for the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholder(s)”).

DIVIDENDS

The Board proposed a final dividend of HK$0.03 (2023: HK$0.10) per
issued share of the Company (the “Shares”) for the financial year ended
31 December 2024. Subject to the approval by the Shareholders at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the “2025
AGM"), the proposed final dividend is tentatively to be distributed to the
Shareholders on or about 28 August 2025. Together with the interim
dividend of HK$0.02 (2023: HK$0.03) per Share paid to the Shareholders
during the year, the total dividends for the year under review is HK$0.05
(2023: HK$0.13) per Share.
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FRERSE
Chairman’s Statement

APPRECIATION

I would like to take this opportunity to extend my heartfelt gratitude to
all employees and Directors for their dedicated efforts and professionalism
in contributing strong impetus to the Group during the challenging
past year. | would also like to express my sincere appreciation to the
Shareholders and business partners of the Group for their steadfast
support and enduring trust. Both myself and the management will spare
no effort in leading the Group to march in the direction of long-term
future business growth.

On behalf of the Board
Liu Yang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2025

Annual Report 2024 ¢ Tiande Chemical Holdings Limited
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

LIU Yang, aged 41, is the chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”).
Mr. Liu is responsible for the overall strategic development, business
planning and policy setting of the Group. He graduated from China
University of Petroleum with a degree of Bachelor of Electronic and
Information Engineering and Simon Fraser University, Canada with a
degree of Bachelor of Finance in 2006 and 2010 respectively. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Liu worked as a channel manager of BFFFF45E&E
EEEAR AT (Xingzheng Securities Asset Management Co., Ltd.) for
the period from November 2011 to March 2014. He has joined the Group
since April 2014.

WANG Zijiang, aged 60, is an executive Director and one of the
co-founders of the Group. He graduated from Nanjing Chemical
College (now known as Nanjing University of Technology) in the PRC
in 1988, majoring in chemical engineering. He worked for three years
since 1991 in Weifang New Technology Research Centre. After that,
Mr. Wang co-founded Weifang Tianhong Equity Investment Company
Limited (“Weifang Tianhong”) in 1996. Mr. Wang has over 25 years of
experience in the chemical industry.

CHEN Xiaohua, aged 47, is an executive Director and a general manager
of the Company. He is also a director of Weifang Common Chem Co.,
Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, since November 2018,
and was a director of Weifang Dekel Innovative Materials Co., Ltd., a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, from January 2018 to January
2020. Mr. Chen graduated from Changwei Teachers College (& #ET%
HRIER) (now known as Weifang University) in the PRC in July 1999,
majoring in chemistry education. He joined the Group in March 2000. He
has over 20 years of experience in the chemical industry.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

LEUNG Kam Wan, aged 59, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director since 1 March 2007. Mr. Leung graduated from
Hong Kong Baptist University and Hong Kong Polytechnic University
with a degree of Bachelor of Business Administration in Finance and a
master degree in corporate governance in 1992 and 2007 respectively.
Mr. Leung currently is an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of The Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Leung has been a practicing
certified public accountant for over 10 years. He has extensive experience
in financing, accounting and auditing. Mr. Leung currently is a senior
partner of Trillion CPA & Company.

LIU Chenguang, aged 62, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director since 4 October 2006. Mr. Liu obtained from East
China Petroleum Institute in the PRC (now known as China University of
Petroleum) a bachelor’s degree in science majoring in petroleum refining
in 1982 and a master’s degree in applied chemistry in 1985. He also
obtained his doctorate degree in applied chemistry from China University
of Petroleum (Beijing) in 1991. Mr. Liu has been appointed as an associate
professor of China University of Petroleum in 1992, was then promoted
as a professor in 1994 and subsequently took on the post as the tutor
of postgraduate students studying for doctorate degrees in 1998 and
has ever since become the professor and tutor at China University of
Petroleum. Mr. Liu was the dean of the college of chemical engineering
of China University of Petroleum from May 2004 to April 2013. He was
a professor of the college of chemical engineering of China University of
Petroleum from May 1994 to March 2022 and a director of Shandong
Chemistry and Chemical Society from 2005 to 2020. Currently, Mr. Liu
is @ member of China Petroleum Society, China Chemistry Society, China
Chemical Society, American Chemistry Society.

SHAN Honghong, aged 65, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director since 16 June 2023. Ms. Shan graduated from
East China Petroleum Institute (now known as China University of
Petroleum) with a degree of Bachelor of Petroleum Refining Engineering
in 1982. She went on to further study and graduated from East China
College of Chemical Engineering (now known as East China University of
Science and Technology) with a degree of Master of Organic Chemical
Engineering in 1987. She graduated from China University of Petroleum
in 2004 with a doctorate degree in Chemical Engineering. She has been
appointed as teacher of chemical engineering of China University of
Petroleum in 1982, was then promoted as the professor of chemical
engineering of China University of Petroleum in 1997 and subsequently
served as the dean of the school of chemical engineering of China
University of Petroleum from April 2000 to January 2004. She was the
vice chancellor of China University of Petroleum from February 2004 to
June 2005 and then promoted as the chancellor of China University of
Petroleum from July 2005 to January 2017. She was the secretary to the
Party Committee of China University of Petroleum (Beijing) from January
2017 to September 2020. Currently, she is the professor of chemical
engineering of China University of Petroleum (Beijing).

Annual Report 2024 ¢ Tiande Chemical Holdings Limited
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BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year under review, persistently high United States dollar
interest rates, coupled with increasingly tense international geopolitical
situation and a resurgence of trade protectionism, necessitated
continuous price reductions for export products of the PRC to maintain
market competitiveness. Additionally, the economic growth momentum
of the PRC was notably underpowered and weak domestic demand led
to unusually fierce price competition for general products. The Group's
products, along with those across its upstream and downstream industrial
chains, faced tremendous downward pressures on prices. As a result, the
selling prices of most of the products of the Group recorded a significant
decline as compared to those of last year.

In response to the challenging economic situation, the Group adjusted its
sales and marketing strategies to vigorously explore application coverage
in the downstream industries for its products and develop new markets
and broaden customer base. These efforts successfully resulted in a
year-on-year increase in the sales volume of most of the products of the
Group, thereby alleviating the negative impact on the revenue caused by
the significant decline in product selling prices. Consequently, the Group
recorded a relatively moderate decrease in revenue as compared to that
of last year.

In controlling production costs, the Group implemented multiple
measures for cost reduction and efficiency enhancement, primarily
including: (i) several raw material production lines constructed in prior
years have been put into commercial operation during the year under
review, bolstering the self-sufficiency in raw materials and further
deepening the circular economy production system, thus reducing
overall costs of production; (ii) continuous optimisation of procurement
strategies and enhancement of supply chain management to effectively
lower costs of procurement; (iii) constant upgrading and optimisation of
the production processes and improvement of the energy management
systems to realise further energy conservation and emission reduction;
and (iv) further extended the adoption of automated production
processes to directly enhance production efficiency. However, the extent
of reduction in the costs of production did not fully offset the negative
impact of the decline in selling prices. Consequently, both the gross profit
and gross profit margin of the Group for the year under review recorded
significant deteriorations as compared to those of last year.

Regarding the control of operating expenses, the Group imposed strict
controls over all operating expenses, with the exception of increased
investment in research and development for the development of new
products and improvement of production processes and technologies
in order to boost product competitiveness. Despite these efforts, the
drastic decline in the selling prices of the products of the Group led to a
significant decrease in profit attributable to owners of the Company as
compared to that of last year eventually.
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Management Discussion and Analysis ®

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Outlook

At the beginning of 2025, the relationship between the United States
of America and the PRC has become increasingly tense. The imposition
of additional tariffs by the United States of America on export products
of the PRC has further strained the domestic export sectors of the
PRC, exacerbating downward pressure on product selling prices.
Nonetheless, the PRC government has implemented various measures
to counteract these challenges. These include loosening the monetary
policy appropriately to stimulate price recovery, increasing fiscal
spending to boost market confidence, expanding domestic demand
across the board, providing strong support for development of sectors
with new, high-quality productive forces. These initiatives aim to fuel
market demand and revitalise overall confidence in the economy of the
PRC. While these efforts will undoubtedly bring new opportunities to
the manufacturing sectors of the PRC, it will take time for the actual
economic benefits to materialise.

In summary, the Group acknowledges the challenges posed by the
increasingly tense international geopolitical environment. In response,
the Group will adopt a more conservative operating approach, focus on
reducing expenses, strengthening cash flow management, persistently
optimising its product portfolio and improving operational efficiency.
Simultaneously, the Group will implement more proactive marketing
strategies to expand the market penetration of its products and strive
to drive revenue growth, thus navigating the current downturn in the
economy.

In the long run, the Group remains unwaveringly confident in its business
prospects. As the overall economy of the PRC undergoes significant
restructuring, transformation and upgrading, the emerging new energy
and new materials sectors would present a wealth of opportunities for the
fine chemical industry. The Board believes that, by leveraging the Group's
strong position and extensive experience in the industry, the Group is well
positioned to achieve higher levels of business development as well as
generate long-term sustainable value returns for the Shareholders.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Due to the market downturn in the PRC, the overall selling prices of the
products of the Group decreased substantially during the year under
review. In light of the sales and marketing strategies of the Group having
been adjusted to boost the sales volume, the Group recorded a moderate
decline in the revenue to approximately RMB1,873.8 million for the year
ended 31 December 2024, representing a decrease of approximately
RMB206.5 million or 9.9% as compared to approximately RMB2,080.3
million in 2023.

Annual Report 2024 ¢ Tiande Chemical Holdings Limited
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Gross profit

The gross profit of the Group decreased substantially to approximately
RMB227.5 million, representing a decrease of approximately RMB211.3
million or 48.2% as compared with approximately RMB438.8 million in
2023. This decrease was primarily attributable to the decline in selling
price of the Group’s products, which was significantly higher than the
reduction in the production costs for the Group during the year under
review. The gross profit margin also decreased markedly to 12.1%, a
decrease of 9.0 percentage points compared to 21.1% in 2023.

Operating income and expenses

The other income was mainly comprised of: (i) bank interest income; (ii)
net amount of exchange gain; (iii) various grants received from the PRC
governmental authorities for being incentives or subsidy to encourage
the Group’s business development; (iv) compensation received from a
contractor pursuant to the PRC court’s order; (v) compensation income
from contractors; and (vi) other income during the year under review.

Selling expenses increased by approximately RMB12.6 million from
approximately RMB58.5 million in 2023 to approximately RMB71.1
million during the year under review. This increase was mainly due to
(i) the increase in overseas sales volume coupled with the increase in
the costs of transportation associated with overseas sales attributable
to attacks on the vessels in the Red Sea area, which forced shipping
companies to reroute vessels along the longer, alternative sea routes, thus
escalating shipping expenses; and (ii) the increase in sales volume in the
PRC led to higher domestic costs of transportation. The selling expenses
to the Group’s revenue ratio was 3.8% (2023: 2.8%).

During the year under review, the administrative and other operating
expenses increased by approximately RMB25.1 million from approximately
RMB112.7 million in 2023 to approximately RMB137.8 million in 2024.
This increase was primarily attributable to (i) increased research and
development expenses; (ii) the provision for bad debts written back from
last year has not occurred during the year; and (iii) increased depreciation
expenses. Administrative and other operating expenses accounted for
7.4% (2023: 5.4%) of the Group's revenue.

Finance costs

Finance costs represented interests on bank borrowings, asset-backed
financing and supplier finance arrangements, of approximately RMB3.7
million during the year under review, increased by approximately RMB3.5
million (2023: interests on advances from a substantial Shareholder of
RMBO.2 million) as compared with those of last year. The increase was
mainly attributable to increased bank borrowings during the year for
short-term liquidity management due to lower borrowing costs from the
banks.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the
Company

Due to the aforementioned factors, the profit for the year attributable
to owners of the Company significantly decreased to approximately
RMB66.9 million as compared with approximately RMB211.1 million in
2023.

Trade and bills receivable

As at 31 December 2024, the trade receivables (net of loss allowance)
increased to approximately RMB271.8 million, representing an increase of
approximately RMB11.3 million or 4.3% as compared with approximately
RMB260.5 million recorded on 31 December 2023. About 72.0% of
trade receivables were incurred in the last quarter of 2024 with most of
them were not yet due and 22.5% of trade receivables were incurred
in the third quarter of 2024. Only 5.5% of trade receivables were
aging over 180 days. As at the date of this report, over 57.0% of trade
receivables have been settled after 31 December 2024. After assessing
the creditworthiness of these customers, the Directors considered that the
current bad debt allowance is adequate for the trade receivables as at 31
December 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, the bills receivable amounted to approximately
RMB106.0 million, representing a decrease of approximately RMB64.9
million or 38.0% as compared to the balance of approximately RMB170.9
million as at 31 December 2023. Since all bills receivable are bank
acceptance bills, which are non-interest-bearing and typically mature
within six months from the end of reporting period, the payments of
which are guaranteed by the licensed banks in the PRC. This significantly
reduces the default risk. Consequently, the Directors considered that
allowance for doubtful debt is not required.

Bank borrowings

All bank borrowings were raised in the PRC at fixed interest rates and
are denominated in RMB. As at 31 December 2024, the total bank
borrowings balance increased to approximately RMB220.1 million (31
December 2023: Nil). The raising of bank borrowings was mainly used to
finance the general working capital of the Group during the year under
review.

Annual Report 2024 ¢ Tiande Chemical Holdings Limited
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Liquidity and financial resources

The Group's primary source of funding included the net cash inflow
generated from operating activities of approximately RMB395.4
million (2023: RMB649.2 million); newly raised bank borrowings of
approximately RMB196.4 million (2023: RMB11.0 million); proceeds on
disposals of property, plant and equipment of approximately RMBO0.5
million (2023: RMBO0.2 million); bank interest received of approximately
RMB33.4 million (2023: RMB18.2 million); and proceeds from issue of
Shares due to exercise of share options of approximately RMB6.8 million
(2023: Nil). With the financial resources obtained from the Group's
operations, the Group had spent approximately RMB199.8 million (2023:
RMB318.5 million) on the acquisition of property, plant and equipment;
repayments of bank borrowings of approximately RMB96.2 million (2023:
RMB11.0 million); interest paid of approximately RMB3.6 million (2023:
RMB5.9 million); dividends paid of approximately RMB96.6 million (2023:
RMB186.6 million); and no repayment of advances from a substantial
Shareholder (2023: RMB40.0 million) during the year under review. As
at 31 December 2024, the Group had bank and cash balances, time
deposits and pledged bank deposits of approximately RMB852.8 million
(2023: RMB616.4 million), of which 8.4% was held in Renminbi, 91.4%
was held in United States dollars and the remaining balances were held in
Hong Kong dollars and Euros.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had net current assets of
approximately RMB900.7 million (2023: RMB924.2 million), the current
ratio of the Group was approximately 2.7 times (2023: 3.9 times) and the
outstanding borrowings of the Group of approximately RMB225.9 million
(2023: RMB5.6 million). The Group strived to achieve operating profit and
solid financial position during the year under review. Hence, the Group
attained a net cash balance (total cash and cash equivalent, time deposits
and pledged bank deposits net of total borrowings) of approximately
RMB626.9 million (2023: RMB610.8 million) as at 31 December 2024.

The Group is continuously developing new products and upgrading
or replacing its outdated production facilities to secure its sustainable
business development in the future and strives to uphold a solid financial
position simultaneously. Benefiting from a steady positive cash inflow
from operating activities, coupled with the available cash and undrawn
credit facilities from banks, the Group has sufficient financial resources
to meet its present commitments and working capital requirements.
The Group will closely monitor its cash outflow and remain dedicated to
maintain its financial health as well as improving the equity return to the
Shareholders.
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Management Discussion and Analysis ® A

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2024, a bank deposit of approximately RMBO.3
million (31 December 2023: RMBO0.3 million) was pledged to secure
the water supply to the factories of the Company’s subsidiaries; and a
further bank deposit of RMB1.0 million (31 December 2023: Nil) was
pledged to secure the execution of a foreign exchange forward contract.
Furthermore, certain buildings and right-of-use assets of the Group of
approximately RMB52.1 million (31 December 2023: Nil) and RMB56.3
million (31 December 2023: Nil) respectively were pledged to secure the
Group's bank borrowings. No bank deposit was pledged to secure the
settlement of contracting fees for a production line under construction
(31 December 2023: RMB1.0 million) during the year.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no material contingent liabilities
(2023: Nil).

Commitments

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had commitment of approximately
RMB140.3 million (2023: RMB94.9 million) that have been contracted
but not yet been provided for, related to the acquisition of property,
plant and equipment as well as construction in progress. Additionally,
the Group has a capital commitment of approximately RMB169.5
million (2023: RMB213.8 million) authorised but not contracted for also
related to the acquisition of property, plant and equipment as well as
construction in progress.

Funding and treasury policies

The Group adopts a prudent approach to its funding and treasury policies,
aiming to maintain an optimal financial position and minimise the Group's
financial risks. The Group regularly reviews its funding requirements to
ensure adequate financial resources to support its business operations and
future investments as and when needed.

Cash flow forecast is properly prepared and reviewed regularly by the
senior management of the Group (the “Senior Management”), which
enables the Senior Management to maintain an adequate level of cash
and cash equivalents, as well as sufficient available banking facilities to
finance the daily operations and capital expenditure requirements in the
foreseeable future, in accordance with the funding and treasury policies
of the Group.

During the year under review, save as disclosed in this report, the Group
did not use any financial instruments for foreign exchange hedging
purposes because its businesses primarily operate in Renminbi and most
of its monetary assets and liabilities are denominated in Renminbi. As
a result, the Group has minimal exposure to currency risk and foreign
exchange rate fluctuations.

Annual Report 2024 ¢ Tiande Chemical Holdings Limited
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Funding and treasury policies (Continued)

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from bank borrowings. In
order to minimise the borrowing cost and interest rate risk, any raising of
loans to meet the expected funding demand must be assessed carefully
and approved by the executive Directors. The Group will consider new
financing needs while maintaining an appropriate level of gearing.

Exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates

The Group's operations are mainly in the PRC and its assets, liabilities,
revenues and transactions are primarily denominated in Renminbi, along
with United States dollars and Hong Kong dollars.

The Group’s foremost exposure to the foreign exchange fluctuations
was caused by the impact of Renminbi exchange rate movements during
the year under review. While most of the Group’s income and expenses
are denominated in Renminbi except for export sales which were, in
majority, denominated in United States dollars. However, the Group has
not experienced any material difficulties or effects on its operations or
liquidity as a result of the fluctuations in currency exchange rates during
the year under review. Looking ahead, the Group will consider adoption
of cost-efficient hedging methods in future foreign currency transactions
as and when appropriate.

Employees and remuneration policy

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 1,358 (2023: 1,536) full-time
employees.

For the year under review, the total staff costs including the Directors’
remuneration decreased to approximately RMB189.6 million (2023:
RMB202.2 million).

The Group has established human resources policies and a compensation
scheme with a view to deploying the incentives and rewards of the
remuneration system which includes a wide range of training and
personal development programs to attract and retain employees. The
remuneration package of the Group is aligned with employee duties and
prevailing market rates. Additionally, the Group offers staff benefits such
as medical coverage and provident funds.

The employees of the Group would receive discretionary bonuses and
monetary rewards based on their annual performance appraisals. Besides,
the Group also offered various incentives to motivate personal growth
and career development, including ongoing training opportunities to
enhance technical, products and industry quality standards knowledge. All
new employees of the Group are required to attend an induction course
and various training courses are available to all employees of the Group.

The Group has also adopted share option scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to
the success of the Group’s operations. No share option of the Company
has been granted during the year under review.
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Directors’ Report ®

The Directors have pleasure in presenting the annual report together
with the audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal business
of the Group includes research and development, manufacture and sale
of fine chemical products.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set
out in the consolidated income statement on page 57 of this annual
report.

During the year under review, the Directors have declared an interim
dividend of HK$0.02 (2023: HK$0.03) per Share totalling approximately
RMB16.0 million (2023: RMB23.9 million), which was paid to the
Shareholders on 30 October 2024.

The Directors recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.03
(2023: HK$0.10) per Share. The final dividend is tentatively to be
distributed by the Company on or about Thursday, 28 August 2025 to
the Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company on Friday, 8 August 2025, which is subject to the approval of
the Shareholders at the 2025 AGM.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The objective of the Company’s dividend policy is to allow the
Shareholders to participate in the Company’s profits with retaining
adequate reserves for the Group’s future growth. The Company may
declare and pay dividends by way of cash or scrip or by other means
that the Board considers appropriate. The declaration and distribution of
dividends is subject to the discretion of the Board and taking into account
the following factors:

- the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;

- the balances of retained profit and distributable reserves of the
Company;

- the level of debts ratio, return on equity and the relevant financial
covenants of the Group;

- any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed to
the Group;

- the expected working capital requirements and future business
plans of the Group;

- general economic conditions and other internal or external factors
that may have an impact on the business or financial performance
and position of the Group; and

- any other factors that the Board may deem appropriate.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
is set out in the sections of Financial Highlights and Five Years Financial
Summary, Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and
Analysis on pages 4 to 5, pages 6 to 9 and pages 12 to 18 respectively of
this annual report.

The Group recognises that its employees, customers and business partners
are the keys to its sustainable development. The Group strives to build
close and supportive relationships with its employees, deliver high-quality
products and services to its customers, and cultivate strong collaborations
with its business partners.

Environmental policies and performance

The Group is committed to maintaining a clean, energy saving and
harmonious environmental conservation policy. By adhering to ISO14000
environmental management system standards, the Group persistently
enhances its environmental management capabilities to achieve
environmental optimisation, pollution minimisation, energy conservation,
and emission reduction.

The Group has established an environmental management team to
oversee all environmental issues group—wide. The Group has also
implemented well-defined job specifications and a sound environmental
performance evaluation program so as to improve the environmental
performance of the Group from time to time. The Group has complied
with the environmental requirements laid down by the national and
local authorities in the PRC and obtained 1SO14001 environmental
management system certification since 2004. The Group has consistently
improved environmental management through the plan-do-check-act
quality management principle. The Group uses its best endeavor
to promote environmental friendly practices to both suppliers and
customers. The Group pursues clean production processes, promotes
circular economy, maintains sound environmental rules and regulations
and actively promotes the 4Rs (reduce, recycle, reuse and replace)
throughout all the Group’s business activities to realise emission reduction
targets.

The Group maintains its products at the highest standards and adopts
advanced technology and production processes. The Group is taking steps
to make sure all production line construction projects are strictly adopting
the “Three Simultaneous System”, to ensure the concepts of prevention
of pollution facilities are incorporated into the project design, construction
and production at the same time. Environmental protection measures
are in place throughout the entire process, from product design to the
finished product. Clean production audit is in place and it is performed on
a regular basis. The Group actively implements the waste treatment and
recycling, controls pollutant emission, and provides a safety and healthy
workplace to its employees with an aim of improving their quality of
working life and environment.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE (Continued)

Environmental policies and performance (Continued)

The Group proactively promotes all employees to participate in
environmental conservation. The Group is committed to enhancing
environmental awareness and competency among its employees by
implementing environmental protection policies, regulations and
specialised training programs. The Group, based on the evaluation of
current laws and regulations as well as the significant environmental
factors, formulates an “Objectives, Targets, Management Scheme”
(the “Management Scheme”), and improves the “corrective and
preventive measures” of environmental aspects from time to time. The
implementation of the Management Scheme and the corrective and
preventive measures can effectively control the significant environmental
factors. The Group also developed a comprehensive ”“Significant
Environmental Factors Contingency Plan”. In accordance with this
plan, the Group conducts regular drills to enhance the environmental
emergency response capabilities of all employees so as to achieve
the objectives such as pollution reduction, energy conservation and
environmental protection, while also conscientiously fulfilling corporate
and social responsibilities.

Principal risks and uncertainties

In addition to the matters reported in the sections headed “Chairman’s
Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual
report, the following are the principal risks and uncertainties that the
Group is facing disclosed pursuant to the disclosure requirements of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong).

Strategic risks

1. Unfavourable conditions in the global economy, economic
fluctuations in customers’ industries and volatility and cyclicality of
the global fine chemicals markets (especially the PRC market) may
adversely affect the results of the Group.

The Group maintains a balanced portfolio of products to serve a
broad spectrum of customers. The executive Directors are closely
monitoring market conditions and corrective actions are taken
imminently as and when necessary.

2. The ability of the Group to compete is highly dependent on its
abilities to develop technological innovations and to introduce new
products. Failure to do so could have an adverse effect on the
Group.

The Group continues to invest in improving existing products,

developing new products and new production technologies through
research and development.
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE (Continued)

Principal risks and uncertainties (Continued)

Strategic risks (Continued)

3.

The failure of the Group to procure/produce key raw materials may
lead to production interruptions. Besides, sharp volatility in the
prices of such raw materials and energy prices may adversely affect
the profitability of the Group and its working capital position.

The Group has established sourcing strategies to secure multiple
supply channels for key raw materials. In collaboration with key
suppliers, the Group ensures a reliable and high—quality supply of
goods/services. The Group strives to identify suitable alternative
raw materials where possible. The Group actively monitors its profit
margins and uses best endeavour to recover increase in input costs
from customers.

Operational risks

1.

Compliance with extensive environmental, health and safety laws
and regulations could lead to material expenditures or changes
in the operations of the Group. The manufacturing, storage
and transportation of chemicals is inherently dangerous and any
incidents relating to the hazards which the Group faces may
adversely affect its financial condition, results of operations and
reputation.

Detailed safety, health and environmental processes are
documented in operating manuals which are updated and
circulated to employees on a regular basis. Sound maintenance
programs are in place in order to ensure that the facilities meet
the local statutory requirements. The Group established a safety,
health and environmental department dedicated to safety, health
and environmental issues and ensure the programs for continuous
improvement across all major safety, health and environmental
areas are in place group—wide.

The ongoing success of the Group depends on attracting and
retaining high quality senior management and staff who can
effectively manage the Group’s operations.

The Group offers competitive compensation packages with annual
performance bonuses and long-term incentive arrangements (e.q.
share options) for key employees. Appropriate notice periods and
non-compete clauses are used to mitigate short-term risk arising
from the departure of key employees. The Group has established a
succession plan for key positions.



ESAC)SE NG
TERBMTAPEZE(F)

Bt ¥ ELBR

1. ZAEENHBIRANRERERIEETS
RS AEE R AR AT BE IR B AR SR E IS # {5
EREMEES o dtoh - FIE EFHRBMRTT
BB E R A TR B & 8 AN A 5 B 1 5 3R
N o

AEEEREESHENEYERESREMNE
BESMRE  UHERBEEEZHORIIER
RHME S RESSEEE NEBAEERN
BiE o aREIEES T BRI IRITERANE
BERGE (WER) ARNRER  TeZ
BEATERLTFEANTIERAR - B
FERBAFERRAFAER  BENRE
E-ET_NME+_A=+—BIFEZHMK
3] 2% B 5E36(iv) K2 36(ii) ©

2. WMRZUFTRERTEL BEFEERRS
BRI ISR

REEEERR AEEEREEZK—E
NMEBREBEERAE  FEFILIAMBE
ZREF - DARER S BRENRAE1TE) AU [0 81 2R
B - ABEHFAFEEPOMBEERNE
Bk ARETEREPREEEE - It
Sh - AEEEEEENBERE BERFR
ATEREE BRI - URRETRREEK
Bl 2 FIARH R R R EEEE - BREEFE
ERBOFAEHN CERBE_ZT M
FH+_A=+—BLEFEZHBHRERME
36(iii) °

BRERBFRE
“E-RAFERRBFREHIN_F_AFNAN
HEHR) BT - BFEA_ZE_HAFRIBFRY
ZEMFE  BRRFLE_Z-_AFMNA-+=
HZARAB@EEK —E_AFRRBEFRGAE
KBEM 2 RRBERE -

R

Directors’ Report ®

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE (Continued)

Principal risks and uncertainties (Continued)

Financial risks

1.

The Group’s statement of financial position and cash flow or credit
market conditions and credit ratings may restrict the ability of the
Group to obtain new credit facilities. In addition, upward interest
rate fluctuations and increases in bank lending margins may
increase the Group'’s costs of borrowing.

The management of the Group closely monitors cash flow
and working capital performance on a timely basis to ensure it
has a sound liquidity position and sufficient level of cash and
cash equivalents to finance the Group’s operations. The Senior
Management regularly reviews the relevant loan covenants (if
applicable) for bank borrowings as well as the interest rate exposure
and will consider hedging significant interest rate exposure should
the need arise. Details of the liquidity risk and interest rate risk are
set out in notes 36(iv) and 36(ii) to the financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

Customers’ credit risk will cause a financial loss if the counterparties
fail to discharge their obligations.

In order to minimise the credit risk, management of the Group has
delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. The Group
only extends credit to customers based on careful evaluation of
the customers’ financial background and credit history. In addition,
the management of the Group reviews the assessment of expected
credit losses at the end of each reporting period to ensure that
adequate losses allowance are made for expected irrecoverable
amounts. Details of the customers’ credit risk are set out in note
36(iii) to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2024.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

2025 AGM will be held on Friday, 6 June 2025. For further information
regarding the 2025 AGM, Shareholders should refer to the circular of
the Company dated 23 April 2025, the notice of the 2025 AGM and the
form of proxy accompanying thereto.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of ascertaining the Shareholders who are entitled to
attend and vote at the 2025 AGM, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from Tuesday, 3 June 2025 to Friday, 6 June
2025, both days inclusive. In order to qualify for the right to attend
and vote at the 2025 AGM, all transfer documents accompanied by
the relevant share certificates should be lodged with the Company’s
share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716 on the 17th Floor
of Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, for
registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 2 June 2025.

For the purpose of ascertaining the Shareholders who qualify for the
proposed final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December
2024, the register of members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 6 August 2025 to Friday, 8 August 2025, both days
inclusive. In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all transfers
of Shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates should be
lodged with the Company’s share registrar and transfer office in Hong
Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops
1712-1716 on the 17th Floor of Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Tuesday, 5 August 2025.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year under review in the share capital
of the Company are set out in note 27 to the financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A five years summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group is set out on pages 4 to 5 of this annual report.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity of the
Group on pages 63 and 64 of this annual report and note 28 to the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share premium
account of the Company can be used for paying distributions or dividends
to Shareholders subject to the provisions of its memorandum and articles
of association and provided that immediately following the distribution
of dividend, the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business. As at 31 December 2024, the Company’s
reserves available for distribution to Shareholders amounted in total to
approximately RMB146.6 million (2023: RMB153.5 million).
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year under review, the Group spent approximately RMB199.8
million (2023: RMB318.5 million) on property, plant and equipment
to expand its production capabilities. Details of the movements in the
property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in note 13 to the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group’s investment properties were revalued at the year-end
date. The decrease in fair values of investment properties arose from
revaluation amounting to approximately RMB1.5 million (2023: RMB1.4
million) has been charged to the consolidated income statement. Details
of movements in the investment properties of the Group are set out in
note 14 to the financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2024.

DONATIONS

During the year under review, the Group did not make any charitable
or other donations (2023: charitable and other donations totalling
approximately RMBO0.2 million).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the five largest customers in
aggregate accounted for 19.9% (2023: 23.8%) of the Group's total
revenue, whilst the revenue attributable to the Group’s largest customer
was 8.8% (2023: 10.5%).

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the five largest suppliers in
aggregate accounted for 38.2% (2023: 44.1%) of the Group’s total
purchases, whilst the purchases attributable to the Group’s largest
supplier was 10.7% (2023: 14.0%).

At no time during the year under review did any Director, any associate
of a Director or any Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the issued Shares) has any interest in any of the
Group's five largest customers and suppliers.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors during the financial year under review and up to the date of
this report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Liu Yang
Mr. Wang Zijiang
Mr. Chen Xiaohua

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Leung Kam Wan
Mr. Liu Chenguang
Ms. Shan Honghong

In accordance with article 84 of the Company’s articles of association
(the "Articles of Association”), Mr. Liu Yang and Ms. Shan Honghong
shall retire from office by rotation at the 2025 AGM, each of them, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election as Directors at the 2025
AGM.

All non-executive Directors were appointed for an initial term of not
more than three years and the terms will be renewed automatically for
successive term of three years until terminated by not less than one
month’s notice in writing served by either party on the other.

The executive Directors have entered into service contracts with the
Company for a term of three years and thereafter shall continue from
year to year until terminated by giving three months’ notice in writing by
either party to the other.

No person proposed for election or re-election at the 2025 AGM has an
unexpired service contract which is not determinable by the Company or
any its subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the paragraphs headed “Connected Transactions”
set out in this report and note 34 to the financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2024 on “Related Party Transactions”, no contracts
of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year under review and up to the latest practicable date prior
to the issue of this annual report, no Director is considered to have an
interest in a business which competes or is likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group pursuant to
Rule 8.10 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).
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DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors, chief executive of the Company (the “Chief Executive”) and
their associates in the shares and/or underlying shares of the Company
and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong)
(the “SFO")), as recorded in the register maintained by the Company
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code"), were as follows:

RO ZHE Long position in the Shares
FisRH#E/ REBRESE
ROER REZBEREHE HERTROARE
% /BEAHK Number of  Number of share BAE D E(%)
ABRE AR/ Y EEER Shares held / options held Approximate %
Name of Director / Name of company / interest in the according to share &£ in the total
Chief Executive associated corporation Shares option scheme  Capacity issued Shares
(F¥zk2)
(Note 2)
5L FEEBERDA(TFE]) (M) 232,560,000 - REEEER 26.51%
Mr. Liu Yang Cheerhill Group Limited ("Cheerhill”) Interest of controlled
(Note 1) corporation
- 5,000,000 - EBERBAA 0.57%
Beneficiary owner
FFIEAE - 159,120,000 - E#EAA 18.14%
Mr. Wang Zijiang Beneficiary owner
- 140,000 - EEzER 0.02%
Interest of spouse
BREELE - 3,532,000 1,000,000 EREAA 0.52%

Mr. Chen Xiaohua
M &E -

1. 232,560,000 By AEERE - E230 #7
BANSKRERBEALRIBEYE  BARTE
% °

2. BEARIMBREBER-ZT-RFOLA-THRMANE
BerEnt &) ([ =T —REF AT 81 ]) X H s
RTINS T ET RECEMRD - £—F 5
BEHERARE [EhETE &K -

B EXHTRBEEN R _HF T _A=+—
B REF &eTRABRBKEFZBEARE
BB AR P HEATIRBAE 2 E R - 486
Pin BB 5 2 (E IR SRR ©

@

eneficiary owner
Notes:

1. The 232,560,000 Shares were held by Cheerhill, the entire issued share
capital of which is ultimately beneficially owned by Mr. Liu Yang, who
is an executive Director.

2. These represent the Shares to be issued and allotted by the Company
upon exercise of the options, which were granted under the share
option scheme adopted by the Company on 20 May 2016 (the “2016
Share Option Scheme”). Further details are set out in the paragraphs
headed “Share Option Scheme” of this report.

Other than as disclosed above, none of the Directors, Chief Executive
nor their associates had or was deemed to have any interests or short
positions in any Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations as at 31 December 2024.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2024, the register of substantial Shareholders
maintained by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO shows
that the following Shareholders had notified the Company of its relevant
interests in the issued Shares:

Long position of substantial Shareholders in the
Shares and/or underlying Shares

FrisRoEa/
BOER R ESEEE HERT
Number of Shares BD#EEE
held/interest in the BAE D (%)
BREZRE L Shares and aggregated 5% Approximate % in
Name of Shareholders interest Capacity the total issued Shares
U (B EEG)) 232,560,000 E=EBA 26.51%
Cheerhill (Note (i)) Beneficiary owner
FREEL+ 70,380,000 EmEBA 8.02%
Ms. Sun Jianhua Beneficiary owner
BT 2z (B 5E(i)) 70,380,000 EmEBA 8.02%
Ms. Zheng Hong (Note (ii)) Beneficiary owner
M &E - Notes:

(i) 232,560,000 (& Tyl EIEREE - E23E 8T
BRANRKREZHBEABRGLE  BANTE
% °

(i) ZEBROHBABELLENE BT ZLRHE - B
EHFLBEGY  2EAEFRAEEEE REY
&+ PrEA R E AR B R AR () s -

B EXFIHEEEN R W EF+ A=+ —
B - AR R AT A A £ A AR 1D sk 48 B A%
DA T AREES LS RHENE A QR
ZRBIAR KA ARRIRIEES KBE K
BIE336M5FE 2 B Mt 2 S EA R -

BEROEEZ 22 H

ANE - HEMZERQT - HWHE QR KRR RN
JB& 2 B0 Bl R4 2 AT B AR SR R S AR R 2
HEEEAREBEARRRTMEMEAEREZ
B EBES (BREES) Mk -
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(i)  The 232,560,000 Shares were held by Cheerhill, the entire issued share
capital of which is ultimately beneficially owned by Mr. Liu Yang, who is
an executive Director.

(i)  These Shares are held by Ms. Zheng Hong, the spouse of Mr. Gao Feng.
By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Gao Feng is taken to be interested in the same
number of Shares in which Ms. Zheng Hong is interested.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified by any
person who had any interest or short position in the Shares or underlying
Shares as at 31 December 2024, which are required to be notified to the
Company under the SFO or which are recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year under review was the Company, or any of its
holding company, its subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debt securities (including debentures) of, the
Company or any other body corporate.
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Directors’ Report ®

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Certain related party transactions as disclosed in note 34 to the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 also constituted
connected transactions. The following transactions between certain
connected persons (as defined in the Listing Rules) and the Group
have been entered into and/or are continuing for which relevant
announcements, if necessary, had been made by the Company in
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

On 22 November 2023, Weifang Zhongying Chemical Co., Ltd. (the
“Weifang Zhongying”), an indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into a framework agreement (the “Framework
Agreement”) with Zhejiang Zhonghui Supply Chain Management
Co., Ltd. (the “Zhejiang Zhonghui”), pursuant to which Weifang
Zhongying agrees to supply Cyanuric Chloride to Zhejiang Zhonghui
for a period of 3 years from 22 November 2023 to 21 November 2026
(both dates inclusive), subject to and upon the terms and conditions
contained in the Framework Agreement. As Zhejiang Zhonghui is
a wholly-owned subsidiary of Zhejiang Zhongshan Chemical Group
Co., Ltd. (the "Zhejiang Zhongshan”), and Zhejiang Zhongshan is
a substantial shareholder of Weifang Zhongying, as an associate of
Zhejiang Zhongshan according to Rule 14A.13 of the Listing Rules,
Zhejiang Zhonghui became a connected person at the subsidiary level
of the Company. The continuing transactions contemplated under the
Framework Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions
of the Company according to Rule 14A.101 of the Listing Rules which
are only subject to the reporting, announcement and annual review
requirements, but are exempted from the circular, independent financial
advice and shareholders’ approval requirements. For details, please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated 22 November 2023. During
the year under review, Weifang Zhongying has supplied Cyanuric Chloride
to Zhejiang Zhonghui in aggregated total amount of approximately
RMB164.3 million under the Framework Agreement which was required
to be disclosed under the Listing Rules.

The independent auditor of the Company was engaged to report on the
Group's continuing connected transactions stated in the above paragraph
in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 (Revised) "Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews
of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note
740 "Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the
Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The independent auditor of the Company has issued
its unqualified letter containing its findings and conclusions in respect of
the aforesaid continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group
in accordance with rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the report
issued by the independent auditor of the Company has been provided to
the Stock Exchange.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed (i) the relevant
agreement of the above continuing connected transactions; (ii) the
breakdown of the continuing connected transactions; (iii) the breakdown
of comparable and similar transactions with independent third parties;
and (iv) the independent auditor’s report in respect of the above
continuing connected transactions and confirmed that these transactions
were entered into by the Group (i) in the ordinary and usual course
of business; (i) on normal commercial terms; and (iii) the transactions
were entered into in accordance with the agreement governing such
transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Shareholders as a whole.

The above disclosure of the continuing connected transactions of the
Group has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to a lease (the “Lease”) entered into between Weifang Parasia
and Weifang Tianhong, Weifang Parasia leased the office premises
owned by Weifang Tianhong for a term of one year commencing from 1
January 2024 at a gross annual rental payment of RMB540,000, payable
on a pro-rata basis at the end of each quarter. Weifang Tianhong is a
connected person to the Company as Mr. Wang Zijiang is an executive
Director who has voting right on the operations of Weifang Tianhong.
The entering into the Lease constituted an exempted connected
transaction of the Company.

The Lease is de minimis transaction under Rule 14A.76(1) of the Listing
Rules thus the Lease was exempted from the reporting, announcement
and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing
Rules.

Apart from the above transactions, other related party transactions
set out in note 34 to the financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024 did not constitute connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above and in note 34 to the financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2024, there were no other transactions which
need to be disclosed as connected transactions in accordance with the
requirements of the Listing Rules and no contract of significance, between
the Company, substantial Shareholders, or any of its subsidiaries and
fellow subsidiaries or in which a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, or which are required to be disclosed under the
Listing Rules subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year under review.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Group was entered into or
existed during the year under review.
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CONFIRMATION FROM INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all independent
non-executive Directors are independent.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

During this financial year and up to the date of this report, the Company
has in force indemnity provisions as permitted under the relevant
statutes for the benefit of the directors (including former directors) of
the Company or its subsidiaries and associated companies. The permitted
indemnity provisions are provided for in the Articles of Association and in
the directors and officers liability insurance maintained for the Group in
respect of potential liability and costs associated with legal proceedings
that may be brought against such directors.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the Group is set up by the Board on the basis of
the merit, qualifications and competence of the employees.

The emoluments of the Directors and Senior Management will be
reviewed by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to factors
including the Group’s operating results, responsibilities required of the
Directors and Senior Management and the comparable market statistics.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Under the 2016 Share Option Scheme, share options would be granted
to certain Directors, employees and other eligible participants of the
Company entitling them to subscribe for shares of HK$0.01 each in the
capital of the Company.

The maximum number of Shares available for issue upon exercise of all
options granted and yet to be exercised under the 2016 Share Option
Scheme and other share option schemes in aggregate shall not exceed
30% of the number of issued Shares from time to time. The total number
of Shares issued and which may be issued upon exercise of all options
(whether exercised, cancelled or outstanding) granted in any 12-month
period to each participant must not exceed 1% of the number of Shares
in issue unless approved by the Shareholders in a general meeting. An
option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the 2016 Share
Option Scheme at any time during a period to be notified by the Board,
which must not be more than ten years from the date of grant. Any Share
allotted and issued on the exercise of options will rank pari passu with
other Shares in issue on the date of allotment. The 2016 Share Option
Scheme will remain effective for a period of ten (10) years commencing
from 20 May 2016.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days
from the date of offer, upon payment of nominal consideration of
HK$1 in total by the eligible participants that become grantees. Each
share option will be vested immediately at the date when the option
is accepted. The share options will lapse immediately after the grantee
ceases to be eligible participant of the Group. The options will lapse due
to the expiry of the option’s exercise period.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The subscription price for the Shares to be issued upon exercise of the
options shall be no less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the
Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet issued by the Stock Exchange
on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated
in the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the
nominal value of a Share on the date of grant. The subscription price
will be established by the Board at the time the option is granted to the
participants.

Details of the movement in outstanding share options, which have been
granted under the 2016 Share Option Scheme for the year ended 31

ZEEFEEOT December 2024 are shown as follows:
REDi
AR RERH
Outstanding ~ FARET{E ik
REARZ/ R atthe  Exerdsed  Outstanding
Name/Category RARH BRHE it ff#8  beginning during  atthe end
of grantee Date of grant Vesting period Exercise period Exercise price of year the year of year
BmL s () ZR-E\ASTE ZBZ-EN\ASTHE “RoCEN\AZTRE AH0908T 2500000 2,500,000 -
Mr. Liu Yang (Note (i) 30 August 2021 ZEIZENAZTAR ZECNENAZTAR HK$0.908
30 August 2021 t0 29 August 2023 30 August 2023 to 29 August 2028
RaE2R A (M) Z3-E\A=tE ZBZ-EN\A=THE “RCCENAZTRE A%0908T 2000000  1,000000 1,000,000
Mr. Chen Xiaohua (Note (i)) 30 August 2021 ZECZENAZTAR “ECENAZTAR HK$0.908
30 August 2021 to 29 August 2023 30 August 2023 to 29 August 2028
8T ZR-EN\AZTE ZBC-FN\AZTRE “ECZE\A=tRE AH0908T 4500000 4,500,000 -
Employees 30 August 2021 ZEIEENAZTAR S ENAZTAE HK$0.908
30 August 2021 to 29 August 2023 30 August 2023 to 29 August 2028
9,000,000 8,000,000 1,000,000
B 5 - Notes

() BBrEE T \F—A-HBEIRTES -

iy MREFXRER-_Z-N\FN\B-—BEZEREAR
AR YR T - —F-A—HEZEIRA
TESE-

RZEBE-MF—A—BR_E-_MF+-_A=1+—
B REZZT— A FERESI AT EBITZREG
48 2 566,687,8000% * D RIMAERARARRKR_-ZF
—ANFERAAZTH (KRRBFEN T — NEERE
Bz H) RBEAFRAB AL ZEBITRG
7.87%%7.60% ° ARNEBRFE A FEITHIRDEE
B AF N E B 1T R A9 N F 39 B 4Y B0.0764 ©
BT NFREREAIED AR TE
BB #0.897T °

AEAETERBRAT s —E-NFFIR

(i) Mr. Liu Yang is the executive Director since 1 January 2018.

(i)~ Mr. Chen Xiaohua was appointed as general manager of the Company
and the executive Director on 1 August 2018 and 1 January 2021
respectively.

As at 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024, the total number of
Shares available for issue under the 2016 Share Option Scheme is
66,687,800 which represents 7.87% and 7.60% of the issued Shares
as at 20 May 2016 (the date of which the 2016 Share Option Scheme
has been adopted by the Company) and as at the date of this annual
report, respectively. The number of Shares available that may be issued
during the financial year divided by the weighted average number of
Shares in issue for the year was approximately 0.0764. The closing price
immediately before the date of grant under the 2016 Share Option
Scheme was HK$0.89.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige
the Company to offer new Shares on a pro rata basis to existing
Shareholders.
TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION
The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.
PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES
During the year under review, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.
SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
As at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this report, based on
the information that is publicly available to the Company and to the best
knowledge of the Directors, the Directors confirmed that the Company
has maintained sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules.
COMPLIANCE WITH CODE OF BEST PRACTICES
The Company is committed to maintaining the high standard of corporate
governance practices. Information on the corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report
on pages 34 to 51 of this annual report.
The Company has adopted the Model Code as its code for dealing in
securities of the Company by the Directors. After specific enquiry by the
Company, all the Directors confirmed that they had complied with the
required standards set out in the Model Code for the financial year ended
31 December 2024.
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR
The financial statements have been audited by BDO Limited (“BDO").
A resolution will be proposed at 2025 AGM to re-appoint BDO as the
independent auditor of the Company.
On behalf of the Board
Liu Yang
Chairman
Hong Kong, 24 March 2025
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The Company is committed to building and maintaining high standards of
corporate governance. Throughout the financial year ended 31 December
2024, the Company had adopted and complied with the relevant code
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code") as set out
in Part 2 of Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.

None of the Directors is aware of information that would reasonably
indicate that the Company is not, or was not during the year under
review, in compliance with the CG Code.

The Board reviews the corporate governance practices of the Company
periodically to ensure the practices continue to fulfill the CG Code
requirements. The key corporate governance practices of the Group are
summarised as follows:

CORPORATE CULTURE

The Group strives to improve and enrich life through continuous
improvement in its products and services. The Group's purpose is to build
a long-standing innovation, responsibility, and sustainability into the
future. The Group's values and commitments guide all its decisions and
activities.

The Group is dedicated to maintain high standards of business ethics and
corporate governance in all its activities and operations. All employees
are expected to ensure strict compliance with these standards when
conducting business. Onboarding training on the Group’s corporate
values is mandatory for all new employees. Refreshing training will be
provided thereafter to all employees as and when necessary to ensure
continuous alignment with the Group’s values.

The Group's values aligned behavior standards for its employees which
are set forth as follows:

o Ethics and Integrity: Having actions honestly, fairly and in line with
moral principal while business is being conducted.

o Trust: Being open-minded and reliable, treat others with dignity
and respect to build a trusting work environment in turn increasing
productivity and creativity.

o Caring: Serving the community and ensuring safety and well-being
of the employees of the Group.

o Excellence: Striving for the best and promoting to advancement
diligently as well as adhering to customer-oriented business
approach.

o Prudence: Planning ahead wisely and strategically to create
competitive breakthroughs for the long term.

o Commitment: Contributing to the Group’s objectives and
stakeholders.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Roles of Directors

The Board assumes responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of
the Company by directing and supervising the Company’s affairs. The
strategic business direction of the Group and objectives for management
has been formulated by the Board. The Board has delegated the
day-to-day operation responsibility to the management under the
supervision of the general manager of the Company and various Board
committees. The Board reviews the performance of the Group against the
pre-determined targets and budgets on a regular basis.

Corporate governance function

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties, which mainly include (i) developing and reviewing policies and
practices on corporate governance; (ii) monitoring and revising policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements as
appropriate; (iii) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and Senior Management; (iv)
developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conducts applicable
to employees and Directors; (v) reviewing the Company’s compliance
with the CG Code and disclosure in the corporate governance report of
the Company; (vi) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s process of
information disclosure, including assessing and verifying the accuracy and
materiality of inside information and determine the form and content of
any required disclosure; (vii) reviewing the effectiveness of the committee
structure of the Board and the terms of reference of all Board committees
and their accountability for the corporate governance practices and make
amendment(s) as appropriate; and (viii) reviewing and monitoring the
Company’s communication policy with Shareholders and its stakeholders.

During the year under review, the Board had (i) reviewed and/or
updated the Company’s existing corporate governance policies to ensure
compliance with the latest regulations issued by relevant regulatory
authorities, as well as to align with its evolving business development
requirements; (ii) reviewed and assessed the training records of Directors;
(ii) reviewed the effectiveness of the committees structure of the
Board and the terms of reference of all Board committees and their
accountability for the corporate governance practices; and (iv) reviewed
the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and the disclosure in the
corporate governance report of the Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Composition

During the year under review, the Board comprises three executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors. The
biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 10 to 11 of
this annual report. The composition of the Board is well balanced with
each Director having sound knowledge, experience and/or expertise
relevant to the business operations and development of the Group. The
independent non-executive Directors, with at least one possessing the
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise, who offer diversified expertise and experience,
contribute significantly to the important function of advising management
on strategy and policy development. All the Directors are aware of their
collective and individual responsibilities to the Shareholders and have
exercised their duties with care, skill and diligence, contributing to the
successful performance of the Group.

There is no financial, business, family or other material or relevant
relationship among the Chairman, members of the Board and the
general manager of the Company. All of them are free to exercise
their independent judgment. The Company has received from each
independent non-executive Directors a written annual confirmation of
their independence and is satisfied with their independence in accordance
with the Listing Rules.

The Company maintains appropriate directors and officers liability
insurance to indemnify Directors and its officers for their liabilities arising
out of corporate activities. The insurance coverage will be reviewed on an
annual basis.

Independence of the Board

The independent non-executive Directors (the “INEDs") possess significant
expertise and contribute to the Board process by monitoring and
reviewing the performance of the management of the Group against
goals and objectives of the Group. All Directors are encouraged to freely
express their independent views and constructive challenges during
the Board/Board committees meetings, providing valuable alternative
perspectives for the Group’s business. Currently, a half of the Board is
comprised of INEDs, who exercise independent judgment when reviewing
management proposals or decisions, particularly regarding conflicts of
interest and complex matters. The executive Directors seriously consider
and address the INEDs' comments and concerns.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independence of the Board (Continued)

Key mechanisms to enhance independence of the Board:

. As required under the Listing Rules, the audit committee (the
“Audit Committee”), remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) and nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) of the Company either are chaired by INEDs and/or
comprised of a majority of INEDs;

. If an INED has served on the Board for more than nine years, his/her
further appointment should be subject to a separate resolution to
be approved by the Shareholders;

o INEDs are not granted equity-based remuneration with
performance-related elements;

o Rigorous recruitment criteria for INEDs which considers amongst
others, the INED’s time commitment and professional qualification
or accounting or related financial management expertise;

. At least one-third of the Board shall be comprised of INEDs,
who individually bring independent judgement to bear on issues
of strategy, policy, performance, accountability, resources, key
appointments and standards of conduct, scrutinise the Group's
performance in achieving agreed corporate goals and objectives,
and monitoring performance reporting and take the lead where
potential conflicts of interest arise;

o Directors have access to external independent professional advice
where necessary and would be reimbursed for any professional fees
in relation to their fulfilment of the roles and responsibilities; and

o INEDs are required to declare their independence at appointment
and thereafter annually which is reviewed by the Nomination
Committee as and have a continuous duty to disclose any change in
circumstances affecting their independence.

The Nomination Committee regularly reviews the structure, size,
composition and performance of the Board. The Nomination Committee
also reviews the independence of INEDs annually based on the
independence criteria set out in the Listing Rules. The independence of
INEDs is reviewed at the time of their appointment and thereafter.

The Board reviews the implementation and effectiveness of the above
mechanisms annually to ensure independent views and input are available
to the Board. The Board is of the view that there are sufficient safeguards
and checks to ensure that the decision-making process of the Board is
independent and based on the collective decision of Directors.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Appointment, re-election and removal of Directors

All Directors are appointed for a specific term of three years and subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years in accordance
with the Articles of Association.

According to the Articles of Association, any new Director appointed by
the Board (in case of filling a casual vacancy or an addition to the existing
Board) is subject to retirement and re-election by Shareholders at the next
general meeting of the Company or at the next annual general meeting
of the Company (in case of an addition of Board member) following
his/her appointment. At each annual general meeting, one-third of the
Directors for the time being, or if their number is not a multiple of three,
then the number nearest to but not less than one-third, are required to
retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject
to retirement at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be
eligible for re-election and shall continue to act as a Director throughout
the meeting at which he/she retires. The Directors to retire by rotation will
be those who have been the longest in office since their last re-election or
appointment but as between persons who become or were last re-elected
Directors on the same day those retire will (unless they otherwise
agree among themselves) be determined by lot. To further enhance
accountability, any further re-appointment of an INED who has served the
Company for more than nine years will be subject to a separate resolution
to be approved by the Shareholders.

Director may be removed by an ordinary resolution of the Company
before the expiration of his/her period of time (but without prejudice to
any claim which such Director may have for damages for any breach of
any contract between him and the Company).

Training

All Directors must keep abreast of their responsibilities as Directors and
of the business and activities of the Group. A briefing is provided and
organised to ensure that each newly appointed Director is familiar with
the role of the Board, his/her legal and other duties and responsibilities
as Director as well as the business and corporate governance practices
of the Group. The company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) will continuously update all Directors on latest development
regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements
so as to familiar compliance of the same by all Directors.

During the year under review, all Directors received regular updates and/
or briefings on changes and developments to the Group’s business.
Besides, all Directors have participated in appropriate continuous
professional development activities by ways of reading materials relevant
to the Directors’ duties and responsibilities. Directors are requested to
provide their records of training to the Company Secretary for record.

The Company Secretary has attended no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training to update her skills and knowledge during the year
under review.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Chairman and general manager

The Chief Executive bears the title of general manager. In order to
reinforce the independence and accountability, the roles of the Chairman
and the general manager of the Company are segregated and performed
by Mr. Liu Yang and Mr. Chen Xiaohua respectively. There is a clear
distinctive responsibility of the Chairman to mainly provide leadership
for the Board and ensure the Board is functioning properly, with good
corporate governance practices and procedures, whilst the general
manager of the Company is responsible for managing the day-to-day
operations, implementing business strategies and policies approved by the
Board, developing and formulating the organisational structure, internal
control systems and internal procedures and processes for the Board's
approval. The division of responsibilities between the Chairman and
general manager of the Company has been clearly defined and set out in
writing.

Board meeting

The Board meets regularly at least 4 times every financial year. The
Directors participated in person or through electronic means of
communication. All regular Board meetings are scheduled in advance to
facilitate the possible fullest attendance. The meeting agenda is set after
consulting with members of the Board. Each Director is invited to present
any agenda that he wishes to discuss or propose at such meetings.
Directors are required to abstain from voting and will not be counted in
the quorum present in the Board meeting if any Director has a conflict of
interest in a matter to be considered by the Board.

The Directors have been invited to include any matters which they
thought appropriate in the agenda for the Board meetings. Notice of
Board meeting at least 14 days has been given to each Board member.
Board papers are circulated to all Directors not less than 3 days before the
Board meetings (or such other period as agreed) to ensure timely access
to relevant information. Each Director is able to access the management
of the Group separately and independently if more information is
required. All Directors are permitted to seek independent professional
advice, if required, at the Company’s expenses.

During the year under review, 4 Board meetings were held. The Directors
have discussed the overall strategy as well as the operation and financial
performance of the Group, including annual budgets, annual and interim
results, approval of major capital investments and other significant
operational and financial matters etc. The Directors are kept informed
on a timely basis of major changes that may affect the Group’s business,
including amendments to relevant rules and regulations. The Board’s
papers and minutes of the Company are kept by the Company Secretary
at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong. All draft and
final versions of minutes have been circulated to the Directors for review,
comment and record within 14 days after each Board meeting.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Board committees

The Board has established the following committees with defined terms
of reference. The terms of reference of the Board committees are posted
on the Company’s website and also available to Shareholders upon
request.

Audit Committee

During the year under review, the Audit Committee comprises three
INEDs, namely, Mr. Leung Kam Wan, Mr. Liu Chenguang and Ms. Shan
Honghong. Mr. Leung is the chairman of the Audit Committee and he
possesses recognised professional qualifications in accounting as required
by the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Audit Committee include:

(i) ensuring the Group’s financial statements, annual and interim
reports, and the auditor’'s report present a true and balanced
assessment of the Group’s financial position and complying of the
accounting standards, the Listing Rules and other requirements in
relation to financial reporting;

(ii) reviewing the Group's financial and internal controls;

(iif)

reviewing the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;

(iv)

recommending the appointment and remuneration of the
independent auditor of the Company; and

(v) other duties are set out in its specific terms of reference.

The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources enabling it to
discharge its duties.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee had discussed the
following matters:

(i

=

reviewing the independence and objectivity of the independent
auditor of the Company and discussing with the independent
auditor of the Company the nature and scope of the audit for the
year ended 31 December 2024;

(i)  reviewing the Group’s significant internal controls and financial
matters as set out in the Audit Committee’s terms of reference with
management of the Company;

(iiiy  reviewing the audit findings provided by the independent auditor of

the Company, and discussing with the Board on the matters where

action or improvement is needed;

(iv)  reviewing the Group’s accounting principles and practices, Listing

Rules and statutory compliance, internal controls and financial

reporting matters;
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Audit Committee (Continued)

(v)  reviewing the annual financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023 and interim financial statements for the six months
ended 30 June 2024; and

(vi) reviewing the terms of remuneration of the independent auditor
of the Company with the Board on the re-appointment of the
independent auditor of the Company.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee had also participated
to (i) review the self-assessment report on compliance of CG code; (ii)
evaluate the sufficiency of resources, the qualification and the experience
of the employees who were responsible for the accounting and financial
reporting of the Group, and the sufficiency of training courses received
by them,; (iii) review and approve the annual budget of the Group; (iv)
review annual internal audit report of the Group; and (v) review the inside
information disclosure policy, risk management policy, internal control
policy, whistleblowing policy and anti-corruption policy of the Company
etc.

On 24 March 2025, the Audit Committee held a meeting to review the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2024. The Audit
Committee was satisfied that the accounting policies and practices
adopted by the Group are in accordance with the current best practices
in Hong Kong. The Audit Committee found no unusual items that
were omitted from the financial statements and was satisfied with the
disclosures of information as shown in the financial statements.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Mr. Liu Chenguang, an INED,
with Mr. Leung Kam Wan, an INED, Ms. Shan Honghong, an INED and
Mr. Liu Yang, an executive Director, as the three other members. The
majority members of the Remuneration Committee are INEDs.

The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for (i) reviewing
and making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration policy
of individual Director and Senior Management, with reference to the
Board’'s corporate goals and objectives as well as considering salaries
paid by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities,
and employment conditions elsewhere in the Group; (i) reviewing
the Company’s share option scheme, bonus structure and other
compensation-related issues and making recommendations to the Board;
and (iii) other duties as set out in its specific terms of reference.

The Remuneration Committee consults with the Chairman on its
proposals and recommendations, and also has access to professional
advice if deemed necessary by the Remuneration Committee. The
Remuneration Committee is also provided with other resources enabling it
to discharge its duties.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Remuneration Committee (Continued)

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee had (i)
reviewed the remuneration packages for all the Directors and the
Senior Management by reference to their responsibilities and duties,
the Group’s operating results and achieved corporate objectives,
after taking into account also the comparable market conditions and
made recommendations to the Board for approval; (ii) reviewed the
remuneration policy for the Directors and the Senior Management; and
(iii) reviewed the terms of service contract of the Directors. No Director
shall participate in any discussion and resolution about his/her own
remuneration.

During the year, since there was no share option granted under the
Company’s share option scheme, no material matter relating to the
Company'’s share option scheme has been reviewed by the Remuneration
Committee.

Remuneration policy

The primary goal of the remuneration policy for Directors and Senior
Management is to enable the Group to retain and motivate executive
Directors and Senior Management by linking their compensation with
performance as measured against the corporate objectives of the
Company. The principal elements of the remuneration package for
Directors and Senior Management include basic salary, other benefits,
discretionary bonus and share option. In determining guidelines for each
compensation element, the Company will make reference to market
remuneration surveys on companies operating in similar business and
comparable scale.

The remuneration of non-executive Directors mainly comprises directors’
fees which is subject to annual assessment with reference to the market
standard. Reimbursement is allowed for out-of-pocket expenses incurred
in connection with the performance of their duties including attending
the Company’s meetings.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee is chaired by Mr. Liu Yang, an executive
Director, with Mr. Leung Kam Wan and Mr. Liu Chenguang, as the two
other members, both are INEDs. The majority members of the Nomination
Committee are INEDs.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to (i) review the
structure, size and diversity of the Board and make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategies; (i) identify individuals suitably qualified to become
Board members and select or make recommendations to the Board on
the selection of individuals nominated for directorships; (iii) assess the
independence of INEDs; (iv) make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors; (v) develop and review the Board Diversity Policy; (vi) develop
and review the Nomination Policy; and (vii) discharge other duties as
set out in its specific terms of reference. The Nomination Committee is
provided with sufficient resources enabling it to discharge its duties.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

Diversity

The Board Diversity Policy sets out the approach to achieve diversity of the
Board which includes gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional and industry experience, skills, knowledge, length
of service and the legitimate interests of the principal Shareholders.
The Nomination Committee will from time to time review and agree
on the measurable objectives for achieving diversity of the Board
(the "Measurable Objectives”). The Measurable Objectives have been
incorporated into the Directors succession plan of the Company as one of
the succession criteria.

As the workforce to handle the production of the Group required specific
skill sets which are heavily skewed towards male from the labour market,
female only accounted for 22.4% of the Group’s workforce while male
accounted for 77.6% as at 31 December 2024. Although the Group
has no plan or measurable objective set for achieving gender equality
in workplace, the recruitment principle of the Group is always based on
individual capability instead of gender.

Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee will also consider the merits and contribution
of any Director proposed for re-election or any candidate nominated to be
appointed as Director with due regard for the diversity of the Board so as
to complement the existing Board.

When making recommendations regarding the appointment of any
proposed candidate to the Board or re-appointment of any existing
member(s) of the Board, the Nomination Committee shall consider a
variety of factors including without limitation to the following in assessing
the suitability of the proposed candidate:

- integrity and ethics;

- commitment in respect of available time;

- relevant interests with the Group or the Group’s members;

- government relations and the ability of public affairs
communication;

- compliance with the relevant regulators requirements;

- diversity in all aspects (as described in the Board Diversity Policy);
and

- any other factors that the Nomination Committee or the Board may
consider relevant and applicable from time to time.

As there may be more candidates than the vacancies available, the
“gross-vote” method will be used to determine who shall be elected as a
Director. The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to
candidate nominated to be appointed as Director.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

During the year under review, the Nomination Committee had (i) assessed
the current structure, size and composition (including but not limited
to the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board; (ii) reviewed
the independence of the INEDs; (iii) reviewed and recommended the
re-appointment of the retiring Directors for Shareholders’ approval at
annual general meeting; (iv) reviewed the Board Diversity Policy; (v)
reviewed the Directors’ succession plan; and (vi) reviewed the Nomination
Policy.

Safety and Environmental Protection Committee

The safety and environmental protection committee of the Company
(the "SEPC") is responsible for enhancing the safety and environmental
protection as well as effectiveness of production operations that would
eliminate the main operating risks of the Group. The SPEC is chaired by
Mr. Liu Yang, an executive Director and other members are Ms. Shan
Honghong, an INED and Mr. Li Yuguo, a director of Weifang Parasia. The
primary duties of the SEPC include:

(i) formulating the Group’s overall safety and environmental protection
policy and regulations;

(i)  establishing and maintaining a safety and environmental production
operating system of the Group;

(i) inspecting and monitoring the productions and operations of the
Group to ensure the Group’s safety and environmental protection
policies and regulations are implemented effectively;

(iv)  ensuring the production operations of the Group are complied with
all relevant rules and regulations promulgated by relevant regulators
and authorities from time to time; and

(v)  handling and responding to all complaints regarding the safety and
environmental issues and make recommendations to the Board for
improvement.

During the year under review, the SEPC had: (i) reviewed and assessed
the effectiveness of safety and environmental works and/or projects
conducted during the year; and (ii) identified and proposed certain
environmental improvement projects to the Board for approval to comply
with upcoming requirements under relevant rules and regulations while
meeting the requirements for current business development.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

During the year under review, the attendance record of each Director
at the Board meetings, Board committee meetings and annual general
meeting is set out below:

LEEETE
Attendance of meetings
Z2R
RERAF RRZES
b4 Safety and
Annual ENZEE  FMZEE®  REZEE Envionmental
General Exg Audit  Remuneration Nomination Protection
Meeting Board Committee Committee Committee Committee
HES Executive Directors
il b S Mr. Liu Yang*s? 11 414 Ve 171 101 10
TFIE4E Mr. Wang Zijiang 11 414 - - - -
BREERE Mr. Chen Xiaohua 11 414 - - - -
BUFHTES Independent non-executive Directors
PREFE 46 Mr. Leung Kam Wan'#6 111 44 313 i N -
BB e Mr. Liu Chenguang?3¢ 11 414 33 171 101 -
ATAT g2 Ms. Shan Honghong?4 10 444 31 /1 - 11
ERE Management
FERRES Mr. Li Yuguo® - - - - - 101
5T Notes:
1. BREESEF 1 Chairman of the Audit Committee
2. BEZEZEEENE 2 Member of the Audit Committee
3. FTWEESEE 3 Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
4. FMEBEEKE 4 Member of the Remuneration Committee
5. REEZESER 5. Chairman of the Nomination Committee
6. RREZLEgKE 6 Member of the Nomination Committee
7. LZENRREESER 7 Chairman of the SEPC
8. ZE2NMIRREEEKE 8 Member of the SEPC

BREMEFSSRIN RNEBEFE TFEHEDRE
BYFRTERERBEMATESTHENER

-

TR]ITT—REH-

Apart from the regular Board meetings, the Chairman held a meeting
with all INEDs, without the presence of other executive Directors during

the year under review.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Board aims to present a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment of the Company’s performance, position and prospects
to Shareholders and the public pursuant to all types of statutory and
regulatory requirements.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the financial
statements of the Group in accordance with statutory requirements and
the applicable accounting standards. The Directors also acknowledge their
responsibilities to ensure that the financial statements for the Group are
published in a timely manner. The Directors’ and auditor’s responsibilities
in respect of the financial statements are set out in the “Independent
Auditor’s Report” on pages 52 to 56 of this report.

In addition, the Board has reviewed and considered the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience of staffs of the accounting and
financial reporting function of the Group and also considered the training
programs and budget during the year under review.

Monthly updates have been provided to the Board timely during the year
under review. Management is also required to provide detailed reports
and explanation to enable the Board to make an informed assessment
before approval of the Group’s financial statements.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board has overall responsibilities for the Group’s system of internal
control and risk management through maintaining a sound and effective
internal control system of the Group to safeguard the Group’s assets and
the Shareholders’ investment.

The Board is also responsible for the overall risk management functions
of the Group. Risk management procedure has been set up and
implemented for the overall operations of the Group, which is in place
to provide a consistent approach on the risk management processes in
identification, assessment, treatment and reporting of all risks identified
that would affect key business activities.

The internal control and risk management systems of the Group comprise
a comprehensive organisational structure and delegation of authorities,
with responsibilities of each business and operational units clearly
defined and authorities assigned to individuals based on experience and
business needs. Systems have been designed to (i) help the achievement
of business objectives and safeguard assets against unauthorised use
and disposition; (ii) ensure compliance with relevant laws, rules and
regulations, and ensure proper maintenance of accounting records for
provision of reliable financial information used within the business or for
publication; and (iii) identify, manage and mitigate key risks to the Group.

The internal control and risk management systems of the Group are
established to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss and to manage, but not to eliminate, risks
of failure in achieving the Group’s business objectives.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

An internal audit department of the Group is responsible for ensuring
the proper implementation of internal control procedures, compliance
controls and risk management measures. The internal audit department
of the Group also formulate control measures and strive to establish more
comprehensive management systems to support the continuous business
development of the Group. The department operates independently
and reports directly to the executive Directors and/or Board periodically
after examinations on the risks associated with and controls over various
operations and activities within the Group and evaluating their adequacy,
effectiveness and compliance.

During the year under review, the internal audit department of the
Group conducted a review and re-examination of the management of
property, plant and machines of the Group. The findings were reported
directly to the Board. The general manager of the Company is responsible
for implementing the internal audit department’s recommendations
for improvement. The improvement progress on these audit
recommendations will be followed up on a regular basis by the internal
audit department of the Group later on.

The Directors will constantly review the internal control and risk
management systems of the Group at least annually to ensure the
systems remain sound and effective on an ongoing basis. During the year
under review, the Directors had reviewed the effectiveness of the internal
control and risk management systems of the Group and considered
that they are effective and adequate. Besides, the executive Directors
participate in the monthly management meetings of the subsidiaries of
the Company to review the their financial and operational procedures,
fraud investigations (if any), productivity efficiency and effectiveness
etc., and/or meetings held as and when required to address or rectify
irregularities immediately.

In addition, pursuant to the whistleblowing policy of the Group,
employees can report any ethical misconduct, impropriety or fraud cases
within the Group to the INEDs or the Chairman anonymously in writing
without fear of victimisation, subsequent discrimination, disadvantage or
dismissal.

The Board is responsible for the handling of the dissemination of inside
information and compliance of other financial disclosure requirements.
The Board is fully aware of its obligations under the Listing Rules and
the overriding principle that inside information of the Group should be
disclosed as soon as reasonably practicable. The Company has developed
an inside information disclosure policy with reference to the Guide on
Disclosure of Inside Information issued by the Securities and Futures
Commission. Any unauthorised use of confidential or inside information
is strictly prohibited under the inside information disclosure policy of the
Company. The inside information disclosure policy of the Company has
also clearly defined the procedures for responding to external enquiries
about the Group’s affairs and ensure the strict confidentiality of inside
information prior to its disclosure. Employees who are privy or have access
to unpublished inside information of the Group have also been notified
on the adoption of the Model Code by the Company and on observing
the restrictions pursuant to Parts Xlll and XIV of the SFO. The Board will
review the inside information disclosure policy regularly to make revisions
or amendments thereto, if necessary.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

Whistleblowing and anti-corruption polices

The Board has adopted a whistleblowing policy aligned with the
requirements of CG Code. This policy establishes an open and unified
reporting channel for employees of the Group and external parties
to report, even anonymously, any suspected serious misconduct or
malpractice involving the Group or its employees. The Audit Committee
is responsible for overseeing the implementation and effectiveness of this

policy.

The Board has adopted an anti-corruption policy to establish general
principles of business ethical standards that all employees of the Group
are expected to follow in daily operation. Every employee of the Group is
required to undertake to adhere to this policy which outlines provisions
on conflict of interests, protection and proper use of assets of the Group,
bribery and corruption, dishonesty and fraudulent act as well as reporting
potential misconduct. The Group has zero tolerance for any violations
of this policy and will not tolerate any illegal or unethical acts. The
Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the implementation and
effectiveness of this policy.

During the year, no incident involving serious fraud or misconduct
complaint had been received from the employees of the Group nor
external parties which had or would have a material impact on the
Group’s financial position and overall operations. No significant area
of concern is noted on the implementation and effectiveness of the
whistleblowing and anti-corruption policies.

COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code governing
securities transactions of the Directors. Each of the Directors has
confirmed, upon specific enquiry, his/her compliance with the Model
Code for the financial year ended 31 December 2024. The Company
has also adopted written guidelines on no less exacting terms than
the Model Code for the relevant employees. The Senior Management,
who, because of their office in the Group, is likely to be in possession
of inside information, has been requested to comply with the provisions
of the Model Code and the Company’s code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors. No incidents of non-compliance of the
employees’ written guidelines by the relevant employees were noted by
the Company during the year under review.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Right to convene extraordinary general meeting
(the "EGM")

Any one or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall
at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary, to require an EGM to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such meeting
shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition.

The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and must be
signed by the requisitionist(s) and deposited to the Company Secretary
at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong, and may
consist of several documents in like form each signed by one or more
requisitionist(s).

If the request has been verified as not in order, the Shareholders making
the request will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, an EGM will
not be convened as requested.

If within twenty one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed
to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Right to put enquiries to the Board

Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board. All enquiries
must be in writing with contact information of the Shareholders and
deposited to the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong.

Right to put forward proposals at general meetings

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to move resolutions at
the general meetings other than a proposal of a person for election as
a Director under the Cayman Islands Companies Law (as amended from
time to time) or the Articles of Association. However, Shareholders may
suggest proposals by sending written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary following the procedures set out in the paragraphs
headed "“Right to Convene Extraordinary General Meeting” above to
convene an EGM for any business specified in such written requisition.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (Continued)

Right to propose a person for election as a Director

Pursuant to article 85 of the Articles of Association, no person other
than a Director retiring at the meeting shall, unless recommended by the
Directors for election, be eligible for election as a Director at any general
meeting unless a written notice signed by a member of the Company
(other than the person to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and
vote at the meeting for which such notice is given of his intention to
propose such person for election and also a notice signed by the person
to be proposed of his willingness to be elected including that person’s
biographical details as required by rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules, shall
have been lodged at the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong provided that the minimum length of
the period, during which such notice(s) are given, shall be at least seven
(7) days and that (if the notices are submitted after the dispatch of the
notice of the general meeting appointed for such election) the period for
lodgment of such notice(s) shall commence on the day after the dispatch
of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and end
no later than seven (7) days prior to the date of such general meeting.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the memorandum and articles of association of
the Company during the year under review. An up-to-date version of the
Articles of Association is also available on the Company’s website and the
Stock Exchange’s website.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company views its annual general meeting as an important channel for
face-to-face dialogue with all Shareholders. All members of the Board make
every effort to attend the annual general meeting to meet Shareholders
and address their enquiries. An external independent auditor is also present
at the annual general meeting to answer Shareholders’ questions. At the
commencement of annual general meeting, the chairman of the meeting
will explain the polling procedures in detail and answers any questions from
Shareholders regarding voting by way of a poll.

In order to promote effective communication with Shareholders, the
Company has adopted an inside information disclosure policy. The Board
will regularly review this policy to ensure its effectiveness in enhancing
transparency. This policy ensures information disclose in announcements,
annual and interim reports is timely, fair, accurate, truthful, and complete.
The Shareholders and potential investors thereby enable to make informed
decisions. Shareholders can access the latest business developments and
financial performance of the Group through reports and announcements
available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.
All Shareholders’ communications are also available on the Company’s
website. Additionally, the website of the Company also provides email
address, postal address, fax number and phone number by which
Shareholder may direct enquires to the Company’s investor relations
manager. The Company’s investor relations manager is ready to respond
the enquiries from Shareholders and potential investors promptly.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS (Continued)

In addition, the Company strives to promote and maintain constant
dialogue with Shareholders through various means. The chairman of
the Board and the investor relations manager are the key spokespersons
of the Company in all external media communications and respond to
enquiries from Shareholders regularly and/or as and when required,
hence, Shareholders’ views and concerns are appropriately communicated
to the Company.

The Board believed that all the aforementioned arrangements were
implemented effectively during the year as the Board was not aware of
any dissatisfactory feedback from Shareholders.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The annual fees payable to the independent auditor of the Company for
non-audit services and for audit services are subject to scrutiny by the
Audit Committee. The provision of non-audit services by the independent
auditor of the Company requires prior approval of Audit Committee so
as to ensure that the independence and objectivity of the independent
auditor of the Company will not be impaired. Details of the fees paid or
payable to the independent auditor of the Company for the financial year
ended 31 December 2024 are as follows:
Audit services HK$ 1,030,000
Non-audit services

Review of interim financial statements HK$120,000
Agreed-upon procedures on preliminary
annual results announcement HK$10,000

On behalf of the Board

Liu Yang

Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2025
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF TIANDE CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tiande
Chemical Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 57 to 132, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024,
and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of cash flows and
the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs"”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
“Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Impairment assessment of trade and bills receivable

Refer to note 36(iii)(b) and (c), and the Group's critical accounting
estimates and judgements in relation to impairment of trade and bills
receivable set out in note 4(ix) to the consolidated financial statements.

Impairment assessment of trade and bills receivable is estimated based
on an expected credit losses (“ECLs”) model under HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments. Loss allowances for trade and bills receivable are measured
with ECLs which result from all possible default events over the expected
life. At each reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed. The
assessment of the correlation among historical observed default rates,
forecast economic conditions and ECLs involves significant estimate. The
amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss experience and
forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of
customer’s actual default in the future.

As at 31 December 2024, the net carrying amount of the Group’s trade
and bills receivable was RMB377,774,000 (note 18). Allowance for
impairment amounting to RMB3,249,000 (note 36(iii)(b)) had been made
over these balances.

We have identified impairment assessment of trade and bills receivable
as a key audit matter because of its significance to the consolidated
financial statements and considerable amount of judgement being
required in conducting impairment assessment prepared by management
as mentioned in the foregoing paragraph.

Our responses:

Our audit procedures in relation to management’s impairment assessment
of trade and bills receivable included:

- Obtaining an understanding of how impairment is estimated by
management;

- Assessing the measurement of ECLs of trade and bills receivable
by obtaining the understanding of approach being adopted by the
Group;

- Testing the ageing analysis of trade and bills receivable, on a sample
basis, to the source documents;

- Reviewing the reasonableness of the use of ageing profile, historical
settlement pattern, historical default rates, forecast economic

conditions and forward-looking information in the ECLs model; and

- Checking the accuracy and the relevance of the input data used in
the ECLs model.
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OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in
discharging their responsibility in this regard.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional

judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
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consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

o conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

o evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business units within the group as a basis for forming an
opinion on the group financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and review of the work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our
audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits
of such communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Tsui Ka Che, Norman

Practising Certificate number: PO5057

Hong Kong, 24 March 2025
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Consolidated Income Statement
HEZ_FT-_F+=F=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

—E-MF —E-=F
2024 2023
B 5 AR® TR ARBTT
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000
EER Revenue 6 1,873,801 2,080,285
$HE AR Cost of sales (1,646,325) (1,641,4417)
EX Gross profit 227,476 438,844
EL th o A D 2 Other income and gains 6 54,723 31,984
HEMESHER Revaluation losses on investment properties 14 (1,500) (1,400)
HERS Selling expenses (71,135) (58,455)
TR R E b @MY Administrative and other operating expenses (137,790) (112,693)
B 7S A AR Finance costs 7 (3,741) (176)
B A8 Bt Al R Profit before income tax 8 68,033 298,104
TS i X Income tax expense 9 (20,776) (66,627)
FEmA Profit for the year 47,257 231,477
FEMREE =T, (E8) :  Profit/(Loss) for the year attributable to:
RAaHER A Owners of the Company 66,880 211,071
FE 12 ) 4 2 Non-controlling interests (19,623) 20,406
47,257 231,477
Mt EARAB A AFE(G  Earnings per share for profit attributable to
FERFMS 2 FMRAEF  owners of the Company for the year 12
— &R — Basic AR %0.0777C AR#0.2437C
RMBO0.077 RMBO0.243
— B8 — Diluted AR¥0.077 AR#0.2427T
RMBO0.077 RMBO0.242
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

® HE_ZFT_WF+=F=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024
—EBEF —E=F
2024 2023
AR®T R AREF T
RMB’'000 RMB'000
FERF Profit for the year 47,257 231,477
Hih 2 E U&= Other comprehensive income
FTEEHFIEZERERZER Items that will not be reclassified to
the income statement:
ERinEESR Currency translation differences (30) 7,950
FEHME2ERE Other comprehensive income for the
year (30) 7,950
FEXHEKBARE Total comprehensive income
for the year 47,227 239,427
EhFEFEZEKRERE: Total comprehensive income
for the year attributable to:
ZIN/NETEZF =N Owners of the Company 67,065 219,109
FEE A 2= Non-controlling interests (19,838) 20,318
47,227 239,427

58 xBEIERARAT s —E-_MEEH
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

R-ZZT_WF+=H=+—H As at 31 December 2024
—E-NEF —E-=F
2024 2023
B 5 AR® T ARETF T
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000
EEHREE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
ERBEE Non-current assets
Y% - BB kB Property, plant and equipment 13 1,517,666 1,540,322
ERAEEE Right-of-use assets 33 82,039 84,614
"EMSE Investment properties 14 18,000 19,500
B AE Intangible asset 15 4,959 6,763
BEEYE  BEKLKXMEZ Deposits paid for acquisition of property,
BEfETE plant and equipment 31,405 23,332
RIEFIEE E Deferred tax assets 16 5,176 5,291
1,659,245 1,679,822
REBEE Current assets
7E Inventories 17 151,519 143,921
H 5 AR R =& Trade and bills receivable 18 377,774 431,425
TEfT 5RI8  E A FEULFKTE  Prepayments and other receivables 19 43,063 50,261
BRI TIER Pledged bank deposits 20 1,278 1,326
EBE R Time deposits 21 493,340 439,458
R1TRIRE R Bank and cash balances 21 358,214 175,605
1,425,188 1,241,996
REBEE Current liabilities
g EMNR Trade payables 22 37,901 35,577
JERT AR AT BR R Accruals and other payables
B E < TR IR 23 238,471 263,786
aRARE Contract liabilities 24 8,767 9,819
RITIER Bank borrowings 25 220,134 =
JEFE AR A% BB R Advances from a non-controlling shareholder 26 5,961 5,743
mENTIE B & Current tax liabilities 13,273 2,890
524,507 317,815
REEEFE Net current assets 900,681 924,181
BEERABER Total assets less current liabilities 2,559,926 2,604,003
ERBEE Non-current liabilities
BENIE A R Deferred tax liabilities 16 45,002 46,427
BESE Net assets 2,514,924 2,557,576
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

® MZZE MG+ = =+—H As at 31 December 2024
—ENEF T
2024 2023
B 5 ARET ARETFIT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
e EQUITY

[N Share capital 27 8,060 7,986
e Reserves 28 2,412,043 2,434,931

RATEE AEER Equity attributable to the Company’s
owners 2,420,103 2,442 917
IE 12 i Non-controlling interests 94,821 114,659
M Total equity 2,514,924 2,557,576

ESTE1NANGAMBRRENR T _RF=H
“TMBAEARREESHAETFETIE  Wh

UTREEE

ek
LIU YANG
EF

Director
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The consolidated financial statements on pages 57 to 132 were approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors of the Company on 24
March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

EFFI
WANG ZIJIANG
EF

Director
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows ‘\
HEZ_FT-_F+=F=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

—E-EF —EB=F
2024 2023
B 5 AR® TR ARBTT
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

KEEKRELEZRESME Cash flows from operating activities
B BT 15 75 Bl g 1) Profit before income tax 68,033 298,104
BT IBIEAE Adjustments for:
R #E 4E E LARR I 27 2 Equity-settled share-based payment

FRIAFZ expenses 8 - 633
RITH B UL A Bank interest income 6 (33,424) (18,178)
FIEFAX Interest expenses 7 3,741 176
FREEECITE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 8 2,575 2,504
A Amortisation of an intangible asset 8 1,804 1,804
M - BE RBEZITE  Deprediation of property, plant and

equipment 8 172,919 133,851

wEYHESHEBE Revaluation losses on investment properties 14 1,500 1,400
B SRR 2 B & 1B Provision for impairment losses on trade

Bl T receivables, net 8 1,530 454
H WG TE Z BB Reversal of impairment loss on other

o] 2 receivables 8 (277) (9,638)
WO Z Pl B3R )R E 2 Write-down of inventories to net realisable

ISR & value, net 8 2,995 5,614
Y - BB R 2 EE  Write-off of property, plant and equipment 8 110 =
B 5 FE W AR 2 1 8H Write-off of trade receivables 8 70 =
Hh 8 W IR 2 85 Write-off of other receivables 8 159 =
BT 7 B Government grants 6 - (9,414)
HEWE  BEMZMEZ  Loss/(Gain) on disposals of property,

BiE, (W)  FE plant and equipment, net 6/8 47 (50)
LEECEHRIZ Operating profit before working capital

5 g ) changes 221,782 407,260
& GEm), m (Increase)/Decrease in inventories (10,593) 34,362
Z S - BURZEIE -« Decrease in trade, bills and other receivables

H e U R TE K and prepayments

T RIER A 59,366 380,883
B HEMNER - B Increase/(Decrease) in trade payables,

RIE R JEF AR AT BR K other payables and accruals

2,/ Cr4) 137,627 (23,735)
aRAaERD Decrease in contract liabilities (1,052) (15,701)
BEEBMERE Cash generated from operations 407,130 783,069
BTFT1EH Income taxes paid (11,703) (133,836)
i E A 2 5 )FEE  Net cash generated from operating activities 395,427 649,233
REXKEEZHSERE Cash flows from investing activities
BEYE  BENMEE Purchases of property, plant and equipment (199,756) (318,469)
HEWE - BE&ZMBEZ  Proceeds on disposals of property, plant and

TGS/ O equipment 515 194
GHEBEFRITFR Placement of pledged bank deposits (1,000) (1,326)
B EARITER Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits 1,048 =
T e HifF 5 Placement of time deposits (493,340) (439,458)
RREUE HiTF R Withdrawal of time deposits 439,458 197,463
B Y F B Interest received 33,424 18,178
REZBHH B2 F58 Net cash used in investing activities (219,651) (543,418)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HE_FT_WF+=F=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

—E-IEF T =F
2024 2023
B AR® TR ARBTT
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’'000
Eﬂﬁ%ﬁ&izfﬁﬁ)ﬁé Cash flows from financing activities
BRI E Dividends paid 11 (96,630) (186,646)
118 ﬁ%ﬂx%ﬁﬁ% FRIE Proceeds received from exercise of share
options 6,751 -
ERHE Interest paid 35(b) (3,608) (5,900)
EBERITER Repayment of bank borrowings 35(b) (46,243) (11,000)
EERERRE Repayment of bank borrowings under
ZHE TR IRTTIE K supplier finance arrangements 35(b) (50,000) =
FTILERITE X New bank borrowings raised 35(b) 196,377 11,000
MEERFER Repayment to a substantial shareholder
— ReHn — principal amount portion 35(b) - (40,000)
BIEZFEEL(FT/H)Z Net cash generated from/used in) financing
& FHEE activities 6,647 (232,546)
BehIBEEEEER Net increase/(decrease) in cash and
g/ CRd) - FHE cash equivalents 182,423 (126,731)
FYzEERIREEME  Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
BH year 175,605 294,667
SNFETE R BB o & Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 186 7,669
FrzBR&kIReEM@E  Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
TE H 358,214 175,605
ReRBESEEEH Analysis of balances of cash and
RO cash equivalents 21
HESRITIER Short-term bank deposits 237,949 36,968
IR{THEB L FERS Cash at banks and on hand 120,265 138,637
358,214 175,605
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
HEZZFT-_WF+=F=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

Attributable to owners of the Company

AAAERARL
ik
B4 S EXRE FE4
NEE  EGRE  DEE  foeign BRERE B&
BE  BHEE  BARE  Supls  Propety  Public  ameny  Shee  EfEE  RERA Nom- &
Share Share  Specal  reserve revaluation  welfare translation  option Other  Retained it controlling Total
capital ~ premium  reserve fnd  reserve fund  reserve  reseve  reseve  profits Total interests equity
AEETT ARETr ARMTR ARETR ARETr ARMTR ARETn ARETn ARMTR ARETL ARETn ARMTR ARET:
RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000
(Fsea)  (Wimase))  (AHE28(0) (kos)  (kose)  (Wfekosd)  (Riskas(g)
(note 28(3)  (note 2810)) ~ (note 28(c)) (note 28(d))  (note 28(¢)  (note 28(f)  (note 28(g)
R-§-ME-R-RéH Balance at 1 January 2024 1986 138217 318 231950 1653 633 18935 1837 780461 1230003 2442917 114659 2557576
IHZFZERERER 2003 finaldividend and
ZE-mERERE (K1) 2024 interim dvidend paid (note 11) - - - - - - - - (96,830)  (96,630) - (966830)
RRERENETRE She ssued from evercis ofshare option
(Kt (note 29) ) 8414 - - - - - (1731) - - 6,751 - 6,751
ERTEE () Transfer to reserve (note) - - - - - - - - B8 (35.99) - - -
REEARS Transactions with owners 74 8414 - - - - - (737 359% (132620 (89879 - (89879
EERH Profit for the year - - - - - - - - 66380 66880 (1963) 41257
L2 ENE Other comprehensive income
gRAEzE Currency translaton differences - - - - - 185 - - - 185 (1) (30)
EERENELE Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - - 18 - - 66880 67065 (198%) 47
BHGRRNES Appropriation to surplusresene fund - - - - - - - - (1050) - - -
R-S-MET-R=1-RER Balance at 31 December 2024 8060 146,691 1w 1653 633 19120 100 816459 1153733 2420103 981 251494
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
HE_ZFT_WF+=F=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

Attributable to owners of the Company

KATREAELR
bk
B 0z EifE  EhE i
NEE  EfBE Qe foep 4k s
B ROEE  BREE  Supls  Popety  Pubic  ameny e EftEE  REE Non- iR
Share e Specdl  resene  redlgn  wefae  tenskfon  opton Other ~ Refained A3t controling Totdl
aptal  premium Tesere fund Tesenve fund Tesere Tesene Tesene profs Totd  interests equty
ABBTT ARETT ARETL ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETRn ARETT ARETn ARETR ARETR
RMBOOO  RMBOO0  RMB'OO0  RMBO00  RMB'OO0  RMBO00  RMBOO0  RMBOO0 - RMBOO0  RMB'OO0  RMBO00  RWB'000  RMB000
(28 (Hfskas))  (Hfi28(0) (ko) (ko) (Rrstas)  (skaslg)
(note 28(3)  (note 281b)) ~ (note 28(c)) (note 28(c))  (note 28(¢)  (note 28(f)  (note 28(g)
W-B-=E-f-pék Balance at 1 January 2023 1986 138277 38 20543 1,653 633 10897 1204 711350 1301205 2409821 94341 2504162
FNZEZZERBRER 2002 finldividend ang
“E-=EaBRe (i) 2003 interim dividend pad (note 11) - - - - - - - - - (18664  (186546) - (186640
REGCENRAL T BRR Fqutysetled share-vased payment expenses
(9) (note 29) = = - - = = = 633 - - 633 - 633
SREGE () Transfr toresenve (nofe) - - - - - - - SN0 (610) - - -
2EEALR Transactions with owners - - = = = = = 633 690 (557%)  (186013) - (1850)
EER Profit for the year - - - - - - - - S MO UM 046 BI4T
Ef2EYE Other comprehensive income
ERREER Curtency rangiton diferences - - - - - - 8038 - - - 8038 ) 790
EERENEEE Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - - -8 - SO 9009 0318 23940
BRtERLES Appropriaton tosurplus resere fund - - 3 - - - - - (851 - - -
RZBZZETZA=T-BER Balance at 31 December 2023 1% 18T 30 BB 163 63 1895 187 80460 1230003 242917 114639 2557576
B 3 - Note:

—R(CZE-=F: —FR)RhEARAME ([P K
TR R AN B R RNFE AR REEMNERMEAEREA

FEMEARN T RIEMEEHER
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capital by enlarging its registered capital during the year.

One wholly-owned subsidiary (2023: One) established in the People’s Republic
of China (the "PRC") capitalised its retained profits to increase its paid-in
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Notes to the Financial Statements

HE-_ZF W& += 5 =+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

— R

KEETEBRBERAR (ARA]) AR
THESHERBERSHS A RVAEMA
ZERPBR AT - E P EE KR Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands ° Z~A &]
BORBEBEHER AR AR ([HEFT])
ERET ©

FR - AKRENKLLBEEREL - ARF]
MEBRBR/REER - ARFIHERRZ
EBERBHRME3 -

ARABMINEER B (EHB]) - @R
AEBNTEXRBUNPE - @556 MR
RUAARE(TARE] 27 - BB HAE
SN FREZ BREE 2R AAZREIL
T o

FSTRINEMB 2B HRERIRER LM
BHEER (EBHBREEL] - ZHHE
BEFAGHMAG ([EESEAE]) AT
BmATAER 2 @EREEMBRELER ([F
BUBHEER]) FEEFEN((HES
AR R AR BB RBIGRDIZKE
HREMRE - MBMR T BRI AES &
MARRREZERREEA -

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Tiande Chemical Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability under the Companies Law of Cayman Islands.
The address of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.
The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

There were no significant changes in the Group’s operations during
the year. The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. The principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are
set out in note 31.

The functional currency of the Company is Hong Kong Dollars
("HK$"). The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB"”) because the main operations of the Group are
located in the PRC. All values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise stated.

The financial statements on pages 57 to 132 have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") which collective term includes all applicable individual
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”), Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKAS"”) and Interpretations issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA")
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. The financial statements also include the applicable
disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. BMFITRCEITEBMERESE 2.
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B 755 R 5 ZE Al

FBIHRMEET A

BRTXMBEEEIN RAFERARL
EET B R B MEEAMNERT AL A
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RERBE/ RAEPBEHRRAERAORE
BHUBEATE -

RRE BT EAUEIRNETRE
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HE: )
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® HE_ZFT_WWF+ =8 =+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HKFRSs

(a) Amended standards adopted by the Group

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first
time, the following amended standards and interpretations
(“amended HKFRSs”) issued by the HKICPA, which are
relevant to and effective for the Group’s financial statements
for the annual period beginning on 1 January 2024.

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial
(Revised) Statements — Classification
by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains
a Repayment on Demand
Clause

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Except as disclosed below, the application of the amendments
to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact
on the Group’s financial positions and performance for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in
these financial statements.

Adoption of Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current” and Amendments
to HKAS 1 “Non-current Liabilities with Covenants”
(collectively the “"HKAS 1 Amendments”)

The HKICPA issued amendments to HKAS 1 in August 2020
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and
subsequently, in December 2022 Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants. Following the amendments, the HKICPA
updated HK-Int 5 (Revised) to update the references to the
amendments to HKAS 1. The conclusions in HK-Int 5 (Revised)
are unchanged.
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Notes to the Financial Statements ‘\
HE-_ZF W& += 5 =+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

RN RSB BB B RELE

ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HKFRSs

(Continued)

(a) Amended standards adopted by the Group

(Continued)

The amendments clarify the following:

o An entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability for
at least twelve months after the reporting period
must have substance and must exist at the end of the

reporting period.

o If an entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability is
subject to covenants, such covenants affect whether
that right exists at the end of the reporting period only
if the entity is required to comply with the covenant on
or before the end of the reporting period.

o The classification of a liability as current or non-current
is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will
exercise its right to defer settlement.

o In case of a liability that can be settled, at the option
of the counterparty, by the transfer of the entity’s own
equity instruments, such settlement terms do not affect
the classification of the liability as current or non-current
only if the option is classified as an equity instrument.

The adoption of the HKAS 1 Amendments had no effect on
the measurement of any items in the financial statements of
the Group and did not result in a change in the classification

of the Group's liabilities.

Adoption of Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7

“Supplier Finance Arrangements”

On 21 July 2023, the HKICPA issued Supplier Finance
Arrangements, which amended HKAS 7 Statement of Cash
Flows and HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures.

The amendments require entities to provide certain specific
disclosures (qualitative and quantitative) related to supplier
finance arrangements. The amendments also provide
guidance on characteristics of supplier finance arrangements.

Refer to note 25 for further details.
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2. RAFTREHETEEHBHEE 2.
8 (&)

(b) C 98518 s AR A 8 2 FTR] R AL
1551 & 78 3 7% i & 2 A
BATS 757 B B K S B BE A5 SRR AR 0
ERMIE MR ER - AAEEY &2
AIER A 137 5T R ATAE ] & B B B R o
R AEMBHN LS LY ENE
ARfEAXSEE -

ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HKFRSs
(Continued)

(b) New and amended HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective

The following new and amended HKFRSs, potentially relevant
to the Group's financial statements, have been issued, but
are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by
the Group. The Group’s current intention is to apply these
changes on the date they become effective.

BB £ Rz A Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability’
F21RNEE and HKFRS 1
B 75 3k & £E Al
FVRAEFT A
ARG BHREER T AR nHE Amendments to Classification and Measurement
EHR KB Fr=2 HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 of Financial Instruments?
B & s 22 A
FBTREMERT A
BEBMBMELER GH2EHE Amendments to Contracts Referencing Nature —
FIR KRB — KRB E HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 dependent Electricity
B 7 & 2 Al
EVET AN AN
BAEMBRELE BFBEYERE Amendments to HKFRS 1,  Annual Improvements to HKFRS
A5k - &8  ERI[5£8 HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9, Accounting Standards —
RS 2R B £ 2 BUE HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7 Volume 112
E1% - BE —F+—%5]2
B 75 3k & A Al
FEI% - BB
B 7 s 22 Al
F105 R AEH
FETERIETHR
KIS ET A
EBIE®RE ISR A 25| B HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
ZE R 518557 #:5&2 Financial Statements?
BB BHRE HFRAREZFAERZ HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public
ZERIZE 1957 MEAR - #EE3 Accountability: Disclosures?
BEREREESRN MBHRENER Amendments to HK Int 5 Presentation of Financial
EETAR [ERAEBE Statements — Classification by
e ESEE the Borrower of a Term Loan
RFREY E A & 5K that Contains a Repayment on
Z¥E]3 Demand Clause?
i RZZE_RF—A—BRZIEFRRE ' Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
FEHRER 1 January 2025
2 RZZZRNF—A— B2 BFRRN 2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
FEHR AR 1 January 2026
3 RZZE_+EF—A— B2 EFRIRH 3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
FE B ER 1 January 2027

ERRLNAREHTLED - ERH
BRI RAEZREEE ERYENES
FE - BAMERERMZFHEL
EHMBT AR RENSH AR
RERERTE -

The Directors are in the process of making an assessment of
what the impacts of these new standards, amendments to
standards and interpretation are expected to be in the period
of initial application. So far it has been concluded that the
adoption of them is unlikely to have a material impact on
these financial statements.
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2. RMFIIREBEITEBUBREE 2.
8l (&)
(b) T AEMME R RERZHET R

ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HKFRSs
(Continued)

(b) New and amended HKFRSs that have been

RIETEBYBREER (&)
RN BREERNF18H B HRRY
2FIRKE]

EEGHMASN _T_MFELAME
hEBEW B REERE185 - MRAE
BERTERFE1S  ERHBEMBEH
SEAEMERBEIES - BREES
FHERIFSS (M HAMAEELE] (A
SRR SEHEF BB REREN
mE)  BEBRBMHREERFE18HE
TEHMBHRREBNERLTES
REFRFE BEEASHETEEN
2IRBEEREATZE FRERE
BREBDZRTODBMNG - EFRH
O/ MANBER  UREBRERE
H AR IR IR IR -

ERVBHREERE19RFEIRZTE
BEEZHBLAR : HE]
FRMBRELERNF1GRTAERE
EERANBRBERT  MIELBEEY
BHREENNRERTE - ARBIKD
REERFT EMREE - Fit - RIEFE
MEREENFIBRORE » AR
BERREMRE ATHTAREEEMAZ
BB B REROEN -

issued but are not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

HKFRS 18 was issued by the HKICPA in July 2024 which
supersedes HKAS 1 and will result in major consequential
amendments to HKFRSs including HKAS 8 Basis of Preparation
of Financial Statements (renamed from Accounting Policies,
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors). Even though
HKFRS 18 will not have any effect on the recognition and
measurement of items in the financial statements, it is
expected to have a significant effect on the presentation
and disclosure of certain items. These changes include
categorisation and sub-totals in the statement of profit or
loss, aggregation/disaggregation and labelling of information,
and disclosure of management-defined performance
measures.

HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability:
Disclosure

HKFRS 19 specifies the disclosure requirements an entity is
permitted to apply instead of the disclosure requirements in
other HKFRSs. The Company’s shares are listed and traded
in the Stock Exchange. Therefore, it has public accountability
according to HKFRS 19 and does not qualify for electing to
apply the standard to prepare its financial statements.

3. EREFTHEER 3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(a) MMBEEE (a) Basis of preparation

AR mEM BRI ZEZSTHRM
AT - BRBFHBEN  ZFERE
RIEZWMEFEY —BER - R
el BRI BB B wEER R Y
AEEBPBHREZTZE (WH) EWE
2T -

B T 90 2% TR AR AR 1L
INSCEFES TV EIY LE T
oo HHERBR TR 2 EARHER
AR 2 ER -

BREIE REUNBHRESSERS
AR RRE - BERSHTIER
EEEBHEBEEHERTHAER Y —
AR MR REHEEL  EERE
EREBIEHNNZESMHT - F RS
[E HIBN S A% A8 5 2 S sk R % e Ah
SHUBRRIBEE 2 EE 0 IR
B sEAT 57 o

The material accounting policies that have been used in the
preparation of these financial statements are summarised
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the
years presented unless otherwise stated. The adoption of new
or amended HKFRSs and the impacts on the Group's financial
statements, if any, are disclosed in note 2.

The financial statements have been prepared on historical
cost convention except for investment properties and bills
receivable which are stated at fair values. The measurement
bases are fully described in the material accounting policy
information below.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions
are used in preparation of the financial statements. Although
these estimates are based on management'’s best knowledge
and judgement of current events and actions, actual results
may ultimately differ from those estimates. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to
these financial statements, are disclosed in note 4.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(b) Basis of consolidation and business

(c)

combination

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made
up to 31 December each year.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are excluded from
consolidation from the date that control ceases.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains
and losses on transactions between group companies are
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Where unrealised losses on intra-group asset sales are
reversed on consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested
for impairment from the Group’s perspective. Amounts
reported in the financial statements of subsidiaries have been
adjusted where necessary to ensure consistency with the
accounting policies adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the
amount of those interests at initial recognition plus
non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes
in equity. Total comprehensive income is attributed to
non-controlling interests even if this results in non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Group is able to
exercise control. The Group controls an investee if all three of
the following elements are present: power over the investee,
exposure, or rights, to variable returns from the investee, and
the ability to use its power to affect those variable returns.
Control is reassessed whenever facts and circumstances
indicate that there may be a change in any of these elements
of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, interests in
subsidiaries are carried at cost less any impairment loss unless
the subsidiary is held for sale or included in a disposal group.
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company
on the basis of dividends received and receivable.
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3. ERETTHERER(E) 3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

(d) EEBRE (d) Foreign currency translation
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In the individual financial statements of the consolidated
entities, foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency of the individual entity using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the
reporting date, monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange
rates ruling at that date. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from
the reporting date retranslation of monetary assets and
liabilities are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined and are reported as part of the fair value gain or
loss. Non-monetary items that are measured at historical cost
in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

In the consolidated financial statements, all individual financial
statements of foreign operations, originally presented in a
currency different from the Group’s presentation currency,
have been converted into RMB. Assets and liabilities have
been translated into RMB at the closing rates at the reporting
date. Income and expenses have been converted into RMB
at the exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates, or at
the average rates over the reporting period provided that the
exchange rates do not fluctuate significantly. Any differences
arising from this procedure have been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately in the
foreign currency translation reserve in equity.

When a foreign operation is disposed, such exchange

differences are reclassified from equity to profit or loss as part
of the gain or loss on disposal.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(e) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (other than construction
in progress (“CIP")) are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an asset
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable cost
of bringing the asset to the working condition and location
for its intended use.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. All other costs, such as repairs and
maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the financial
period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is provided to
write off the cost less their estimated residual values, if any,
over their estimated useful lives, using straight-line method, at
the following rates per annum:

Buildings 4.5% — 5% or the lease term,

whichever is shorter
Plant and machinery 6% — 10%
Motor vehicles 18% — 19%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 18% — 30%

CIP represents leasehold buildings and plant and machinery
under construction, which is stated at cost less any
impairment losses. Cost comprises direct cost of construction
as well as borrowing costs capitalised during the periods of
construction and installation. Capitalisation of these costs
ceases and the construction is transferred to the appropriate
class of property, plant and equipment when substantially all
the activities necessary to prepare the assets for their intended
use are completed. No depreciation is provided for in respect
of CIP until it is completed and ready for its intended use.

The assets' estimated residual values, depreciation method
and estimated useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at each reporting date.

Gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss on
disposal.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(f)

(9)

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are
owned or held under a leasehold interest to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation.

When the Group holds a property interest under an operating
lease to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation,
the interest is classified and accounted for as an investment
property on a property-by-property basis.

On initial recognition, investment property is measured
at cost, including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, it is stated at fair value. Fair
value is determined by an independent valuation firm, with
sufficient experience with respect to both the location and
the nature of the investment property. The carrying amounts
recognised at the reporting date reflect the prevailing market
conditions at the reporting date.

Gains or losses arising from either changes in fair value or the
sale of an investment property are included in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise.

Research and development activities

Cost associated with research activities are expensed in profit
or loss as they occur. Costs that are directly attributable to
development activities are expensed in profit or loss as they
occur and not capitalised provided they do not meet the
following recognition requirements:

(i)  demonstration of technical feasibility of the prospective
product for internal use or sale;

(i)  there is intention to complete the product and use or
sell it;

(i) the Group’s ability to use or sell the product is

demonstrated;

(iv)  the product will generate probable economic benefits

through internal use or sale;

(v)  sufficient technical, financial and other resources are
available for completion; and

(vi) the expenditure attributable to the product can be

reliably measured.

Direct costs include employee costs incurred on development

activities along with an appropriate portion of relevant
overheads.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(h) Financial instruments

(a)

Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets into one of
the categories discussed below, depending on the
purpose for which the asset was acquired. The Group's
accounting policy for each category is as follows:

Amortised cost: These assets arise principally from the
portion of goods and services to customers (e.g. trade
receivables), but also incorporate other types of financial
assets that are held for collection of contractual cash
flows where those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at amortised
cost. These are subsequently measured using effective
interest method. Interest income, foreign exchange
gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profit
or loss. Any gain on derecognition is recognised in profit
or loss.

The Group’s financial assets measured at amortised
cost comprise trade receivables, deposits and other
receivables, pledged bank deposits, time deposits and
bank and cash balances in the Group’s statement of
financial position.

Fair value through other comprehensive income
("FVOCI"): Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest, are measured
at FVOCI. These are subsequently measured at fair
value. Interest income calculated using effective
interest method, foreign exchange gains and losses
and impairment are recognised in profit or loss.
Other net gains and losses are recognised in other
comprehensive income. On derecognition, gains and
losses accumulated in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss.

The Group’s financial assets measured at FVOCI
comprise bills receivable in the Group’s statement of
financial position.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued)

(b)

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected
credit losses (“ECLs”) on trade receivables, financial
assets measured at amortised cost and debt instruments
measured at FVOCI.

The Group has elected to measure loss allowances for
trade receivables using HKFRS 9 simplified approach and
has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The Group
has established a provision matrix that is based on the
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

For other financial assets, the ECLs are based on the
12-months ECLs. However, when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since origination, the
allowance will be based on the lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers
reasonable and supportable information that is relevant
and available without undue cost or effort. This
includes both quantitative and qualitative information
analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience
and informed credit assessment and including
forward-looking information.

The Group has rebutted the presumption when the
credit risk on financial assets has increased if more
than 30 days past due and other financial assets are
credit-impaired if more than 90 days past due, based on
the historical record of the Group.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased if it is more than 180 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be default
when: (1) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit
obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by
the Group to actions such as realising security (if any is
held); and (2) the financial asset is more than 365 days
past due. A financial asset is written off when there is
no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

(c) Financial liabilities
The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending
on the purpose for which the liabilities were incurred.
Financial liabilities at amortised costs are initially
measured at fair value, net of directly attributable costs
incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade
payables, accruals, other payables, advances from a
non-controlling shareholder and bank borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
effective interest method. The related interest expense is
recognised in profit or loss.

(d) Derecognition
The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation to
the financial asset expire or when the financial asset has
been transferred and the transfer meets the criteria for
derecognition in accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged,
cancelled or expires.

Intangible asset

Intangible asset represents technical knowhow which
acquired separately is initially recognised at cost. The cost
of intangible asset acquired in a business combination
is measured at fair value at the date of acquisition.
Subsequently, intangible asset with finite useful lives is carried
at cost less accumulated amortisation and any impairment
losses. Amortisation is charged in administrative and other
operating expenses in profit or loss on straight-line method
from the date of acquisition over its estimated useful life of
10 years.

Both estimated useful life and method of amortisation are
reviewed and adjusted if appropriate, annually.

Intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an
intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

()

(k)

)

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business less the estimated cost
of completion and applicable selling expenses. Cost is
determined using weighted average basis, and in the case
of work in progress and finished goods, comprise direct
materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
overheads, and where appropriate, subcontracting charges.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand,
demand deposits with banks and short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Leasing

Accounting as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for certain office premises,
leasehold land and parking lots, irrespective of they are
operating leases or finance leases. The Group applied a single
recognition and measurement approach for all leases, to
capitalise the leases in the consolidated statement of financial
position as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, except for
lease contracts with a lease term of 12 months or less or ends
within 12 months from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option (“short-term leases”).

Right-of-use assets

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the
commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date the underlying
asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement date less
any lease incentives received. Unless the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the leased assets at the end
of the lease terms, the recognised right-of-use assets are
depreciated or amortised on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful lives and the lease terms.
Right-of-use assets are subject to impairment. For right-of-use
asset that meets the definition of an investment property, it is
carried at fair value.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

)

(m)

(n)

Leasing (Continued)

Short-term leases

The Group has applied the short-term leases recognition
exemption to leases. Lease payments on short-term leases are
recognised as expense over the lease terms.

Accounting as a lessor

The Group has leased out its investment properties to a
number of tenants. They are leased out under operating
leases, which are measured and presented according to the
nature of the assets. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised as an expense over
the lease term on the same basis as the rental income.

Rental income receivable from operating leases is recognised
in profit or loss on straight-line method over the periods
covered by the lease terms, except where an alternative basis
is more representative of the time pattern of benefits to be
derived from the use of the leased asset.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the
amount of the obligation can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and
adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.
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3. ERETTHERER(E) 3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

(n) Revenue recognition (Continued)
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Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that
apply to the contract, control of the goods or service may
be transferred over time or at a point in time. Control of
the goods or service is transferred over time if the Group’s
performance:

provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

- creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls
as the Group performs; or

- does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time, revenue
is recognised over the period of the contract by reference
to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a
point in time when the customer obtains control of the goods
or service.

Sales of chemical products

Customers obtain control of the chemical products when the
goods are delivered to and have been accepted. Revenue
is thus recognised upon when the customers accepted the
chemical products. There is generally only one performance
obligation. Invoices are usually payable within 180 days.

The Group’s contracts with customers from the sale of
chemical products provides customers a right of return either
to exchange the same product or to be refund in cash.
The right of return gives rise to variable consideration. The
variable consideration is estimated at contract inception and
constrained until the associated uncertainty is subsequently
resolved. The application of the constraint on variable
consideration increases the amount of revenue that will be
deferred. In addition, a refund liability and a right to recover
returned goods assets are recognised. The Group'’s obligation
to replace faulty products is recognised as a provision (details
in note 3(m)).

Contract liabilities

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to deliver
goods or transfer services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(o)

(p)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

The Group's government grants are relating to income which
is presented in gross under “Other income and gains” in the
consolidated income statement.

Impairment of assets (other than financial
assets)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, intangible asset and interests in
subsidiaries to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss or an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or may
have decreased.

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair value less
costs of disposal and value-in-use) of an asset is estimated to
be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment
loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, to the extent that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.

Value-in-use is based on the estimated future cash flows
expected to be derived from the asset or cash-generating unit
("CGU"), discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or
CGU.
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3. ERETTHERER(E) 3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

() EEERH (q) Employee benefits
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Retirement benefits
Retirement benefits to employees are provided through
defined contribution plans.

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement
benefit plan under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance, for all of its employees who are eligible to
participate in the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”). Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees' basic salaries.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries which operate
in the PRC are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government (the
“Central Pension Scheme").

Contributions are recognised as an expense in profit or loss
as employees render services during the year. The Group's
obligations under these plans are limited to the fixed
percentage contributions payable.

Share-based compensation

The Group operates equity-settled share-based compensation
plans to certain employees. All employee services received in
exchange for the grant of any share-based compensation are
measured at their fair values. These are indirectly determined
by reference to the equity instruments awarded. Their value
is appraised at the grant date and excludes the impact of any
non-market vesting conditions (for example, profitability and
sales growth targets).

All share-based compensation is recognised as an expense
in profit or loss over the vesting period if vesting conditions
apply, or recognised as an expense in full at the grant date
when the equity instruments granted vest immediately unless
the compensation qualifies for recognition as asset, with a
corresponding increase in the share option reserve in equity.
If vesting conditions apply, the expense is recognised over the
vesting period, based on the best available estimate of the
number of equity instruments expected to vest. Non-market
vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the
number of equity instruments that are expected to vest.

Estimates are subsequently revised, if there is any indication

that the number of equity instruments expected to vest differs
from previous estimates.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

(q) Employee benefits (Continued)

(r)

Share-based compensation (Continued)

At the time when the share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in share option reserve will
be transferred to share premium. After vesting date, when
the vested share options are later forfeited or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised
in share option reserve will be transferred to retained profits.

Accounting for income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and deferred
tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those
obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities relating to
the current or prior reporting period, that are unpaid at the
reporting date. They are calculated according to the tax rates
and tax laws applicable to the fiscal periods to which they
relate, based on the taxable profit for the year.

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on
temporary differences at the reporting date between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and their respective tax bases.

In respect of deferred tax assets, arising from investment
property measured at fair value, the presumption that
recovery will be through sale rather than use has not been
rebutted.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below:

0]

(ii)

(iii)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

The Group determines the estimated useful lives and related
depreciation charges for the Group’s property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets. This estimate is based on
the historical experience of the actual useful lives of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of similar nature
and functions. The Group will revise the depreciation charge
where useful lives are different to those previously estimated,
or it will write-off or write-down technically obsolete or
non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.

Estimated fair values of investment properties

The Group appointed an independent valuation firm to assess
the fair values of the investment properties. In determining
the fair values, the valuers have used a method of valuation
which involves input of certain estimates. The Directors have
exercised their judgement and are satisfied that the method
of valuation is reflective of the current market conditions.

Inventories valuation

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated
costs of completion and selling expense. These estimates are
based on the current market conditions and the historical
experience of manufacturing and selling products of similar
nature. It could change significantly as a result of changes in
customers’ taste and competitors’ actions in response to serve
industry cycles. The Group will reassess the estimates by each
reporting date.

The assessment of the estimated net realisable value involves
judgement and estimates. Where the actual outcome in
future is different from the original estimates, such difference
will impact the carrying value of inventories and write-down/
reversal of write-down in the period in which such estimates
have been changed.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Continued)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

Estimated impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired.
If any such indication exists, the Group makes an estimate
of the recoverable amount of the asset. This requires an
estimation of the value-in-use of the CGUs to which the asset
is allocated. Estimating the value-in-use requires the Group
to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from
the CGUs and also to choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. A
change in the estimated future cash flows and/or the discount
rate applied will result in an adjustment to the estimated
impairment provision previously made.

Estimated useful life of intangible asset

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful
life for its intangible asset. The estimated useful live reflects
the Group’s management’s estimates of the periods that the
Group intends to derive future economic benefits from the
use of the intangible asset.

Income taxes and deferred taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and the
PRC. Significant judgement is required in determining the
provision for income taxes and the timing of payment of the
related taxes. There are certain transactions and calculations
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during
the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated tax based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be due. When the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax
provision in the period in which such determination is made.

Withholding taxes arising from the distributions of
dividends

The Group’s determination as to whether to accrue for
withholding taxes from the distribution of dividends from
the subsidiaries in the PRC according to the relevant tax
jurisdictions is subject to judgement on the timing of the
payment of the dividends, where the Group considers that
if it is probable that the profits of the subsidiaries in the PRC
earned after 1 January 2008 will not be distributed in the
foreseeable future, then no withholding taxes are provided.
Details of the unrecognised deferred tax liabilities in this
respect are set out in note 16.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Continued)

(viii) Fair value measurement

(ix)

Certain assets included in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements require measurement at, and/or disclosure of, fair
value.

The fair value measurement of the Group’s financial and
non-financial assets is based on market observable inputs or
unobservable inputs and data as far as possible. Inputs used
in determining fair value measurements are categorised into
different levels based on how observable the inputs used in
the valuation technique utilised are:

Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical items
(unadjusted);

Level 2: Observable direct or indirect inputs other than
Level 1 inputs;

Level 3: Unobservable inputs (i.e. not derived from market

data).

The classification of an item into the above levels is based on
the lowest level of the inputs used that has a significant effect
on the fair value measurement of the item. Transfers of items
between levels are recognised in the period they occur.

The Group measures investment properties and bills receivable
at fair value through profit or loss and FVOCI respectively.
For more detailed information in relation to the fair value
measurement of the items above, please refer to note 14 and
note 18.

Impairment of trade and bills receivable

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments that
have similar loss patterns. The provision matrix is initially
based on the Group’s historical observed default rates. The
Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit
loss experience with forward-looking information. For bills
receivable, measurement of ECLs are based on the 12-months
ECLs. However, when there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since origination, the allowance will be based on
the lifetime ECLs.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Continued)

(ix) Impairment of trade and bills receivable (Continued)

At each reporting date, the historical observed default rates
are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed. The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions and
ECLs involves significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is
sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast economic
conditions. The Group's historical credit loss experience
and forecast of economic conditions may also not be
representative of customer’s actual default in the future.
The information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade and
bills receivable is disclosed in note 36(ii)(b) and (c) to the
consolidated financial statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares segment
information based on the regular internal financial information
reported to the chief operating decision makers (i.e. executive
Directors) (the “CODM") for their decisions about resources
allocation to the Group’s business components and for their review
of the performance of the components.

The business components of the Group with the research and
development, manufacture and sale of fine chemical products of
the Group are assessed and identified as a single operating segment
by the CODM. The single operating segment is reported in a
manner consistent with the internal financial information reporting
provided to the CODM.

No other discrete financial information is provided other than
the Group’s result and financial position as a whole. Accordingly,
only entity-wide disclosures, major customers and geographic
information are presented.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

The Group’s disaggregated revenue from external customers are
divided into the following geographical areas:

—ENE —E=F

2024 2023

AR®ET ARBTIT

RMB’000 RMB’000

B (Ah) The PRC (domicile) 1,347,122 1,474,254
ENE India 208,717 279,071
S5 United States of America 66,631 34,672
Bl hz (A B A BE R United Arab Emirates 47,990 15,320
i Switzerland 34,638 61,461
HAh Others 168,703 215,507
1,873,801 2,080,285

BEREZHRE D AE mXERAEE - i
RABAFERBEEBRMUNFTE - RHES
BB E D ZIFRBEE °

FEEXFEHR
B A SEFEREERI0%IALHRR
BRI

The geographical location of customer is based on the location
at which the goods are delivered. No geographical location of
non-current assets is presented as the substantial non-current assets
are physically based in the PRC.

Information about major customer

Revenue attributed from a customer that accounted for 10% or
more of the Group's total revenue during the year is as follows:

—E-E —E_=fF

2024 2023

AR®T ARETIT

RMB’000 RMB'000

ZEPA Customer A # 218,104

# PRAEERERENI0% -

# less than 10% of the Group’s total revenue.
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6.

EERBARAMB AT YR

AEBEZETEXBEAEMEINE - HER
iEﬂ{bIF%E’]“%%ﬁBF‘ﬁEﬁL}T\i)ﬂﬂ—i;
WoARBRTEMNEFEEERR

P MEFHEmA BT - H$’§
By EAFEEFREEERNRETRE -

AEBEZ TBEXHEFBEREBWAMK
ERFARERLT :

6.

REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

The Group's principal activities are disclosed in note 31. Revenue
for sale of fine chemical products is recognised at point in time as
there is evidence that the control of goods has been transferred to
the customer, the customer has adequate control over the goods
and the Group has no unfulfilled obligations that affect customer
accepting the goods.

Revenue from the Group'’s principal activities and other income and
gains recognised during the year are as follows:

88 =

—E-F —EC=F
2024 2023
AR¥T R AREF T
RMB’'000 RMB’000
REEEFHITEGRAZ Revenue from contracts with customers

BER
HERA TEmM Sale of fine chemical products 1,873,801 2,080,285
H g A F W 22 Other income and gains
B R Bl (9 EE) Government grants (note) 1,751 10,343
IRAR A BUEBT BV EORTE A B Compensation received from a contractor

W B ) B 18 (B =19(i)) pursuant to the PRC court’s decision (note 19(ii)) 1,664 -
EEEBEERA Compensation income from contractors 1,416 =
RITA B A Bank interest income 33,424 18,178
ME W W am - O ER Exchange gain, net 14,676 1,736
HEME BEMZREZ Gain on disposals of property, plant and equipment,

Was - HER net - 50
BEYEHRSBA Rental income from investment properties 724 723
R Sundry income 1,068 954

54,723 31,984
B 5E Note:
BATRBNTOHE « (V7 B R AREARERFIEES Government grants were mainly attributable to: (i) the incentives of

SEEIm AA R Tumnlmm% AR Y 22
AR#1,751,0007T (ZZ = =4 : AR#929,000
7)) ¢ KA AR T2 EKB QRS A
THRAR (A ]) EFEECEHMEREE
i A E B4 A0 7 B A R #59,414,0007T ©

ZERRE W EAR AR BT IR RAEIR -

BAELTERBRAT « —E-NFFIR

RMB1,751,000 (2023: RMB929,000) offered by the local authorities
to the subsidiaries of the Company located in the PRC for promoting
various business activities of the Group; and (ii) the subsidy of
RMB9,414,000 to support the business development of Weifang Parasia
Chem Co. Ltd. (“Weifang Parasia”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, at its place of operation recognised in 2023.

There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these
grants.
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EXRBEREMBANEES (&)

REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(Continued)

TRIINREBEEFEITGRZEREBEZ The following table provides information about contract liabilities
aRo from contracts with customers.

—E-NE —E-=F

2024 2023

AR®BT T AREF T

RMB’000 RMB’000

& REE(HFF24) Contract liabilities (note 24) 8,767 9,819

ERBBEEFZHREEFPHENKERRA -
HREBITANET R-ZT_=%+—A4
= +—BHIREFE A ARKS,830,0007TH
ERAE (W24 EERBEE_ZT-NF
+-—A=1+—HLFENEXEE - ARERE
TAHEE HR—E-_—F#+=-HA=+—H
HIEREFE A A RKE24,474,0007T A R &
& (24 EERABRE T —_=F1+=A
=t HILFEREERE-

KEIEF%FH%C}%EXA“@E&?&E'J*WS%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ'ﬁ'
BEBIRIETA EHEAFiHMEIEEun%

R REHHR S —FHEE - #D ER
BITANEENRSE T&ﬂif‘ﬁ)ﬁﬁﬁo

The contract liabilities mainly relate to the advance consideration
received from customers. Contract liabilities as of 31 December
2023 with the net carrying amounts of RMB8,830,000 (note 24)
has been recognised as revenue for the year ended 31 December
2024 as performance obligations satisfied. Contract liabilities
as of 31 December 2022 with the net carrying amounts of
RMB24,474,000 (note 24) has been recognised as revenue for the
year ended 31 December 2023 as performance obligations satisfied.

The Group has applied the practical expedient under HKFRS 15
so that transaction price allocated to unsatisfied performance
obligations under contracts for sales of chemical products are not
disclosed as such contracts have an original expected duration of
one year or less.

B 7% B 7 FINANCE COSTS

—E-nE —E-=F
2024 2023
AR¥T T AREF T
RMB’'000 RMB’000

WITEZRAE - HF Interest on bank borrowings, of which contain
REREEBGK a repayment on demand clause 1,806 2
BEERARERS Interest on asset-backed financing 402 =
HEFREZBNF S Interest on supplier finance arrangements 1,533 =
FERRBRAFE Interest on advances from a substantial shareholder - 174
3,741 176
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e
8.

— =

B BT 15 1 B 725 A

8. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

—E-NE —E-=F
2024 2023
AR¥T T ARETF T
RMB’'000 RMB’000
KR PR A5 B A& A B Profit before income tax is arrived at after charging/
MR (GEA) - (crediting):
EE=M 2 (FFEE106)) Directors’ remuneration (note 10(a))
- g — Fees 575 665
— ¥ WIBeAa kEAM — Salaries, discretionary bonus and other benefits
=Rl 3,304 3,476
— RIREH T B R — Retirement benefit scheme contributions (note (i)
(B &EG) 123 123
- BRELEURNEZ M2 — Equity-settled share-based payment expenses
FRIA R X - 310
4,002 4,574
H g B AR Other employee costs 168,963 180,805
RORAE AT & 5% (B EEG)) Retirement benefit scheme contributions (note (i) 16,593 16,517
RIEEE RO I 2 Equity-settled share-based payment expenses
IR X - 323
HiEB KA Total employee costs 189,558 202,219
ZE RN & Auditor’s remuneration 979 907
PRAEEE & (M5E33)  Depreciation of right-of-use assets (note 33) 2,575 2,504
my & EEH (fFE15) Amortisation of an intangible asset (note 15) 1,804 1,804
RRAZ 2 FEKAR Cost of inventories recognised as an expense
(MEEEG)) « B4 - (note (ii)), including: 1,646,325 1,641,441
— WRER R FE L — Write-down of inventories to net realisable
eSS value, net 2,995 5,614
M BERBREIITE Depreciation on property, plant and equipment
(BtzE13) (note 13) 172,919 133,851
B2 RERBEREE - Provision for impairment losses on trade receivables,
A (KI5E36(iib)) net (note 36(iii)(b)) 1,530 454
o fth UL RIE 2 B ES 18 B 48 Reversal of impairment loss on other receivables
(Fft 5£36(iii)(d)) (note 36(ii)(d)) (277) (9,638)
W - R AR 2 i Write-off of property, plant and equipment 110 -
B 7 e AR 2 i Write-off of trade receivables 70 =
At JE Ws FRTE 2 M 5H Write-off of other receivables 159 =
HEME BEREKEZ Loss/(Gain) on disposals of property, plant and
R (M) - F58 equipment, net 47 (50)
FEEHE A SR Lease payments in respect of short-term leases
(B &E33) (note 33) 3,723 4,323
T FTR AN (B 7)) Research costs (note (iii)) 77,706 67,878

Q0 XBLIZERARAT s —E_MEEH
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BRETIEB AR R (42) 8. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX (Continued)

B &E - Notes:

() BHEZ-NEFR-ZFE_=F+-A=1— (i) For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, there were
ElthFr AR B AR UE B - TR neither contributions forfeited by the Group nor had there been
BRI Z R M R AR A AR R BEK © any utilisation of such forfeited contributions to reduce future
RZBZMFER-ZT_=F+=-A=+— contributions. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, there were no
EI RE @IﬁEﬂFﬁT £ H B) A 808 W i forfeited contributions which were available for utilisation by the

FOUR Dbl AR 8l R R A R Group to reduce the existing level of contributions to the MPF
?ﬁftkﬁ?%?ﬁzqﬂ%i@f*@%f%ﬂzfﬁﬁﬁ?ﬂ o Scheme and the Central Pension Schemes.
(iy  TFERANEIELNARE166,873,000T (=ZF (i) Cost of inventories includes approximately RMB166,873,000
—=4: AR%128,138,0007T) Z HHEAITE (2023: RMB128,138,000) relating to depreciation expenses
F k49 AR#132,819,0000t (ZZF == and approximately RMB132,819,000 (2023: RMB145,201,000)
& AR #145,201,0007T) 2 8B E B 5K relating to employee costs. These amounts are included in the
Ko FHASBNESALE EXSTREN respective total amounts disclosed separately above.
HABSRET -

@iy  FAEKABIELAREE1,911,000T (ZF (i)  Research costs include approximately RMB1,911,000 (2023:
— =% : AR#1,594,0007T) Z HREITER RMB1,594,000) relating to depreciation expenses and
¥ Jo #) AR ¥28,406,0007T (= T = = 4F : approximately RMB28,406,000 (2023: RMB27,463,000) relating
AR#27,463,0007T) 2 HEEEEK AR - B to employee costs. These amounts are included in the respective
BMeBAETALE EXSITHRENHBR total amounts disclosed separately above and included in the
P  WEEETHRMEMEEREZH - administrative and other operating expenses.

FRGHR XX 9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

“E-F —B_Z=F
2024 2023
ARETR ARET T
RMB’000 RMB'000

BVERRHTE — R Bl ¥ FT1S8.  Current tax — PRC Enterprise Income Tax
- FEMRE — Tax for the year 15,879 69,980
— BT FERERE — Over-provision in prior years (1,172) (4,551)
BB SRR PRC dividend withholding tax paid 7.379 -
22,086 65,429

RIERIE (FI5E16) Deferred tax (note 16)

—FR(HER), A — (Credited)/Charged for the year (1,310) 1,198

PRT1S Bt 5A < Income tax expense 20,776 66,627
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9. FIEHIRX (&)

PSR X B iR AN R B) Je LK % 2R Y /8 2 7]
PREMIE R 2 B 1 R B RRR TS B AT S

Mz BERIAT -

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

majority of subsidiaries are domiciled is as follows:

Reconciliation between income tax expense and profit before
income tax at the domestic rates applicable in the Company and its

—E-F —T=F
2024 2023
AR%T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB'000
B BT 15254 AT 7 Profit before income tax 68,033 298,104
ZEERRBEANEMBE  Tax calculated at the domestic rates applicable in the
STEBTIE country concerned 17,346 74,278
PNAMBRAZ 2 B2 Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 1,122 5,603
FRBMA BB E Tax effect of non-taxable income (293) =
H B AR B TEIR A PRC dividend withholding tax 7,379 -
MABERERRBEIEZ  Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not previously
RIS & recognised (1,818) (554)
AERBEER 2 RIBTE  Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 10,222 34
PRFC BB AR IR B 2EE)  Tax concession of incentive for research and
development costs (11,743) (7,096)
MAEFERERE Over-provision in prior years (1,172) (4,551)
Hth Others (267) (1,087)
PIT1S75 B X Income tax expense 20,776 66,627

BHE_Z-_NE+-_A=+—HILEE ' K
RAERE MR AM B A R B E AR
FER R RN E16.5% (ZE-=4F : 16.5%)
REGMBEBFEE - AERFRNLBESS
EERERTRN - WEELESFESHEE
TE-=F ) o

HE_Z_WNF+_A=+—HIEFE XK
N BIAE AR B AR ST RO B B A R B3R T R 25%
ZE=F :25%) AP Bl EMTE o

RIEFBRPEMESTE - ERBIRIINEE
ER AP RNBAREMA ST NF
—A—BERGREFIRER SR - SEK
FR B35 N B B PR R A B A A U5 % 3k 10%
MFERT - REE_E_NF+-_A=1+—
HIEFE  AEEE P BEBERHEEANY%
10% (CZE == : 10%) AR X -

RIEFBREBERER AR EHET
B R B BT B A B FE BB E TS B AR AR A
By BEBEAENFZEASA100% (=
T =F :100%) BN AR IES
Hj o

Q2 XBLIZERARAT s —E_MEEH

The Company'’s subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong are subject
to Hong Kong Profits Tax at the rate of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) on
their estimate assessable profit for the year ended 31 December
2024. No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as no
assessable profit derives from Hong Kong during the year (2023:
Nil).

The Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC are subject to
the PRC Enterprise Income Tax at the rate of 25% (2023: 25%) for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

According to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law, a withholding tax
of 5% or 10% will be levied on the immediate holding companies
outside the PRC when their PRC subsidiaries declare dividend out
of profits earned after 1 January 2008. The Group has adopted 5%
or 10% (2023: 10%) withholding tax rate for PRC withholding tax
purpose for the year ended 31 December 2024.

According to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, the
Company’s PRC subsidiaries engaged in research and development
activities are entitled to claim additional 100% (2023: 100%)
of their research and developments expenses so incurred as tax
deductible expenses when determining their assessable profits for
the year.
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(a) ES=M<=
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EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors' emoluments

Emoluments paid or payables to each Director were as
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o

10. DIRECTORS' AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S

follows:
BREA
HE [
Retirement
HiEd  BERA benefit
e ¥4 Other Discretionary scheme )
Fees Salaries benefits bonus contributions Total
ARBTT AR®Tn ARBTR ARETR AR%Tr ARET:R
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
—E-ME 2024
HTES Executive Directors
215 Liu Yang - 821 25 5 41 1,132
FFII Wang Zijiang - 966 44 264 # 1315
REE Chen Xiaohua - 656 03 240 M 980
BUFHTES Independent non-executive
Directors
RRE Leung Kam Wan 207 - - - - 207
el Liu Chenguang 184 - - - - 184
ITFARAN Shan Honghong 184 - - - - 184
“ECMERR Total for 2024 575 2,443 112 749 123 4,002
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10. EENSNEEENMNE (&) 10. DIRECTORS' AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
(a) ESENE (&) (a) Directors' emoluments (Continued)
RELE

BIRER URH I
E#iH/\T}\ %J}llﬁi\sﬁi
Retirement  Equity-settled

Ed  BERL benefit  share-hased
e i Other  Discretionary scheme payment At
Fees Salaries benefits bonus  contributions expenses Total

ARBTE ARETT ARBTL ARBTR ARBTL ARETLT ARESR
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMBO00  RMB'000  RMB'000

ot Sl 2023

YITEE Executive Directors

25 Liu Yang - 821 p! 301 4 172 1,359
IFI Wang Zijiang = 966 42 332 4 = 1,381
s Chen Xiaohua - 656 41 293 41 138 1,169

BUFHTES Independent

non-executive

Directors
RRE Leung Kam Wan 203 - - - - - 203
BEL(RZZZME  GaoBaoyu
—A—B&f) (resigned on
1 January 2024) 181 = = - - _ 181
BRX Liu Chenguang 181 - - - - . 181

WA (R=Z==% Shan Honghong
~NAT/RAEZE)  (appointed on

6 June 2023) 100 - - - - - 100
“ECCEGR Total for 2023 665 2,443 107 926 123 310 4,574
FR-AEBEVERTEANEEIFE No emoluments were paid by the Group to any Directors
A E - (ERIMAREKE Z RZE) B as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
BEE (2 ==F: &) - compensation for loss of office during the year (2023: Nil).
FRA- jiﬂf?'cﬁfi?ﬁﬁ(ﬁ&ﬁ§$ﬁﬁ There are no arrangements under which a Director waived or
ERFAEREEAHE (T _=F agreed to waive any emoluments for the year (2023: Nil).
&) -
BE_Z_NWFEER_T_=F+_A4 The discretionary bonus are determined by individual
=T —HLEFE HBEREANRES performance of the Directors for the years ended 31
AARRETE ° December 2024 and 2023.

Q4 x@E{IERERAT —B-MmEER
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10. EBENREEBENINE (&)

TEEREMEALT

FR EAKBESEHMEcABAL
B =R (T _=F:=R)RE
E EEMEecHFRE RN EXZE
Sl ot - BRNESB-R(ZF =
FrZR)ATZHENT

(b)

10. DIRECTORS' AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest
in the Group during the year included three (2023: three)
Directors whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis
presented above. Emoluments payable to the remaining two
(2023: two) individuals are as follows:

—E-NEF —E-=F

2024 2023

ARETT ARETIT

RMB’000 RMB’000

e M HMAE R Salaries and other benefits 1,736 1,704
BIRIEAL Discretionary bonus 437 524
RORRE R ET B Retirement benefit scheme contributions 33 33
2,206 2,261

ZEATZHEBRIATEHE :

The emoluments of the individuals were within the following

bands:
A
Number of Individuals
—E2-F —T=F
2024 2023
B < &5 [ - Emoluments bands:
% 4%%1,000,0007T Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 1 1
75 #1,000,0017T £ % %2,000,0007C  HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1 1
1. RE 11. DIVIDENDS
—EC-E —T=F
2024 2023
AR®TR ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BRI FEE M AR B GRRAEM0.107T  Final dividends paid in respect of prior
—Z =4 : #%0.207T) year HK$0.10 (2023: HK$0.20)
per share 80,652 162,737
EWES‘ZHEF'E@HQ B %50.027T Interim dividends paid in respect of
—ZT =4 : ¥0.037T) current year HK$0.02 (2023: HK$0.03)
per share 15,978 23,909
96,630 186,646
BEER AT}EEJ:—Y—E£E+ A=+—H The Directors recommended a final dividend of HK$0.03 (2023:
JJ:@F/JEHX,H\EH\?#H? 1%’#’50.0375 HK$0.10) per ordinary share in respect of the year ended 31
—ET =4 BH010T) c BEAHIKE

WARFEARE B MR RRBEAE

December 2024. The proposed dividend is not reflected as a
dividend payable in these financial statements.
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12. BRER
AATEE A GIREAR R EEEF TR

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share attributable

BATE®E to owners of the Company is based on the following data:
—EmEF —E=F
2024 2023
AR®T T ARETF T
RMB’'000 RMB’000
RARHEA ANEIEFEERF Profit for the year attributable to owners of the
Company 66,880 211,071
ZERYA
Number of ordinary shares
“EMEF —T=F
2024 2023
TR’ F 1%
‘000 ‘000
A FEBREARBFTMEZ  Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
E ﬁlﬁxmﬁézﬁi’]%{ purpose of basic earnings per share 873,352 869,418
/%Z—E LR BETE Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:
— HERR e — Share options 840 4,188
RABEEREERNMEZ  Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
AR A 15 B purpose of diluted earnings per share 874,192 873,606

06 RE{LIEBRERAT —B-MEFR
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13. % - BMERRZE 13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
B BE%E
R#&fE
BERER HE Furniture, ERIR
: Plant and Motor  fixturesand  Construction &it
Buildings machinery vehicles equipment in progress Total
ARETR ARETT ARETR AEET R ARBTT AEET R
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

RZB-=%-f-H As at 1 January 2023

kA Cost 350477 1,356,368 4,625 9,572 248,907 1,969,949
ZRNERAERS Accumulated depreciation and

impairment losses (117,689) (700,242) 2731 (8,275) - (828,937)
REFE Net carrying amount 232,788 656,126 1,894 1,297 248907 1,141,012
REFE Net carrying amount
RZB==%-F-A As at 1 January 2023 232,788 656,126 1,894 1,207 248,907 1,141,012
i Additions 68,295 4,388 858 311 459,453 533,305
e Disposals - 43) (101) - - (144)
& Depreciation (18,475) (114,413) (498) (465) = (133,851)
TRERER Transferred upon completion 47297 306,546 - 256 (354,099) -
ZE-ZETZH=1-H Asat31December 2023 329,905 852,604 2,153 1,399 354,261 1,540,322

MZB-=E+-A=+-H Asat 31 December 2023

R Cost 466,069 1,667,030 4,401 10,139 354,261 2,501,900
ZRENERAERS Accumulated depreciation and

impairment losses (136,164) (814,426) (2,248 (8,740) - (961,578)
REFE Net carrying amount 329,905 852,604 2,153 1399 354,261 1,540,322
REFE Net carrying amount
i As at 1 January 2024 329,905 852,604 2,153 1,399 354,261 1,540,322
i Additions 5,418 11,643 578 234 133,062 150,935
K Write-off - (110) - - - (110)
& Disposals - (95) (467) - - (562)
Vil Depreciation (22,82) (149,030) (588) (474) - (172,919)
T A ED Transferred upon completion 38,166 289,944 - 81 (328,191) -
RZB-ME+=A=1+—F Asat31December 2024 350,662 1,004,956 1,676 1,240 159,132 1,517,666

WZZ-WE+=A=1-F Asat 31 December 2024

KA Cost 509,653 1,967,097 4,235 10,454 159,132 2,650,571
ZENERHEFE Accumulated depreciation and
impairment osses (158,991) (962,141) (2,559) (9,214) - (1,132,905)
REFE Net carrying amount 350,662 1,004,956 1,676 1,240 159,132 1,517,666
e BIE—F A ARKE45,500,0007T B FRIE 8 Included an amount of RMB45,500,000 being the properties
AR MR (E FE Y (8 A R 539,886,000 transferred as settlement of compensation receivable of
TTHIZE © RMB39,886,000 in 2023.
AEBZEFURRTHABEERE 2R EHE The Group’s buildings are situated on leasehold lands under
Bt o medium-term in the PRC.

Annual Report 2024 ¢ Tiande Chemical Holdings Limited 97



PR AR MY RE

3N Notes to the Financial Statements
HE_ZFT_WWF+ =8 =+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

13.

14.

¥ BERRE#)
RZZEZWMF+_A=+—H BHRFE
EEZREEUNESRECLEREATEMEEDN
ETTHERFR DARNSERFEOA
K #16,388,000c (ZE—_=F: ARK
17,574,0007) 2 & THEFZEE A #
B o REAKBHRBAZERCER A&
B AT ELEERNBATESERERE
EFfEER

R-F-_ME+-_A=1+—H8 FEE/A
R#¥52,076,000L (ZE =% : )AL
BETEFERARER  (FRAKERITE
K2 EOR (BT EE25(i) °

BREUR

REMENDAERE=
{E5HE - OAMBRHA
LW T

RBIOEEERAR
N A EREE

13.

14.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, building ownership certificates of
certain buildings with net carrying amount of approximately
RMB16,388,000 (2023: RMB17,574,000) have not yet been
obtained due to an additional time will be required to finals certain
administrative process for the registration of the transfer legal title.
In the opinion of the PRC legal advisor of the Group, the Group is
entitled to obtain the building ownership certificates without legal
impediment.

Certain buildings of the Group with the carrying amount of
RMB52,076,000 (2023: Nil) were pledged to secure the Group's
bank borrowings (note 25(ii)) as at 31 December 2024.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The fair value of investment properties is a Level 3 recurring fair
value measurement. A reconciliation of the opening and closing fair
value balances and changes to the carrying amounts is summarised
as follows:

—E-ImF —T=F

2024 2023

AR®T R AREF T

RMB’'000 RMB’000

n—H—H At 1 January 19,500 20,900
KREMEEMER Revaluation losses on investment properties (1,500) (1,400)
Rt=-—A=+—8H At 31 December 18,000 19,500

KEYENR T _NF+-_A=+—HHES
VEFAEMTEESEREAER DA (M
BT AR RENE LR ETE
s - BEfHEBAR1,500,000T (ZFE ==
& : AR#1,400,000T) EREEZZE = E
F+_A=Z+—BILFEEEIPER

AEBZREMEUNIZTHREERFZF
BHEE LM -

FR - WERE—BRIESE — 4R 2 EHE
HRAEEBAZELRE=HA (==
F ) o

Q8 XBLIZERABRAT s —E-_MEEH

Investment properties were revalued as at 31 December 2024 by
an independent firm of chartered surveyors, Eidea Professional
Services Company Limited, who has recent experience in the
location and category of property being valued. Revaluation loss of
RMB1,500,000 (2023: RMB1,400,000) was recognised in profit or
loss for the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Group's investment properties are situated on leasehold lands
under medium-term in the PRC.

During the year, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level
2, and no transfers into or out of Level 3 (2023: Nil).
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REME (E)

BRENMERZAAREBIHIRBERRAAERL
BOAEE  MUBDERALERYEZME

14.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The fair value of investment properties is determined using direct
comparison approach based on the principle of substitution, where

HEIT o BUKR/N R M FUERAE the comparison is made based on asking prices of comparable
ZA LB EE EITON © properties. Comparable properties of similar size, scale, nature,
character and location are analysed.

&i[E

Range
—E-F —E=F
A B =g AE : Unobservable input(s): 2024 2023
MESL 2R E Premium on characteristic of the properties -8%%16% -10%%29%

MEEEMERE(BEARN - RE - HE -
FUERMLE)WEERS  IwKERRS
ZBffE-.

-8% to 16% -10% to 9%
Higher premium for the characteristic (including size, scale, nature,
character and location) of the investment properties will result in
correspondingly higher fair value.

HMEFMTRFEALERLE - RABEFELSE There were no changes to the valuation techniques during the
E’U:LW%ME*W&F%@%#% g3 year. The fair value measurement is based on the above properties’
EREEERAS highest and best use, which does not differ from their actual use.
BREEE 15. INTANGIBLE ASSET
% il 0 38
Technical
knowhow
AR¥T R
RMB’000
RZEZ=F—A—H At 1 January 2023 8,567
| Amortisation (1,804)
RZEBEZ=F+-_HA=+—8K At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024
RZZE-WFE—H—H 6,763
BE5H Amortisation (1,804)
RZEZWF+=—A=+—H At 31 December 2024 4,959

BREEERNR _T—tFNAKBORM
FE o BT A B S B A B AR IR B AR ET AT
ERFHI0FE - YO ARaKERTD
MTTER R Efth BRI ST -

This represented technical knowhow acquired in September 2017.
Amortisation on technical knowhow is charged on straight-line
method over its estimated useful life of 10 years and is included in
administrative and other operating expenses on the consolidated
income statement.
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16. EIERIE

REBERAUTIBREHEEE (&
&)

16. DEFERRED TAX

The following is the major deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised
by the Group:

=)
WEAR
REESE AAEEH
Bt Undistributed
RBEE  Impairment RENE  profits of BYEE
Tax loss Investment foreign  Intangible Bt
losses  allowance  properties subsidiaries asset Total

AR®TR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTR ARET:R
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

R-ZE-=%—-F—-8 At 1 January 2023 21 7,774 (9,591) (36,000) 2,142) (39,939)
(BBENR)/FABR (Charged)/Credited to profit
(Fi7£9) or loss (note 9) = (2,504) 855 = 451 (1,198)
EA_§::¢JF A=1+—H At 31 December 2023 and
“Z-WF-H—H 1 January 2024 21 5,270 (8,736) (36,000) (1,691) (41,136)
ETE 100R)/ G ABR (Charged)/Credited to profit
(Ft7£9) or loss (note 9) (1) (94) 974 - 451 1,310
R-ZE-MF+-A=1+—H At 31 December 2024 - 5,176 (7,762) (36,000) (1,240) (39,826)

AR5k M AROR R TR 2 IRE R IR 45
RO -

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for the
consolidated statement of financial position purposes:

—E-NE —E=F

2024 2023

AR®BT T AREF T

RMB’000 RMB’'000

EIEFIEE B Deferred tax assets 5,176 5,291
EEFRIBAE Deferred tax liabilities (45,002) (46,427)
(39,826) (41,136)

N_ZE-_WNF+-—A=1+—H AEBE#HHE
A EE A R#%72,339,000C (2 ==
&£ AR #50,601,0007T) M2 4 2 A R
EREREAE R SR - ARZEN
BRAREAUMBER=58  AERKT R
57 A BT R - B A B ok 5 A FR TS A 1B
AR #72,339,000c (ZZE—=F : AR
50,601,0007) HEREMIREFL B E E © %
EREFARIEEEARKT72,339,0007T (=

—=%: AR#¥50,601,000T) R—Z—H
FEZE_NF(ZEZ=F: ZT-F
BT )\F)HR -

100 XE{IZRERAT —E-MEFH

As at 31 December 2024, the Group has deductible temporary
differences arising from unused tax losses of RMB72,339,000
(2023: RMB50,601,000) for offsetting against future profits. No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of these unused
tax losses of RMB72,339,000 (2023: RMB50,601,000) due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams of these subsidiaries which
have such deductible temporary differences. These unused tax
losses of RMB72,339,000 (2023: RMB50,601,000) are expired from
2025 to 2029 (2023: 2024 to 2028).
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EFEBLIH (&)

BARARRIEHENEB AR MIKEER - B
FER] 58 SR IR A F] RE [l B BT S = 58 - BlA
ARAEETHRMNBRARN T /\F—
R — B 1& /YR EE 2 51 i 45 49 7 TR 1R B
SIRERIE B ELHARY105,099,0007T (=
T — =4 : AR#¥112,283,00070) - ==
“WNE+—A=+—H ZEXRELENE
=49 AR #1,050,991,0007T (=& = =4 :

16. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities of approximately RMB105,099,000 (2023:
RMB112,283,000) have not been established for the withholding
tax that would be payable on the unremitted earnings of certain
subsidiaries in the PRC made after 1 January 2008 because the
Company controls the dividend policy of its subsidiaries and it is
not probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future. Such unremitted earnings totalled approximately
RMB1,050,991,000 (2023: RMB1,122,831,000) as at 31 December

AR #1,122,831,0000T) ° 2024.
7E 17. INVENTORIES
—E_mF —E-=F
2024 2023
ARET AREF T
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
R K OH FE Raw materials and consumables 41,421 37,951
K ah Work in progress 18,421 21,761
B in Finished goods 91,677 84,209
151,519 143,921
BEZRWRKREWEE 18. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLE
—E-mEF T4
2024 2023
AR TR ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
2 5 rEWER Trade receivables 275,024 262,208
e ZE & Bills receivable 105,999 170,936
381,023 433,144
A OREEE RS Less: Impairment loss allowance
(B 5E36(ii)(b) K (c)) (note 36(iii)(b) and (c)) (3,249) (1,719)
377,774 431,425

Zj&%@%%f’i%g}fzﬁfﬁﬁ BN F—1E
AEXNEATE =F:NF—EA
ERNEATE) - BREBR AT B ZRTT
AEEEE aREHEERENEARN(Z
T =F XEAR)IH - BLTEFHE
REZHSEERRE - REBEH N HRYER
RBRGFFRREZER - AEEERESTH
FRBEIRK

777

The Group allows credit periods normally ranging from one
month to six months (2023: one month to six months) to its trade
customers. Bills receivable are non-interest bearing bank acceptance
bills and matured within six months (2023: within six months)
from the end of reporting period. Each customer has a maximum
credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by
management of the Group.
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18.

BEZRWERRBWERE (&)
REEEH - B RKERRERER (0K
EERER) REZAMEZRE ST
T

18. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLE (Continued)

Ageing analysis of trade and bills receivable (net of loss allowance)
at the reporting date, based on the invoice date, is stated as
follows:

—E-F —T=F

2024 2023

AR®T T ARETT

RMB’000 RMB'000

0Z90H 0 to 90 days 275,588 346,580
91£2180H 91 to 180 days 87,238 83,770
1812365H 181 to 365 days 14,753 1,007
#83i8365H Over 365 days 195 68
377,774 431,425

REBEEZE_ZT_WMF+-_A=+—H8 LIt
BREE AEBRPREZRIERT ([T
BT METHERBETZANEARE
H(ZE—_=F: ~EAREEH EmEA
R #927,508,000L (ZZE==4F : AR¥
763,749,0007T) Z RITHE K BIEETEE
([BEZR])  UEEZEFREMNEREREM
BRAREBE(EE]) RZZEZHF+=A
=+—H  [REEAR364,473,0007T (=
T =% : A\R#307,552,0000T) I E=E
BHAZHE - BREPREBEE - WEITRT
ReES S  BEZBERFBEAGERALAEEE
MR ([FE2HE]) BEERe HEEE
BHRENARR M ERHENSERED
o At AEEERIIEREEZRR
THEAE SRR E MR RIEN 2 ERE
B - AEBNBEZBENFELXEMEELZ
SREREBEZEEEZR 2 ABRES
REMENEREE - EER5  AEER
EEZRCHELENARBELTERK -

HE_Z-_WEER-_ZT_=F+_A=+—
HIEFE  AKETEERARSEZRME
7 EARESEE - EmEFNER R
FHR - WERFEDEER TR E
B EEREBEERE2ETLHET -

102 XE{ILRERAT —E-MEFH

During the financial year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
had endorsed bank acceptance bills (the “Endorsed Bills”)
issued by several banks in the PRC (the “Issuing Banks”) with a
carrying amount of RMB927,508,000 (2023: RMB763,749,000),
with maturity within six months (2023: within six months), to
certain suppliers for settlement of its trade and other payables
(the “Endorsement”), among which a carrying amount of
RMB364,473,000 (2023: RMB307,552,000) were not yet matured
as at 31 December 2024. In accordance with the Negotiable
Instruments Law of the PRC, a holder of the Endorsed Bills has
a right of recourse against the Group if default of payment by
the Issuing Banks (the “Continuing Involvement”). In the opinion
of the Directors, all risks and rewards relating to the Endorsed
Bills have been substantially transferred upon the Endorsement.
Accordingly, the Group has derecognised the full carrying amounts
of the Endorsed Bills and the associated trade and other payables.
The maximum exposure arising from the Group’s Continuing
Involvement in the Endorsed Bills and the undiscounted cash flows
to repurchase these Endorsed Bills equal to their carrying amounts.
In the opinion of the Directors, the fair values of the Group's
Continuing Involvement in the Endorsed Bills were not significant.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group
had not recognised any gain or loss arising from of the Endorsed
Bills. No gain or loss were recognised from the Continuing
Involvement, both during the years or cumulative years. The
Endorsement had been made evenly throughout the years.
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B RUWIRREWEREE (&)

FR - AEER S BEEBRIRED ‘ﬁifﬁ‘iﬁ
EBRENERER HEEBAZHNE)

T ° K%l//\ﬁéﬂ%%fiﬁfﬂﬁﬁmlﬁ °
BT BEEWE 2 KB TIEN F1.10% 2
135% 2 FMEFEMNE - BEEB AN
BIE o HE - NEBBRARERREARE
EEEMaNTNERR

ERAKEEE LREMREBNBAILD
ﬂ&ﬁﬂ@i&ﬁ’mﬁ*ﬁ_% BHMZ A TFE
B G EFIOR AR LR EE
E’J%ﬁm R-ZF-_ME+—_A=+—8 &
BERZERESREE  BREBROAR

#523,734,0007C (2 = =4F : &) NEE®T
ARE BB ISR R PR o BRI R Z 5K

R ARTTE R (M &E25G0) - EEREIR

SRR AEEENEBEBRZHER

BRBLE-R-_F_ME+_A=+—8"

2 BBBEUS A BRI MREIR RIRA 2K

A NE¥23,734, OOOTE (ZZEZ=F:8)2
BRERTERA

BHRWENMEYRRE ZREE (FIRER
BB RATEREGE

18. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLE (Continued)

During the year, the Group discounted part of its bills receivable
with full recourse to financial institutions. In the event of default by
the debtors, the Group is obliged to pay the financial institutions
the amount in default. Interest was charged ranging from 1.10%
to 1.35% per annum on the proceeds received from the financial
institutions until the date the debtors pay. The Group is therefore
exposed to the risks of credit losses and late payment in respect of
the discounted bills receivable.

The discounting transactions do not meet the requirements in
HKAS 39 for de-recognition of financial assets as the Group
retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of
the discounted bills. As at 31 December 2024, bills receivable
of approximately RMB23,734,000 (2023: Nil) continued to be
recognised in the Group’s financial statements even though they
have been legally transferred to the financial institutions. The
proceeds of the discounting transactions are included in bank
borrowings (note 25(iii)) until the discounted bills are expired or the
Group settles any losses suffered by the financial institutions. As
at 31 December 2024, the advances obtained from the financial
institutions in respect of the unexpired discounted bills included
in bank borrowings amounted to approximately RMB23,734,000
(2023: Nil).

The carrying amounts of trade and bills receivable (net of loss
allowance) are denominated in the following currencies:

—E-NE —E =

2024 2023

ARETT ARETIT

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR RMB 287,957 343,339
ETT usD 88,426 86,257
BT EUR 1,391 1,829
377,774 431,425

R-ZE-ME+-F=+—H  BREEL
AR #105,999,000t (ZZE==4F : AR#
#9170,936,0007T) IE A A Bt AR 2 UL
wEtE o BREENAARBEASE —BRIHAQ
REFE - TBBRENR - EERRME R
HART A T B & 5] A 2 7 R B3R T8 Hi R 3R
Eﬁi;ﬂb%ﬁﬁ:‘l’/a iﬁﬂ ’ ﬂﬂ?&ﬁé%’—?&%'ﬁﬁi
FZRANAREBRZEHEY - dEE A
FEPE=RR(ZT=_=F: &) -

AEBREME LMW ERN SR

BRHERBEETE - FEEERMIEE36(I)(b) &
(0) e

As at 31 December 2024, bills receivable amounting to
approximately RMB105,999,000 (2023: RMB170,936,000) was
measured at FVOCI. The fair value of bills receivable was at a level
2 fair value measurement which has been calculated by discounting
the expected future cash flows using rates currently available for
instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.
During the year, there was no transfer between level 1 and level 2
fair value hierarchy or transfer into or out of level 3 (2023: Nil).

The Group recognised impairment loss based on the material
accounting policy information stated in note 3(h)(b), details of
which are set out in to note 36(iii)(b) and (c).
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19. ANFIRR 2 KRR

19. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

—E-mE —E-=%F

2024 2023

AR¥T T ARET T

RMB’000 RMB’000

A i FE T 2 K Advances to suppliers 27,200 23,393
AU B Y 3G E Value-added-tax recoverable 8,223 15,941
TR FRIE Prepayments 894 727
JFEW AT M & & BIZRIE (FTEEG)  Amounts due from a former subsidiary (note (i) - 15,082
L th i Y sk 38 (B RECG)) Other receivables (note (ji)) 6,746 10,477
43,063 65,620

A EUATFT B R BIFRIEE)  Less: Impairment loss on amounts due from
BB ETE (I EE)) a former subsidiary (note (i)) - (15,082)
E i fE W R IE AR E B 18 Impairment loss on other receivables (note (ii))

(B 3EGi)) - 277)
43,063 50,261

it

(i) FERFIHERRZE CGREIREEIEEE)
AR #15,082,0007T Jy IR - 50 5% AT K
BRARENIF BN  ZRBERE BT
A 78 R RAR Al g AR o I - R=F
—=E+ - A=1+—BE2EFIRRES
BRE - EEZRE  CASERTARRK
[B] 5% FXTE + UL FE U AT MY BB A R FKIB (B
HIAEFE R (B B R B AR #515,082,0007T 742
HE-_Z-_NF+-_A=1+—HILFEm®
REMEY o

(iy WEERNR=-Z=—F+=-A=+=HBHH
ESRUHDBEHBER - AP EEBEAD
AR B A RRE € RMEHEE - R=F
—=F  ARRIZHWB AR RKEETER
KAR#1,703,0007t - At R=_F=—
FETHIR 2R EE 1B B & A KR #1,980,000
TERKEBIERIOEIRE  TEHRE-F
T+ A=t+—BItFEE s BFER®E
2 MBEARK277,000R—E-=4
+—A=t+—HANEREREEEREE -
FRN - ARERASEIIE A QTN B A
AR A EEREE &R HR - AR RIH B
ARBREERET S RBEESERATAR
#2,150,0007T * #ER A (B B 18 e B 7 A
R¥277,000C st ABE T MFE+=
B=+t—RLEFEMGRAKTSER  mME
(BMNBRMER s R EMASER) BEES
BAREE1,664,0007T (fizE6) - EREZ—
T_NE+ A=+ BIEFENGEEK
mARPERAEMIA RIS -

AEBREMENOMANER SR
ERER MBS RRBERR 158
FABT 5E36(i(d) ©
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Notes:

Amounts due from a former subsidiary before impairment loss
allowance of RMB15,082,000 was unsecured and considered as
highly unlikely recoverable in the foreseeable future in light of
the worsen financial situation of the former subsidiary. Thus, an
impairment loss allowance was fully provided as at 31 December
2023. In the opinion of the Directors, all feasible actions to
recover the amount had been exhausted. Consequently, the
corresponding impairment loss allowance of RMB15,082,000
made for the amount due from a former subsidiary was then
recognised as a write-off for the year ended 31 December 2024.

According to the court judgement granted on 22 December
2021 arising from a contractual dispute, a contractor was
obligated to refund the deposit and make compensation to
the Company’s subsidiary. In 2022, the Company's subsidiary
received an aggregated amount of RMB1,703,000 for the refund
of deposit. Therefore, the impairment loss allowance provided
in 2021 of RMB1,980,000 was partially reversed upon the
collection and recognised in the profit or loss for the year ended
31 December 2022 and the remaining amount of RMB277,000
remained as impairment loss allowance as at 31 December 2023.
During the year, the Company’s subsidiary further received
refund of deposits and compensation with aggregate amount
of RMB2,150,000 due to the release of final court judgement
on the appeal raised against the Company’s subsidiary by the
contractor, therefore, impairment loss allowance of RMB277,000
was reversed and credited to the consolidated income statement
for the year ended 31 December 2024 while the residual amount
(i.e. after deduction of the relevant legal and other expenses)
representing the compensation of RMB1,664,000 (note 6) was
recognised as other income and gains in the consolidated income
statement for the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Group recognised impairment loss on other receivables based
on the material accounting policy information stated in note 3(h)(b),
details of which are set out in to note 36(iii)(d).
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2T RITER
RZE—_NWE+_A=+—H ' —2£17
17 3 A R #1,000,0007C 2 K48 - {E B #1T
W_?_£¢+ A+ B BB =N E
BHIER - 1IN - BTFRITEROARE
NS%WH_?__¢ AR #278,0007T)
BRI - (EAAREIME QR A TR
ER - R_BE_=F+—-_A=+-—H —#%
RITFERAREE,048,0007 2 - 1EAK
NEREERELEE AR18,292,0007TH
BR ZEEREN_Z-_MFE— ARE -

EEZRR ARNFHE  2ERRTERZ
NAEEREREEZATESEAZER

EHERBITREESHELR

EEFERRIRITRIB AR REEBES 0
T

20. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

21.

As at 31 December 2024, a bank deposit of RMB1,000,000 was
pledged to secure the execution of a foreign exchange forward
contract with mature date on 10 December 2025. Besides, certain
bank deposits of approximately RMB278,000 (2023: RMB278,000)
were pledged to secure the water supply to the factories of the
Company’s subsidiaries. As at 31 December 2023, a bank deposit
of RMB1,048,000 was pledged to secure the settlement of
contracting fees of RMB18,292,000 for a production line under
construction which had been released in January 2024.

The Directors considered that the fair values of the pledged bank
deposits were not materially different from their carrying amount
because of the short maturity period.

TIME DEPOSITS/BANK AND CASH BALANCES

The carrying amounts of time deposits and bank and cash balances
are shown in the following:

—E_mF —F=-=
2024 2023
AR®F T ARBT T
RMB’'000 RMB’000

REARBEBE=EHELR  Time deposits with original maturity more than

+ & A &) E BiE R three months but less than twelve months 493,340 439,458
EHRITER Short-term bank deposits 237,949 36,968
RITHEMFREAE Cash at banks and on hand 120,265 138,637
ReERBESEFBEIEE Cash and cash equivalents 358,214 175,605

R-ZZE-_MFE+-_A=+—H KEEET
FHEFEALBTRRSEBAAREE -

HF AR#70,614,000T (ZEZ=F: AR
#126,815,0007T) ° AR 7 A INER -

7RI B 2 SN B R e KA E - B IE R A
EEIEREIIE -

RITHESEAESHRTERFETERNZ
B Fl| 2= BREVH 8. o R BRERIT IR A E BRTF X
MERS A AE=ZEAZAMBRE=1E/18
PR+ @A RN =_FE-—WF+=—A=1+—
B - 5B HIRI T 3 M E BT SR 0 6 | R & [E
K BA22%E521% (B -=F : 1.70% %
5.70%) °

As at 31 December 2024, certain time deposits and bank and
cash balances with aggregated amount of RMB70,614,000 (2023:
RMB126,815,000) were denominated in RMB. Conversion of RMB
into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC's Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sales and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.

Cash at banks earned interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short-term bank deposits and time deposits were
made for maturity periods less than three months and more than
three months but less than twelve months respectively. The range
of interest rate for short-term bank deposits and time deposits as
at 31 December 2024 was approximately from 4.22% to 5.21%
(2023: 1.70% to 5.70%) per annum.
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21. EBEFBRIRREER(E) 21. TIME DEPOSITS/BANK AND CASH BALANCES

(Continued)
EHRFRRRITNRSER ZREEERAT The carrying amounts of time deposits and bank and cash balances
BEHEHE are denominated in the following currencies:
“EZWEF —E-=F
2024 2023
AR®ET R ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
B HKD 1,274 11,433
E usb 779,666 476,815
AR RMB 70,614 126,815
851,554 615,063
22. BEFEMNER 22. TRADE PAYABLES
B HRNEMNEERBEEN F30H £270 Trade payables normally have the credit periods ranging from 30 to
BAE(ZZE =% : HF30H =270+ 270 days (2023: 30 to 270 days). Ageing analysis of trade payables
L) MRMEBH  BZREMNEREZEAH at the reporting date, based on the invoice date, is as follows:
Fi{EZ BREE D ATIATE :
—E-F —EB=F
2024 2023
AR®T R AREBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
0%£90H 0 to 90 days 32,497 31,148
912 180H 91 to 180 days 1,798 759
181Z365H 181 to 365 days 1,533 il A5l
8 3i8365H Over 365 days 2,073 2,216
37,901 35,577
ZoRMNERMNEEREINIAARYEE - FTF The carrying amounts of trade payables are denominated in RMB.
REHYREHANE B ZENERNREE All amounts are short-term and hence the carrying values of trade
AAERELRE QAR EMET - payables are considered to be a reasonable approximation of their
fair values.

106 *@EIEBRERAT —B-MEER



23.

24,

N

o

AR AR MY RE

Notes to the Financial Statements

HEZZF-WF+= 8 =+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

FEAS ARAT BRI H At FE YRR

23. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

ZE-WmF —F_=F
2024 2023
AR®F T ARET T
RMB’'000 RMB’'000

BHMZE  BERZRED Payables for property, plant and equipment
J& 1t IR 140,874 181,624
JE A~ AR A B 32 Accrued expenses 30,473 22,894
JEfT T & KAz H Wages and welfare payables 12,452 13,805
JE 1< L A b 75 7 TE Other local tax payables 8,726 3,539
E At & At )38 (Bt at) Other payables (note) 45,946 41,924
238,471 263,786

B 5 Note:

HipEN AL R B ELEBRENEERIE
THOFOR -

Other payables mainly comprise of payables for repair and maintenance
and acquisition of spare parts.

sREEE 24. CONTRACT LIABILITIES
—EMNE —T-=F
2024 2023
AR®T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
ERABEELR Contract liabilities arising from:
HEBAL TE®R Sale of fine chemical products 8,767 9,819

AEBREERALTERKINTETIB
ERAaE BEEERXNTER/L-

ERBEHEHNT ;

The deposits received by the Group on sales of fine chemical
products remain as contract liabilities until such time as goods are
delivered to customers.

Movement of the contract liabilities is as follows:

—E-QUE —E-=
2024 2023
ARETT ARETIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
R—H—B#&sR Balance as at 1 January 9,819 25,520
WRREHETE 2 F5 (MFE6)  Net amounts recognised as revenue (note 6) (8,830) (24,474)
WEP U R FFEE Net amounts received in advance from customers 7,778 8,773
Rt A=+—B#&& Balance at 31 December 8,767 9,819
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25. SRITER

25. BANK BORROWINGS

—E-NE —E-=F
2024 2023
AR¥T T ARBT T
RMB’'000 RMB’'000

MR—FRERZRITER (B Bank borrowings repayable within one year and
R ESREE G () contain a repayment on demand clause (note i) 30,000 =

R—FREERZRITER (B Bank borrowings repayable within one year and
12 ZSRE R G0 (B aEi) contain a repayment on demand clause (note ii) 96,400 =
BEEEARE (M) Asset-backed financing (note iii) 23,734 =
HEmEE LB (aTiv) Supplier finance arrangements (note iv) 70,000 =
220,134 -

B 5 Notes:

() FZFRITERBARRE A BB QE R
HRFHER -

(iy ZEBRITERAREEFEPESE (HE
33) RETEF (H13) EER - MEMER
EED Bl A A R #56,310,0007 & A R #
52,076,0007T ©

(i) BEEMBEEEREXZPESHORE
SR MRERHFITHFABEBGTLERNE
3SRMAR L HERRTE - HEMEREED
BREERKEE (MFE18) °

vy AEEHE—RRTFI L EEEBRELSE
UL - AR E A R E A FE R A B SR SR IAER
BIEEMNFKRE - ZRTRREZHB (N F
7E308) MEEE AL BT RIE -
AEEERITRZ MR N RIEEZ 1802
3600 WM R1TE A FRIE KA B -

ERARERERT  REZHMHMES -
MIRTTEZE R FIAE £ AREES50,000,0007T
T =F EEBFAREEBELEY
BeReE MBTHEEFENREEAR
#120,000,0007C (Z B = =4 : &) BIRF
W R A IR & R 5 (K sE35()ii) °

HIERE A E 22 HF T I PTA SRAT 5 B IE
o

A RITERIAAAREFHE -
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(i) These bank borrowings are guaranteed by the Company’s
subsidiaries in the PRC as a corporate guarantee.

(i)  These bank borrowings are secured by the Group’s right-of-
use assets (note 33) and certain buildings (note 13) with the
net carrying amount of RMB56,310,000 and RMB52,076,000
respectively.

(iii)  The asset-backed financing represents the amount of financing
obtained in factoring transactions which do not meet the
derecognition requirements in HKAS 39. The corresponding
financial assets are included in bills receivable (note 18).

(iv)  The Group entered into supplier finance arrangements with a
bank under which the Group obtained extended payment terms
in respect of the invoice amounts owed to its suppliers. The
bank pays the suppliers the amounts owned by the Group at
the original due dates which are ranging from 7 to 30 days. The
Group then pays the bank between 180 to 360 days after the
bank pays the suppliers together with the interest.

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, repayments to
the bank are included in cash flows from financing activities in
aggregated of RMB50,000,000 (2023: Nil) based on the nature
of the arrangements, and the payments to the suppliers by the
bank in aggregated of RMB120,000,000 (2023: Nil) are disclosed
as non-cash transactions (note 35(a)(ii)) during the year.

All of the bank borrowings under supplier finance arrangements
are unsecured.

All bank borrowings are denominated in RMB.
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RITER ()

S5 B0 R4 15 HCE B R A T AR
ESE (TEHEEEREREROTES) -
HWIT

25.

BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)

The Group’s bank borrowings were scheduled to repay as set out
in the loan agreements if ignoring the effect of any repayment on
demand clause as follows:

—EmF —E=F

2024 2023

AR¥T T ARBET T

RMB’000 RMB’000

—FR Within one year 220,134 =

AEBRTERNERENRBELLT

The ranges of effective interest rates per annum of the Group’s
bank borrowings are as follows:

—ENEF —T_=
2024 2023

[E] 7E ) 2 & 3%

Fixed-rate borrowings

— #ER — Guaranteed 3.55% to 4.00% NEA N/A
— HH — Secured 2.95% to 3.85% NEA N/A
— BEHEARE — Asset-backed financing 1.10% to 1.35% TE A N/A
— HEERE L — Supplier finance arrangements 2.00% to 2.30% A N/A

EREBRMENEHRRBASREMRAM
BEFRITERNAAE AR/ HEEH
AEBRTERORAERE XA ERLT -

FERBRREBR

FEFRARA R BRI A - AFHE 0 W —
FREHREE -

26.

The Directors estimated the fair value of the bank borrowings
by discounting their future cash flows at the market rate and
considered that the carrying amounts of the Group’s bank
borrowings approximate to their fair values at the end of the
reporting period.

ADVANCES FROM A NON-CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER

Advances from a non-controlling shareholder is unsecured, interest
free and due for repayment within one year.
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27. B 27. SHARE CAPITAL
g 4=
Number of -}
shares Amount
TR BET T AR¥T T
‘000 HK$°000 RMB’'000

JETE Authorised:
BREEAR0.0TEBER Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
RZZEZ=%—H—H" As at 1 January 2023,

:%::EJr*Hﬂr Bl « 31 December 2023,

—EINFE-A—HBR 1 January 2024 and

—EWFEFT_A=+—H 31 December 2024 100,000,000 1,000,000
EETRER : Issued and fully paid:
FREEBE0.01 T EER Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
R-ZE-_=F—HF—H" As at 1 January 2023,

:;ﬁi_i‘f’_ﬂ_‘l‘—lﬂ& 31 December 2023 and

—E-NFE—A—H 1 January 2024 869,418 8,695 7,986
E 170 g B i 21T A AR D Shares issued from exercise of

(MI5E) share options (note) 8,000 80 74
RZZE-_WFE+=—A=+—H As at 31 December 2024 877,418 8,775 8,060

GEX

8,000,00017 & X #EFR M T M R B RE B IR T IRB
B EITE (B E29) -
BB SRE GIRAXA) A
AR ¥6,751,0007T ° TE1TF AR ER - AR
1,737,0007C E A IR R EEB E RO RE °

#0.9087T 1) 7R
8,000,0004% A% T’ﬁ

110 XEILRERAT —E-MEFH

Note:

UL BT

exercise of the share options.

The subscription rights attaching to 8,000,000 share options were
exercised at the subscription price of HK$0.908 per share (note 29),
resulting in the issue of 8,000,000 shares for a total cash consideration,
before expenses, of RMB6,751,000. An amount of RMB1,737,000 was
transferred from the share option reserve to share premium upon the
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HEZZF-WF+= 8 =+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

28. RESERVES
rEE Group
REEFEREBETFREEREEEK The Group's reserves and movements therein are presented in the
25 - consolidated statement of changes in equity.
PiN/NES] Company
REER/
R i (Bt E#R)
Foreign BRERE Retained
kG &8 currency Share profits/
Share translation option  (Accumulated &t
premium reserve reserve losses) Total
AR®TR ARETR ARETR ARETR AR®TR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(PizE@) (&) (B7E()
(note (a)) (note (e)) (note ()
RZF-=%-A-BA&H Balance at 1 January 2023 138,277 (3.836) 1,204 199,521 335,166
INZBZZERBRER 2022 final dividend and
R EAERE 2023 interim dividend paid
(FtsE11) (note 11) - - - (186,646) (186,646)
RS RN ZFIERS  Equity-settled share-based
(MizE29) payment expenses (note 29) - - 633 - 633
EEER Loss for the year = - - (5,022) (5,022)
Hth2mliE Other comprehensive income = 9,339 = = 9,339
MZEZ=F+ZA=+—HK Balance at 31 December 2023
—Z-WF-A—Hf ﬁ? and 1 January 2024 138,277 5,503 1,837 7,853 153,470
IRZE-=FRERE 2023 final dividend and
“TCMEFRERE 2024 interim dividend paid
(izE11) (note 11) - - - (96,630) (96,630)
RiTfERREN &7 2Rkl Shares issued from exercise of
(Pt zE29) share option (note 29) 8,414 - (1,737) - 6,677
EREMN Profit for the year - - - 80,374 80,374
Ep 2w Other comprehensive income - 2,678 - - 2,678
RZZZME+ZA=+—B## Balance at 31 December 2024 146,691 8,181 100 (8,403) 146,569
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© 8. s ()

AEEKRARD T

(a) BB HEE
BIEFASEHE QA AQAKRG %
BRAZESAHEIRTARGES
A HEZREEZRS KRS BHIE - AR
RIERRNEERBBEEBRETE
HZ (75 »

(b) HRIFME
FrhlEEREASRER —_ZTNE
ET2EAMBBTRNBATCE
BAE M E A E SIS S B QAR
H AT 1T 2 AN R AR EE 2 FH
R e

(0 ZE#rES
RABEFBEKLZZHBAR 2 EE
HMAEE  ZEMBAREFERR
IS sflzaTE s HERER
HAES  HEEREIEMELRZ
50% &1 - E—RBERAT - BHATE
SEMIEREEE BBRBIEEARNE
AdMEARBEENBRARIZEER
KEZH BHRAESBIEEARE A
EMERE  FEEIHRBEABLRE
&R 225%

d) 2%
REPEQTE(R_ZEZTAFER])
R-ZZEZRF—A—HRMGAIZER
B - R BBS 2 R R R B R A
BIE5%E10% 2 BR T 1S B 1% )1 A B
rEE MAme AT RREEZER
BAMARBERNEE ZERE - BRE
ETBRZIEAT PR MEIIK °

() SHNWERREE
SN O 5L A B T S B TS SRR BV Th e
EMBERENEMMEL ZAAIN
BIE N ER o R ABRIEMN E3(d)FTE
BEXEFERREMEIE -

(f) BRERE
REAXENAE TR EBRERZ
R HRER -

(9) Htvf#E
ARBEFEKLIZETE2ENBA
A EL R B A B AL - OB BIEX
AMERNT AENEHER -
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28. RESERVES (Continued)
Group and Company

(a)

(b)

(9]

(d)

(e)

()

(9)

Share premium

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the
funds in the share premium account of the Company are
distributable to the owners of the Company provided that
immediately following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position
to pay off its debt as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

Special reserve

This represents the difference between the paid up registered
capital of the PRC subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the
Group reorganisation in 2004 and the nominal value of the
Company's shares issued in exchange for the control in these
subsidiaries.

Surplus reserve fund

Articles of association of the Company’s subsidiaries
established in the PRC require the appropriation of certain
percentage of their profits after income tax each year to
the surplus reserve fund until the balance reaches 50%
of their registered capitals. In normal circumstances, the
surplus reserve fund shall only be used for making up losses,
capitalisation into registered capital and expansion of the
subsidiaries' production and operation. For the capitalisation
of surplus reserve fund into registered capital, the remaining
amount of such reserve shall not be less than 25% of the
registered capital.

Public welfare fund

Pursuant to relevant regulations before the enactment of
Company Law of the PRC (revised in 2005) on 1 January
2006, the Company’s subsidiaries established in the PRC
made allocation from their profits after income tax at the
rate of 5% to 10% to the public welfare fund. Public welfare
fund can only be utilised on capital nature items for collective
welfare of employees and is not distributable other than in
liquidation.

Foreign currency translation reserve

This reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements from
functional currency to presentation currency. The reserve is
dealt with in accordance with the material accounting policy
information set out in note 3(d).

Share option reserve
Cumulative expenses recognised on the granting of share
options to the employees over the vesting period.

Other reserve

This reserve represents certain wholly-owned subsidiaries of
the Company established in the PRC had capitalised their
retained profits to increase their paid-in capital by enlarging
their registered capital.
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29. URH A 2FIE

ARRRZZBE—RNFRAA -+ ARAKBK
Batal (- EBEEtdll)  8&
B & B S AN SR B 2 B A B 4 B R
2%7‘5’@%$%EMWEQEE}ZH§%%
NEIZES - AEREER - HER TP -

Hx%‘kﬁs‘ii QZE?%%E/\&$EIZ§EF?
KA T ANFEREMEH-F

—ARERA-TBEEN  SRETE R
BEoZNFERESE At RERS
84,687,800 fE A1 + FHL T 58 AR

IE 5 %84,687,800/& J& 1D - R=—ZFE = —F N
A=+H8 ' RBE_Z—FEREFIRE

18,000,00017 & I 4 - 1A% H Bf#% H RO BB %
R EET A R EABEE3,941,0007T © MmAFH
H DB IR AR EAEER0.219
I c B T NFEREA IR L B8R
m%mﬁﬁ%%owm R-_ZE_E+—
=+—H8 BE-_Z—FEREFZE
&mﬁhiﬁEZ%h%%ﬁ&hP“%%
1,000,000 (= F —_=F+=-_F=+—8:
9,000,0008%) ' #8E KA AR H®*k FIE B
HARANRBEITRAZ0I1% (ZTE==F
+:ﬂ£+—5zymw°ﬁigvgmi
+—A=1+—HILFE  WERE—
FEERERT B LB (=2 == ﬁ)

J‘E’:‘_Y_EE&_Y_—iJr A=1—
- FEE SRR 2 MR TIERE B R B 351 40

29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company adopted share option schemes on 20 May 2016
(the “2016 Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to the Directors, eligible employees,
suppliers, customers, any shareholder of each member of the Group
or associated company or any of their respective associates, and
advisers or consultants of the Group who contribute to the success
of the Group. The 2016 Share Option Scheme has become effective
for the periods of 10 years commencing on 20 May 2016 and up
to 84,687,800 options entitling the holders thereof to subscribe
for up to 84,687,800 shares may be granted under the 2016
Share Option Scheme since then. On 30 August 2021, 18,000,000
share options were granted under the 2016 Share Option Scheme.
The estimated fair value of the share options granted on the date
was HKD3,941,000 and the weighted average fair value of each
option granted was HKDO0.219. The closing price immediately
before the date of grant under the 2016 Share Option Scheme was
HKDO0.89. As at 31 December 2024, the aggregated number of
shares in respect of which options remained outstanding under the
2016 Share Option Scheme was 1,000,000 (31 December 2023:
9,000,000), representing 0.1% (31 December 2023: 1.0%) of the
issued share capital of the Company at the date of issuance of these
financial statements. For the year ended 31 December 2024, there
was no share option granted under the 2016 Share Option Scheme
(2023: Nil).

Details of the specific categories of share options outstanding as at
31 December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

‘|? :
) ) HWATERRES B
ARAKE/ BRI B AH SEAH TESE fTE®  Number of outstanding
Name/Category of grantee Date of grant Vesting date Exercise period Exercise price share options
“RCRE —To=F
2024 2023
BI#5 54 (3T "R -F\AZtH  ZBZZFNAZtH  -E-=£)\A=+A%Z 10,9087 - 2,500,000
Mr. Liu Yang (Note) 30 August 2021 30 August 2023 -2-\E\A-+hA HK$0.908
30 August 2023 to
29 August 2028
Bz 2 4 (H3E) SE-FMASHR CEoZFAASTA CFSFNASTAZ ?’éﬁ%%oggg 1,000,000 2,000,000
Mr. Chen Xiaohua (Note) 30 August 2021 30 August 2023 “ZZ\ENAZTAR '
30 August 2023 to
29 August 2028
E& “E--E\A=tR Z—Z-ZfN\A=tA :2:—¢Aﬂ—+ai 10,9087 - 4,500,000
Employees 30 August 2021 30 August 2023 —E-\F\B-tNA HK$0.908
30 August 2023 to
29 August 2028
1,000,000 9,000,000
Bt 5 Note:

BIG S ERREEREYRIITES -

Mr. Liu Yang and Mr. Chen Xiaochua are the executive Directors.
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29. UM T 2FIE (&)

TREFIANRBEREN BN JIHEFI1T

29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Movements of and weighted average exercise prices of the

B8 : Company’s share options are as follows:
T T
T8 BREZR T8 BRARES B
Weighted average Number of share Weighted average Number of share
exercise price option exercise price option
—EomE —E-mE —E-=F —Eo=&
2024 2024 2023 2023
RENHAITE Qutstanding at beginning of 7 %0.9087 80,9087
the year HK$0.908 9,000,000 HK$0.908 9,000,000
ERTTHE Exercised during the year 780,908 (8,000,000) = =
HK$0.908
RERBRITE Outstanding at the end 780,908 7T 75#0.9087C
of the year HK$0.908 1,000,000 HK$0.908 9,000,000

—E AT ENE R ARITEER
M2 T EABK0908T (Z T =4 :
#50.9087T) ¢ IN#EF3 Mgk A R H A3.64
TEC=F465) o

AR HAR EA K - 1,000,0001) (Z B ==
£ :9,000,00017) B EE 2 5B KA T
171 -

114 *EIZBRERAT —S-mEER

The exercise price of share options outstanding under 2016 Share
Option Scheme at the end of the year was HK$0.908 (2023:
HK$0.908) and the weighted average remaining contractual life
was 3.6 years (2023: 4.6 years).

At the end of the reporting period, all 1,000,000 (2023: 9,000,000)
share options had been vested and were exercisable.
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30. HOLDING COMPANY'’S STATEMENT OF

FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2024

—E-MF —B_=F
2024 2023
B & ARET T AREF T
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
EEHERE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
ERBEE Non-current assets
R B ARz = Interests in subsidiaries 31 78,217 78,217
78,217 78,217
REEE Current assets
JiE W Bt /B8 =) 3k 1B Amounts due from subsidiaries 179,007 159,933
?EH/TAIE&ﬁ11ﬁfﬂﬂZnA Prepayments and other receivables 226 215
RITMIR 4 Bank and cash balances 12,355 36,685
191,588 196,833
REEE Current liabilities
}rﬁﬂiﬁgﬁ?y\&ﬁmﬁ@ﬁ%ﬁﬁ Accruals and other payables 1,036 1,029
NN PNGIF Amounts due to a subsidiary 114,140 112,565
115,176 113,594
RBEESE Net current assets 76,412 83,239
BEERARBAERE Total assets less current liabilities 154,629 161,456
EEFE Net assets 154,629 161,456
= EQUITY
[N Share capital 27 8,060 7,986
i Reserves 28 146,569 153,470
B Total equity 154,629 161,456
BERZE_RAF=-A -t HBEESEESE Approved and authorised for issue by the board of Directors on 24
WIRHETIZE  WARIATRERES March 2025 and signed on its behalf by:
215 EFFI
LIU YANG WANG ZIJIANG
EFE -
Director Director
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31.

RS B B 2 fE s 31. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
RZE_NER_T_=F+-H=+— Particulars of the subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 December
H - ARAINBRRZFRAT : 2024 and 2023 are as follows:
e/ KIR ERTEE/
EEBE BAEMRAZEE RERE/REE/
Place of Nominal value of EEFE D
incorporation/ issued ordinary/ Percentage of ownership
4 establishment paid-up registered interests/voting rights/ ~ FEXHK
Name and operations share capital profit share Principal activities
EE A
Direct Indirect
BRERARAR Bk BEIT 100% - REAERR
Great Growth Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 Investment holding
BRERERAF &k BB 100% - REER
Great Spirit Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 Investment holding
BEARERAR &b BEIT 100% - REER
Great Promise Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 Investment holding
AEERERBRAT &R 7 %10,0007C 70% - REER
Tiande Medical Holdmgs Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Investment holding
HEARAT &t 7 10,0007 - 100% HERALIER
Tech Chem Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Sales of fine chemical products
BEERAERAA RERARES 268K T - 100% RERRK
Smartcharm Holdings Limited ((EBEARES]) US$268 Investment holding
British Virgin Islands
(the "BVIs")
BRLXARAT ERERRES 1,251% 7 - 100%  RERMR
Smartpoint Enterprises Limited The BVIs US$1,251 Investment holding
BEERAERAA ARARRES 4TTET - 100%  HREER
Techsmart Holdings Limited The BVIs ussar7 Investment holding
BYREEERAR E %m%é ES 600,000 7T - 100% HERIHRALIER
Weifang Common Chem Co., Ltd. (MERELE] US$600,000 Selling and distribution of fine
The PRC, Wholly chemical products
foreign-owned
enterprise (“WFOE")
LEEAIERAR HEEBELR AR 5,000,000 - 100% HERSHEMLIER
Shanghai Dehong Chermcal Company Limited ~ The PRC, WFOE RMB5,000,000 Selling and distribution of fine
chemical products
BRI EBRAT TENBEELE 35,200,000% 7T - 100% HERIERALIER
Weifang Parasia Chem Co., Ltd. The PRC, WFOE US$35,200,000 Selling and distribution of fine

116 FE{LIZBRERAT —S-mEER

chemical products
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M B A Rz () 31. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
FMARL/ LK BRAER/
EEBY BAZRET AR REER/RER/
Place of Nominal value of EhEHNE A
incorporation/ issued ordinary/ Percentage of ownership
2% establishment paid-up registered interests/voting rights/ ~ FEXK
Name and operations share capital profit share Principal activities
EE GE3
Direct Indirect
ENEBRALIBRAT ENEBELR 99,000,000% T - 100%  BR% - RERHERMT
Weifang Binhai Petro-Chem Co., Ltd. The PRC, WFOE (ZZ==F: Em
94,000,000%7T) Research and development,
(ZEG) manufacture and sales of
1US$99,000,000 fine chemical products
(2023:
1S$94,000,000)
(Note (i))
BRARESHERAR hE - HMEBERR AR#17,675,8807 - 0% HE
Deling Medical Instruments Co., Limited The PRC, WFOE RMB17,675,880 Inactive
EH R TARA R (M) i AR%61,408,16370 - 51% W& BERHECIER
Weifang Zhongying Chemical Co., Ltd. The PRC RMB61,408,163 Research and development,
(Note (i) manufacture and sale of
chemical products
ERRERRARAT Bk 2007 100% - REBR
Dekel Investment Holdmgs Ltd. Hong Kong HK$200 Investment holding
AR ERAR mE - NEEERR 14,051,190 7T - 100% % RERHERHHER

Weifang Dekel Innovative Materials Co., Ltd.

B &E -
(i) BHE_ZT-_MFER=-FT==

The PRC, WFOE

= A=f—

HIEFE ZMEAEBBENCERE

SR ALE AN B A A o
@iy ZR

MRER
T = fE) o

AR BRI AEEREEAF

BETAMERARRTERE

US$1 4,051,190

Notes:

(i)

Research and development,
manufacture and sales of
adhesive products

Registered capital has been enlarged by capitalised its retained
profits to increase its paid-in capital during the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

It is @ domestic limited liability company established in the PRC.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of

the year (2023: Nil).
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32.

33.

TR 32. COMMITMENTS
RiEBE - NREE ZAERAT : The Group’s commitments at the reporting date are as follows:
—EmEF —F==
2024 2023
AR® TR ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB'000
BN EDE  BER Commitments for acquisition of property,
AR g B AR plant and equipment 140,324 94,878
HEREREEE 33. LEASES AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

RHIEE (fEAEBEAN)

L2EMIESARLRE - ANEBEE L ETER
REEERFEAE THEL W REEN -
&4 RMMEH—Kx&A/30E504F A A
RBES  EHAM R ERE - AT
HESHBET - EFBEMNHEE L REE
NERBEREEE mfﬁﬂaﬁﬁ B
ZEMEVARELETHESRE

EHEEE
EHEAMBHANKRERNEREEENED
o

Long-term leases (in the capacity as lessee)

Referring to note 3(l), the Group has certain leases of lands and
parking lots in the jurisdictions from which it has operations. Rental
contracts are typically with lease terms maximum to 30-50 years,
with no renewal, extension and termination options for the lessee.
The periodic rent from the leases is fixed over the lease terms.
Leases of lands and parking lots in the PRC are recognised as
right-of-use assets which their lease payments have been prepaid
and no lease liabilities arising from those leases.

Right-of-use assets

Movement of right-of-use assets which recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position is as follows:

HELH FE Chl

Leasehold land Parking lots Total

ARBTR ARBTT ARBT T

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

RZZE-=F—H—H At 1 January 2023 83,318 — 83,318

il Addition - 3,800 3,800

e Depreciation (2,450) (54) (2,504)
RZZZ=F+=ZA=+—H At 31 December 2023 and

RZZEZMFE—-H—H 1 January 2024 80,868 3,746 84,614

e Depreciation (2,450) (125) (2,575)

RZZ-ME+-"F=+—H At 31 December 2024 78,418 3,621 82,039

R-ZE-mME+-—A=+—8 AEEKE@
EAARE 56,310,000 T (ZE-=4 : )
WERAREEEET  (EALAEERITER
(B zE25(i)) FUFEIR ©

118 x@E{IrRERAT —E-MEFH

Right-of-use assets of the Group with the carrying amount of
RMB56,310,000 (2023: Nil) were pledged to secure the Group’s
bank borrowings (note 25(ii)) as at 31 December 2024.
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33. #ﬂi"i&ﬁﬁﬁ%’é?(ﬁ)
EHAFRE EAEFEAN)

AEBEPEMESNMAZTRANEE
RAEMES - AR RFTNEESRNES
Rt B ARt 12 ARAR - AT SEE

EEE - AREREIERERREENHE
SRE  EeREZSHERRNBEENK

EHBANEGEERABRTNRAE

RHEERXMARMBEAEZFBTOT

33. LEASES AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

Short-term leases (in the capacity as lessee)

The Group has leases of office premises located in the PRC and
Hong Kong which are recognises as short-term leases. Since the
lease contracts entered with lease terms ends within 12 months
from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option, the Group has elected not to recognise the right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities but recognises the lease payments
associated with these leases as an expense in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Details of the short-term lease expenses and undiscounted
commitments are as follows:

—EIF —F-=fF
2024 2023
AR®T T ARET T
RMB’'000 RMB’000
REAERX (EBREE Short-term leases expenses (included in administrative
THREMEERS) and other operating expenses) 3,723 4,323
ABRIR RS HATE E AR AR Aggregate undiscounted commitments for short-term
leases - 295

*ﬁ Eﬁr%/)lb H:II e
fﬁ%m%%ﬁﬁ“%ﬁ’ﬁﬂ SR

Total cash outflow for leases

Amounts included in the cash flow statement for leases comprise
the following:

—E-NF —E=F

2024 2023

AR¥ T ARETF T

RMB’000 RMB’'000

PRELERERE Within operating cash flows 3,723 4,323
EREHEA As lessor

REBHREMEATRNBIRE T Z A
HEP - RZ2E_WNEFE_ZFT_=F+_H
=+—8  BRETTRHESCEHE  ~£F

The Group’s investment properties are leased to a number of
tenants for varying terms. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023,
the Group had future aggregate minimum lease receipts under

2 BESEAEUGRAEERT ¢ non-cancellable operating leases as follows:
—EC-ImF —T-=F
2024 2023
AR¥TR AREBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
—FR \ Within one year 301 432
ER—FETEBRME Later than one year and not later than two years 54 =
ERMEETEBR=F Later than two years and not later than three years 54 -
EBR=FENERME Later than three years and not later than four years 54 -
ERTEETERASF Later than four years and not later than five years 54 -
517 432

BREASENLEHELH  HELA®R

FORMR—E2RF (T _=F: —F—
F)TFE - HEHRFK— ﬁx%ifﬂﬁi‘ﬂﬂ%ﬁ

Under operating lease arrangements of the Group, the leases are
negotiated for average terms of one to five years (2023: one to two
years). The terms of the leases generally require the tenants to pay
security deposits.
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BB T R 7
REERERTIORBHIZZMT :

35.

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group entered into the following transactions
with related parties:

—E-NE —E-=F

2024 2023

AR¥T T ARETF T

RMB’'000 RMB’000
NTF—Z(ZZFZ=%F: —%) Short-term lease expenses to a related company
HITEEH A EnEal A] in which one (2023: one) executive Director has
TREEARZZ BB AR beneficial interests and can exercise significant

MR EHERS influence 514 514

MEERRER  FHE Repayment to a substantial shareholder, net - (40,000)

TREBABZMESERNMEI0-

RERERERMWE

(@) FEIBERS

(i)

HE-_Z-_WWF+=-A=+—H
IEFE  AEEREEMmHEK
ZENE 5 REER M E MR
HMETHIERSEE AR
927,508,000t (ZE = =F : A
R ¥763,749,0007T) * =15 5.6t
FT18 o

AREEE-RRITAILE THE
BRERY REZFLH R
TEERAAEEHER N H]
AR #120,000,0005T (ZE ==
F | MAKERERBRE
% E YR TIRITHRIRTIE
[ER1THE 3K (B aE25(v)) o
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The remuneration of key management personnel are set out in note

10.

35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions

@

(ii)

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group had
non-cash settlement of bills receivable and trade and
other payables amounted to RMB927,508,000 (2023:
RMB763,749,000), as a result of Endorsement as details
set out in note 18.

The Group entered into certain supplier finance
arrangements with a bank. Under these arrangements,
the bank paid to the suppliers of the Group directly in
aggregated amount of RMB120,000,000 (2023: Nil)
and the Group presents payables to the bank under
these arrangements as “bank borrowings” (note 25(iv))
during the year.
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mERME (E)

METHELENRGZHER

TRAMKEBEREREZHNAEE
FEH1E - BERS MRS 2 EE -
BMEEHELANBERRERERR
REEREERNIBRAEELREIR
i//lui%qﬂAﬁﬁﬂé/ﬁﬁiﬁ/ﬁ/ﬁi
CON=RE

35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

financing activities

The table below shows detailed changes in the Group's
liabilities from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities
are liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows
will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of
cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

FERBR
B3
Advances
RITfER from a non-
Bank  controlling &t
borrowings shareholder Total
ARETRT AR%TR AR%TxR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(B E25) (PFi43E26)
(note 25) (note 26)
R-ZE-_NE—F—H At 1 January 2024 - 5743 5743
MERLSRA(F) Financing cash inflows/(outflows):
FTILIRITIE N New bank borrowings raised 196,377 - 196,377
EEBITEK Repayment of bank borrowings (46,243) - (46,243)
BRFE Interest paid (3.608) - (3,608)
EEMERRE Repayment of bank borrowings under
ZH T ERITER supplier finance arrangements (50,000) - (50,000)
Hitn 2 : Other changes:
HIER R E 25 TR Bank borrowings under supplier finance
ITER arrangements 120,000 - 120,000
FER% Interest expenses 3,741 - 3,741
FERT AR BR TR R H A Accrued interest under accruals and other
J& 13 SRIE RO FE AT A 2 payables (133) - (133)
b =R Exchange adjustments - 218 218
RZZB-WFE+ZA=1t—H At 31 December 2024 220,134 5,961 226,095
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35. MEBRERERMT ()

b) REETHEENEGBZHE

35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

(&) financing activities (Continued)
FEERARER
N FRRE
B
Advances =
‘ Advances
RITMER fom a non- from a
Bank controlling substantial A&t
borrowings shareholder shareholder Total
ARETT ARETT  AREBTx AREFTT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(BtzE25) (KtzE26)
(note 25) (note 26)
R-Z-=%-F—H At 1 January 2023 - 5,655 45,724 51,379
RMERERA/(Ri) Financing cash inflows/(outflows):
HTIERITIER New bank borrowings raised 1,000 - = 11,000
BERITER Repayment of bank borrowings (11,000) = = (11,000)
BRFIE Interest paid 2) - (5,898) (5,900)
MEZRRER Repayment to a substantial
—R&HH shareholder - principal amount
portion - - (40,000) (40,000)
Ht 2 g : Other changes:
FSHAX Interest expenses - 174 176
R Exchange adjustments = 88 = 88
RZB-=%+-HA=t—H  At31December 2023 - 5,743 - 5,743

36. T RlERERE

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

AEEEE cERERA  mEER (8
EEBERREMNXER)  FERRIRD
R AEEZBBEREEESSMM
SARTERZ L - BREERE AT EH A
SEYPBERATRZEAZE -EFEHAE
ITEEEEeRMNETEERERNAE
VAT B2 76 B 38 % BR 2R L e B SRS

AEBSRASREENMEBESREE @ 71
AREHEHRE AEBMAIREANTH
RUBRFE T 3B © b5 - M EE36(v)E A 1R AR
AEIDHEREERBEMRE -
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The Group is exposed to financial risks: market risk (including
currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Group's overall risk management focuses on unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group's financial performance. The Directors meet periodically
and co-operate closely with key management to analyse and
formulate strategies to manage and monitor financial risks.

The Group is not engaged in the trading of financial assets for
speculative purposes nor does it write options. The most significant
financial risks to which the Group is exposed are described below.
See also note 36(v) for a summary of financial assets and liabilities
by category.
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TRE R EE ()
(i) JMERFR

(ii)

ERAEEETEHRS BEEKA
BIIAEE ~ T REUTAHE - A
1% T 9 SN E LB o AN S (B3R B 30 R L
HMsMNER S ﬁ?&%%%ﬂi?l\“
BHRBER - AREBE ) ERIMER,
- XEEBNEHREEHIHEAIN
E

HE_Z-_N&F+-_A=+—HIF
B AEEEIN—H(ZE_=%F:
E)INERIEL BISR A=A
F+ZHATH UEBARKHETH
EXRER R _NF+—A=+—
B ANEERBEESH RS ERFHI
5% 30 42 18 T {52,000,0003< TTHE R A 1T
ATH RRAIWREERNITIEGS
BEERAZSHEITERK -

RZE_MFF+—_A=+—H0 AR
BB ST RBUTHIEE TR, £
F5%MmETA H b a] B F E M T2
B AN 55 B F A 5 7 S AR BR Vi ) & 0
i/ m #) AR #32,653,0007T (:%
—=%: AR#¥21,612,0007T) °

R A 2 LA T & B erfEmf’i%M&
BRETE MO PE 5 W2k B 18 o

6 B Y — B R B B
LR 04556 - R AR A -

FEEB
AEERS N EEHREREEZT R
REZFBRITFER - REBE I ARME
RERDTAES R AR E g o A
EREEGERMEXRLR  TgEERN
BRERE HRE AR E@RRE -

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has exposure to foreign currency risk as certain of
its business transactions, assets and liabilities are denominated
in HK$, US$ and Euro. The Group currently does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy in respect of other foreign
currency transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group will
monitor its foreign currency exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group had
entered into one (2023: Nil) foreign exchange forward
contract with mature date on 10 December 2025 to manage
the exchange rate exposure between RMB and US$. As at 31
December 2024, the nominal amount of US$2,000,000 is not
recognised by the Group according to HKFRS 9 as a derivative
because the condition of the execution is not triggered and
the Directors consider the amount is immaterial.

As at 31 December 2024, if the RMB had weakened/
strengthened 5% against HK$, US$ and Euro with all
other variables held constant, the Group’s profit for the
year and retained profits would have been approximately
RMB32,653,000 (2023: RMB21,612,000) higher/lower, arising
mainly as a result of the foreign exchange gain/loss on trade
receivables denominated in US$ and Euro.

The measures to manage foreign currency risk have been
followed by the Group since prior years and are considered to
be effective.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk for changes in
interest rates relates primarily to the Group's floating interest
rate bank deposits. The Group has not used any derivative
contracts to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk. However,
management monitors interest rate exposure and will
consider hedging significant interest rate exposure should the
need arise.
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tREMEIE (&) 36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(i) F=mR(E) (ii) Interest rate risk (Continued)
@’ﬂgﬁ*ﬁ Sensitivity analysis

&f%“a’aj/ﬁﬂﬂ—f ﬁfﬁmﬂ “@Ji
T205% (ZF==%F : £ET)%05%)
HSRRE - st ER I AAREBRHE
HEFIFZEEERMEERBERE
£ MABAMAISEEZEFTTE -

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the Group's
profit for the year and retained profits to a possible change in
interest rates of +/— 0.5% (2023: +/- 0.5%), with effect from
the beginning of the years. The calculations are based on the
Group'’s financial assets and liabilities with floating interest
rates held at the reporting dates. All other variables are held
constant.

FERANRREER
Profit for the year and
retained profits

ARET T

RMB’000
+0.5% -0.5%
—E-NFE+-HA=+—H 31 December 2024 1,861 (1,861)
—E-=%+=-A=+—H 31 December 2023 815 (815)

REHBAMMANBERMG  REMN
MEBFHHRIEFSEAELR - A
AEREREEBHMNENARE T @A
HARI RO A IR AT BE B AT (R RO AT A5 ©

AEBEBEFERL—HEREER
REBRAER - WRAEEEEE -

The assumed changes in interest rates are considered to be
reasonably possible based on observation of current market
conditions and represents the management’s assessment of
a reasonably possible change in interest rate over the next
twelve months period.

The measures to manage interest rate risk have been followed
by the Group since prior years and are considered to be
effective.

(i) FE Rk (i) Credit risk
EERRKEREHKATENE S Credit risk arises from trade receivables, deposits, other

J‘%‘Hﬁzﬁ% VRIE - EMRUGIR  RTTR
E R EMEREEERRITE

Tﬁ’&fﬁ@ﬁr)\ﬁﬁﬂiﬁﬂk 5 H) 8
Hﬁlxﬁ% UREFPHMEERR 81K
1858 e YR -

124 x@E{cIERERAT —E-MEFH

receivables, bank and cash balances, time deposits and
pledged bank deposits, at amortised cost and bills receivable
at FVOCI, as well as credit exposures to customers, including
outstanding receivables.
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(a)

(b)

B EE
AEECHEHR - AERAA
HEEECHZEPHERR

Z 5 EWER FOBR B EE) 4258
#932.9% (ZFE = =4 : 38.8%)
REAEEZANTFE @ BibA
ESEEEESETRE - I T
FHEEZAFE (AR
E_NFE+-A=+—HHNES
ﬁ%%mﬂ%é_?_fi

65.3%) ° AEEREEEE
%ﬁﬂ%@(ﬁkiLfﬁ IXE@E
R mEREREEM

B ESRNEERE
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HE_Z_NFER_ZT_=F
+= ﬂ + EJJ:EF T“”A

/RTT:E ”“”%FHSZ@EE’J/FMEJES
B TeRERREREETEN
FRAFBEREEEH RS FEITIE
R HRAKEHBEEERBRE

R KRBT REFRHEE
BAFEREER  RERNEY

AR BB R B B I R AR
ETREPREZEE—FED

BHEBEEXDERNEE=FNE
BREBRERLAEEERTH -
BRALLXREHERAE  UkRKE
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(iii) Credit risk (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Risk management
The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales are
made to customers with an appropriate credit history.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 32.9%
(2023: 38.8%) of the total trade receivables (net of loss
allowance) was due from the Group'’s largest customer.
Moreover, the geographical location of customers is
mainly on the PRC which accounted for 71.9% (2023:
65.3%) of the trade receivables (net of loss allowance)
as at 31 December 2024. In order to minimise the credit
risk, management will endeavor to build an extensive
customer base that spread over the world, which can
minimise the credit risk by geographical location.

Impairment assessment on trade receivables

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
impairment loss is recognised for trade receivables
not only when there was objective evidence of
impairment, but also at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs, which is calculated using a provision matrix. As
the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not
indicate significantly different loss patterns for different
customer segments, the loss allowance based on past
due status is not further distinguished between the
Group's different customer bases. Expected loss rates
are based on actual loss experience over the past 3
years and forward looking information. These rates
are adjusted to reflect differences between economic
conditions during the periods over which the historic
data has been collected, current conditions and the
Group's view of economic conditions over the expected
lives of the receivables.
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36. TRIERERE (&) 36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(i) EER (&) (iii) Credit risk (Continued)
(b) EZEWERBRETMEE) (b) Impairment assessment on trade receivables
(Continued)
TRHEFIIAREBNRE BHANGE The following table provides information about the
ERR R E 5 WK EIBRED Group's exposure to credit risk and loss allowance of
BH trade receivables as at reporting dates:
R-ZE-_WE+=-A=+—8H As at 31 December 2024
EHEESR EHERS
BHEEE Gross EBREE HERE Net
Expected carrying Loss Specific carrying
loss rate amount allowance allowance amount

% ARBTR ARMTR ARBTR ARETR
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

20 (RBE) Current (not past due) 0.025% 195,837 (156) - 195,681
E&#1-90H 1-90 days past due 0.33% 61,185 (39) - 61,146
EiH#91-180H 91-180 days past due 2.10% 14,761 (9 - 14,752
B ##1181-365H 181-365 days past due 3.06% - - - -
BB HHEE365H Over 365 days past due 93.99% 3,241 (1,935) (1,110) 19
275,024 (2,139) (1,110) 271,775

R-_EBE-_=F+_-_A=+—H As at 31 December 2023
FEEEH REETE
AHRERX Gross BERE A Net
Expected carrying Loss Specific carrying
loss rate amount allowance allowance amount

% ARBTT ARETRT ARBTT ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

SR (RBH) Current (not past due) 0.008% 248,948 (19) = 248,929
B iB51-90H 1-90 days past due 0.08% 11,344 (9) - 11,335
B iBH#91-180H 91-180 days past due 0.75% 110 (1) - 109
EiBHi181-365H 181-365 days past due 2.12% 49 (1) - 48
EiBH#8E365H Over 365 days past due 89.48% 1,757 (579) (1,110) 68

262,208 (609) (1,110) 260,489
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(iii) Credit risk (Continued)

(b)

Impairment assessment on trade receivables
(Continued)

Movements in the allowance account in respect of trade
receivables are as follows:

—EB-NE —T=F

2024 2023

AR%T R AREBTF T

RMB’000 RMB’000

n—RA—B#&#% Balance at 1 January 1,719 1,265
ERBEEERE Provision for impairment loss recognised,

il net 1,530 454

Rt+t—A=+—B#%&& Balance at 31 December 3,249 1,719

HiIZAREFAEMZEKED
EH T BETRENE
R-_E-_WNER T _=F+—
B=1+—8 BUZEEEHEA
BRAREFAEMEEK - B
IRk B B RS R AR A /(A
AAEISNESTE - BERE
T3 128 BB E E B8t
B - AR EEY mhEEE
RITHE - EWERNEEEE
E2EINEMEETFRXEHERS
HFEHRNBELEKLA B
BRETTE - BEXSHFB
EWEEL  RERZIENTEL
EEBARETEEABE - F
A EERERRESE (-
—ZFE) o

HEBHERATENEtERE
EETRERE
RITEASEH  EHMERRE
HRRITER AR TR B
EEANFRABERTE - @
RUALREHERAEERFEE
APARE AR - BB SR AR
BEBYFEKX -

HeE_2_=F+=-A=+—
BIEEE  BIBERBUARAS
m AT B A A B A AR
9,638,000 & 0] # -

E!Jtif ﬁf*@réuﬁz Iﬁuﬁz@
ARHE277,0000 (ZE - =4 :

/) HUREEERED R ARE
277,000 (Z T = =4 : #&) (K
sE19(i)

(c)

(d)

Impairment assessment on debt instruments at
FVOCI

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, bills receivable
is classified as debt instruments at FVOCI, which are
matured within 6 months from the end of reporting
periods. The measurement of loss allowance was based
on 12-months ECLs. All the bills receivable are issued
from licensed banks in the PRC. The credit quality
of bills receivable has been assessed by reference to
the external credit ratings or to historical records and
available information about the counterparties’ default
rates. The existing counterparties do not have defaults
in the past. Therefore, the expected credit loss rate
of the bills receivable are assessed to be minimal. No
impairment loss is recognised during the year (2023:
Nil).

Impairment assessment on other financial assets at
amortised cost

Bank and cash balances, time deposits and pledged
bank deposits are also subjected to the impairment
requirements of HKFRS 9. The identified impairment
loss was immaterial since they are placed at financial
institutions with good credit rating.

Am amount of RMB9,638,000 was reversed due to
recovery from the former subsidiary as a result of PRC
court order during the year ended 31 December 2023 .

There was RMB277,000 (2023: Nil) recovery from other
receivable which resulted in RMB277,000 (2023: Nil)
reversal of provision for impairment loss was made
during the year ended 31 December 2024 (note 19(ii)).
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(iii) Credit risk (Continued)

(d) Impairment assessment on other financial assets at
amortised cost (Continued)
Except the above, the Director considered the remaining
balance of other receivables as low credit risk since they
have a low risk of default and the measurement of loss
allowance were therefore based on 12-months ECLs.

(iv) Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows, by
continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows
and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and
liabilities.

As the Group had banking facilities which could be drawn at
the discretion of the Group within limit approved by banks,
the Directors are of the opinion that, taking into account the
presently available facilities and internal financial resources
of the Group, the Group has sufficient working capital for
its present requirements. The Group obtained certain bank
facilities and advances from a non-controlling shareholder as
sources of liquidity.

A portion of the Group’s accrued expenses form part of its
supplier finance arrangements with the selected supplier. The
financial institution participating in the arrangements makes
payments to the selected supplier before the original invoice
due date. The arrangements do not alter the Group’s existing
payment terms with supplier. Refer to note 25(iv) for further
details about the Group's supplier finance arrangements.

Although the supplier finance arrangements result in
concentrating a portion of the Group’s accruals and other
payables with the participating financial institution, the
Group does not view the arrangements as creating material
concentration of liquidity risk as the total amount of accrual
and other payables forming part of the supplier finance
arrangements represents a limited portion of total accruals
and other payables.
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tRiE R EIE (&) 36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(iv) REVERRR (&) (iv) Liquidity risk (Continued)
THRE M RERRERNRS T E The table below summarises the maturity profile of the
BEESHER financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted
payments:
ZEARR S
REX —FR RERAE
Within Between Total REE
3monthsor 3 months to undiscounted Carrying
on demand 1 year amount amount
ARETR NG AR¥T R ARETR
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
“R-mE 2024
B SR - Ef0fEN  Trade, other payables and accruals
I R E AR RR AR 120,859 155,513 276,372 276,372
BBERBSMEITEZ* Bank borrowings by guaranteed* 30,517 - 30,517 30,000
EBEAESHEITE N Bank borrowings by secured* 119,138 - 119,138 96,400
TEEEBAMETTH  Bank borrowings under asset-backed
RITEK financing 18,734 5,000 23,734 23,734
EHREERE R T Bank borrowings under supplier finance
RITHEH arrangements 50,000 20,000 70,000 70,000
FEPERR AR R 23K Advances from a non-controlling
shareholder - 5,961 5,961 5,961
Ch Total 339,248 186,474 525,722 502,467
—B-=F 2023
ZHMENER - Ef0/EN  Trade, other payables and accruals
TR B AR BRR 136,623 162,740 299,363 299,363
R Advances from a non-controlling
shareholder - 5,743 5,743 5,743
Ch Total 136,623 168,483 305,106 305,106
* EEA T BRI AR E SR ER IRV IR 2 Balances include bank borrowings with a repayment on
TER - demand clause.
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36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(iv) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The table below summarises the maturity analysis of bank
borrowings with a repayment on demand clause based on
agreed scheduled repayments set out in the loan agreements.
The amounts include interest payments computed using
contractual rates. As a result, these amounts were greater
than the amounts disclosed in the “on demand” time band
in the maturity analysis contained in the above table. Taking
into account the Group’s financial position, the Directors do
not consider that it is probable that the bank will exercise its
discretion to demand immediate repayment. The Directors
believe that such bank loans will be repaid in accordance
with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreements.

BREKRER
REenmEST —FR®
Total RER
IREE contractual Within
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or on
amount cash flow demand
AR¥TR AR¥T R AR¥T T
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
“E-MFE+=A=1T—H 31December 2024 126,400 129,317 129,317

“EFE-=F+-"HA=+—H 31 December 2023

AEEEEEFREE—EEREEM
BERRNER YR RAMEEE

3 o
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The measures to manage liquidity risk have been followed by
the Group since prior years and are considered to be effective.



TRlE R EE ()

(v) RERESNEMEEREE

B
M R-BoEER-To=

B2 B3R FHEA ©

F+=
A=t—HAWCHEREREEIAR
WEREEAEATOR -EREAE2
BMTANERMAZEERNGE

N

o

B R ER IR M
Notes to the Financial Statements
HEZZF-WF+= 8 =+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2024

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

by category

(v) Summary of financial assets and liabilities

The carrying amounts of the financial assets and liabilities
recognised as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 may also
be categorised as follows. See note 3(h) for explanations
about how the category of financial instruments affects their
subsequent measurement.

—E-NE —E=F
2024 2023
ARET T ARBEF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
EEEE Financial assets
Tﬁﬁ&fﬁﬁk$ﬁgﬂ’]%wﬂ§? Financial assets measured at amortised cost:
B 5 R — Trade receivables 271,775 260,489
- uTﬂ'z K B fE W R IE — Deposits and other receivables 6,746 10,200
— BEERRITER — Pledged bank deposits 1,278 1,326
— EHFR — Time deposits 493,340 439,458
— RIT MR EEH — Bank and cash balances 358,214 175,605
BARBEAEMEENER  Financial asset measured at FVOCI:
TRBE :
— BREE — Bills receivable 105,999 170,936
1,237,352 1,058,014
cREE Financial liabilities
REHAGTEMEBBE ©  Financial liabilities measured
at amortised cost:
— BHEMNE — Trade payables 37,901 35,577
— R RIERRR — Accruals and other payables
H A fE < FRIE 238,471 263,786
— RITEK — Bank borrowings 220,134 =
— FEPEIRAR R B — Advances from a non-controlling
shareholder 5,961 5,743
502,467 305,106
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37. BEXEHE

AEENEAEE B RENERASEBE
NFERE  ARATRERRKERERIE
MHEEE - M ARRERTHAOER

AEBESEREERANES RIEREER
R  BEERBBREAERE - RERTX
HEBEARL 1% AR &R B A FE EE (A R B HY
B BITHA ARREREEAN - EEGT
ERmESHEEERE °

AEBETREFEFER L RER
HREEE ET%ZE’\T?E

R AR EREa BT

37. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’'s capital management objectives are to ensure the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to provide an
adequate return to shareholders by pricing goods commensurately
with the level of risk.

The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristic of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount
of dividend paid to shareholders, issue new shares, return capital
to shareholders, raise new debt financing or sell assets to reduce
debts.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the net debt-to-equity
ratio. This ratio is calculated as set out in the table below.

The debt-to-equity ratio at the reporting date was as follows:

—E-IF —T=F
2024 2023
AR¥T R AREF T
RMB’'000 RMB’000

FEIE R AR B 2 Advances from a non-controlling shareholder
—R&HH — principal amount portion 5,791 5,579
RITE K Bank borrowings 220,134 -
B AR Total debts 225,925 5,579
B BEAIRITER Less: Pledged bank deposits (1,278) (1,326)
TE B Time deposits (493,340) (439,458)
RITRIRE EE Bank and cash balances (358,214) (175,605)
AREARERNEEFE Net assets for the purpose of capital management (626,907) (610,810)
eSS AARE Total equity 2,514,924 2,557,576
RS = Debt-to-equity ratio TERA N/A TE A N/A

38. HIHRHEMN
FAEER-T-ME+-A=+—BREA
B HRARTIR AP B EEAEMH -
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38. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There is no significant event of the Group after 31 December 2024
and up to the date of issue of these financial statements.
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